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INTRODUCTION  

 

 

This thesis seeks to examine how the Ascendancy fashioned their world in 

eighteenth-century Ireland, through a case study of Frederick Hervey, bishop of 

Derry and fourth earl of Bristol (1730-1803). It is primarily concerned with 

reconstructing and re-evaluating Herveyôs material world, in order to explore his 

complex relationship with it. He built, successively, two great houses in county 

Londonderry, Downhill and Ballyscullion, and one on his inherited lands in 

Suffolk, Ickworth House, placing them within a landscape setting and filling them 

with rare artworks. The changing intentions and career trajectory of this intriguing 

and multi-faceted figure are investigated by recovering the different functions of 

his three houses and by analysing his stylistic choices. Herveyôs campaign of 

consumption in Ireland will be placed within the wider British and European 

contexts, through reviewing the migration of objects, ideas and skilled 

practitioners to the houses and through assessing Herveyôs sense of national 

identity. Contemporary visitor responses are collated and analysed in order to 

consider the inter-related issues of how meaning is expressed and received though 

display. The purpose of the present chapter is to locate this study within existing 

literature, establish the merits of the methodology, survey the sources consulted 

and outline the content of subsequent chapters. 

 

Historiography 

 

The Earl Bishop has attracted considerable scholarly attention. In the nineteenth 

century, historians chiefly focused on his political role, as agitator with the 

Volunteers for parliamentary independence and reform in the 1780s. J. A. Froude 

dismissed Herveyôs political contribution: órather from love of excitement and 

vanity than from personal interest in Ireland, [he] assumed the character of a 

warlike prelate of the Middle Agesô.1 W. E. H. Lecky highlighted the many 

inconsistencies of Herveyôs career and character, concluding that it was difficult 

to ascertain ówhether any real change had passed over the character and opinions 

of the Bishop, which might help to explain the strange want of keeping between 

                                                           
1
 J. A. Froude, The English in Ireland in the eighteenth century (London, 1874), ii, 413. 



 

the different descriptions or periods of his lifeô.2 C. Litton Falkiner lambasted the 

Earl Bishop who óresembled rather a prince-bishop of the Middle Ages than an 

English nobleman or an eighteenth-century divineô.3  

 

In the early twentieth century, Herveyôs legacy was revived and rehabilitated by 

William Shakespeare Childe-Pembertonôs The Earl Bishop (1924). This canonical 

work comprises a large number of Herveyôs letters, with commentary and 

biographical notes on the protagonists that appear within them. Childe-

Pembertonôs approach is narrative and admiring, championing rather than 

criticising Hervey. Choosing to transcend what he calls the óidiosyncrasies and 

eccentricities of his chameleon-like personalityô the historian attempts to uncover 

a worthy core: óin this, if in nothing else, he [Hervey] was earnest and consistent 

through life; he strove unceasingly for toleration and freedom in religion and 

politics, and against tyranny and oppression wherever it was to be foundô.4 Childe-

Pemberton appreciated that Hervey was a highly cultured and enlightened man 

but his interest in his possessions was limited to his role as a patron and collector 

of high art. Childe-Pembertonôs interpretation and distillation of crucial primary 

evidence has provided the basis for subsequent works on Hervey. This study is 

indebted to Childe-Pemberton for access to letters that would otherwise be hard to 

locate and for biographical information on lesser known correspondents.  

 

Brian Fothergillôs 1974 biography, The mitred earl, is closely based on Childe-

Pembertonôs account.5 Fothergill sets out to show the whole man: cultured, well-

travelled, social and pursuing enlightened interests. He brings to life some of 

Herveyôs friendships, particularly that with his Westminster school-fellow, Sir 

William Hamilton, British ambassador to Naples (also the subject of an earlier 

biography by Fothergill, published in 1969). It is within the context of these 

friendships that Herveyôs cultural interests are most fully expressed. Most 

recently, Stephen Price has brought Hervey to the notice of a wider audience in 

                                                           
2
 W. E. H. Lecky, A history of England in the eighteenth century (7 vols, London, 1892), vi, 334. 

3
 C. Litton, Falkiner, Studies in Irish history and biography, mainly of the eighteenth century 

(London, 1902), p. 59. 
4
 W. S. Childe-Pemberton, The Earl Bishop: the life of Frederick Hervey, Bishop of Derry and 

Earl of Bristol (2 vols, London, 1924), i, 6. 
5 Brian Fothergill, The mitred earl: an eighteenth-century eccentric (London, 1974). 



 

his fresh and entertaining The Earl Bishop (2011). Price is also heading a project, 

on which the author of this thesis has collaborated, that aims to recreate Downhill 

digitally, so that óvirtualô tours of the rooms are possible for the first time since 

the fire of 1851.6 The reconstructive aspect of this thesis, identifying what Hervey 

owned and how he displayed it, finds a visual application through Priceôs digital 

images of Downhill. 

 

John Walshôs Frederick Augustus Hervey 1730-1803, Fourth earl of Bristol and 

bishop of Derry: óLe bienfaiteur des Catholiquesô (1972) reassesses Hervey as a 

politician, believing that óinvariably their [historians] treatment of him is marred 

by sensationalism, facile generalisations, cocksure judgements and inadequate 

researchô.7 Drawing on political sources unavailable to Childe-Pemberton (namely 

600 documents found in a Coleraine solicitorôs office and now held as P.R.O.N.I. 

D1514) Walsh concentrates on Herveyôs role as champion of Catholics in the first 

twenty years of his episcopacy from 1766 to 1785, to identify the contribution 

Hervey made to politics and ecumenism. Walsh broadened the scope of his 

polemic to consider Herveyôs role with the Volunteers and his push for 

parliamentary reform. Pointing out that the Volunteers were at heart as 

conservative as Lord Charlemont, he claims that Hervey had no chance of 

winning his dual aims of parliamentary reform and Catholic emancipation. Debate 

over whether Catholic disunity (Patrick Fagan) or Protestant suspicion (James 

Kelly) was responsible for preventing Catholic emancipation during this period 

continues, with Herveyôs role coming under scrutiny.8 New research by Eric Derr 

suggests a narrower gap between the relative wealth of Catholic bishops and their 

Church of Ireland equivalents and identifies more personal contact than has been 

previously allowed. Derr also emphasises fears in the Catholic hierarchy, 
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particularly on the part of Archbishop Troy, that Hervey was using the test oath to 

split and weaken the Catholic Church in Ireland.9  

 

Specialist architectural studies dating from the 1970s onwards reflect the slow 

change in Ireland towards appreciating buildings that, due to ambivalence over 

their Anglo-Irish and exploitative resonances, have been deliberately ignored. 

Peter Rankinôs Irish building ventures of the Earl Bishop of Derry (1972) 

investigates Herveyôs houses and his contributions to religious architecture, as 

well as his engineering projects, such as the Foyle bridge, with particular focus on 

Downhill for which records are fullest.10 A. P. W. Malcomsonôs criticism that 

Childe-Pembertonôs paradigmatic text on Hervey ódid scant justiceô to the 

surviving correspondence with Michael Shanahan (Herveyôs architect and 

overseer) and to óthe interacting personalities and ideas of these two extraordinary 

charactersô, is illuminating.11 Rankin sought to identify architectural responsibility 

for Downhill, focusing particularly on Shanahanôs role and concluding that 

ówhatever the architectural distinction of the Bishopôs buildings, it was due as 

much to Shanahanôs determination to achieve something worthy both of himself 

and of his employer as to that employerôs own good taste and judgementô. This 

thesis re-addresses and offers new insight into the relationship between Shanahan 

and Hervey (chapter 3). In óJe nôoublieray jamaisô: John Soane and Downhill 

(1978), Pierre de la Ruffinière du Prey traces the unhappy relationship between 

the young John Soane and Hervey from their potentially fruitful meeting in Rome 

to Soaneôs disastrous visit to the building works at Downhill.12 Both Rankin and 

du Preyôs studies focus on questions of architectural responsibility and the 

sequence of building activity, but neither attempts to explore the houses in terms 

of their function or cultural meanings, as this thesis seeks to do. 

 

Terence Reeves-Smyth carried out a survey of the Downhill Demesne for the 

National Trust in 1992 as óan overview of the historical development of the house 

                                                           
9
 Research conducted by Eric Derr at the National University of Ireland, Maynooth, in preparation 

for a forthcoming Ph.D. thesis. 
10

 Peter Rankin, Irish building ventures of the Earl Bishop of Derry (Belfast, 1972). 
11

 A. P. W. Malcomson, óIntroduction to the Hervey Bruce Papersô (P.R.O.N.I., Hervey Bruce 

papers, D1514 and D2798) available at (http://proni.gov.uk/introduction_hervey_bruce-2.pdf). 
12

 Pierre de la Ruffinière du Prey, óJe nôoublieray jamais: John Soane and Downhillô in Quarterly 

Bulletin of the Irish Georgian Society, xxi, no. 3-4 (July-Dec. 1978), pp 17-40. 

http://proni.gov.uk/introduction_hervey_bruce-2.pdf


 

and demesne and to obtain detailed information on the significance of all features, 

natural and artificial, within the areaô.13 The historical content of the survey is 

very strong with extensive appendices, including a wide range of maps, 

documents and accounts relating to Downhill. The notebooks of Jan Eccles, 

curator of the grounds around Downhill for thirty years, are presented as 

Downhill, a scrapbook of people and place (1996).14 Covering an eclectic range of 

topics, the main focus is on the Earl Bishop and the builders and buildings of 

Downhill, but also included are his surviving statues and pictures, and inhabitants 

of the house until it was partly demolished in 1950. Though the Scrapbook 

claimed no scholarly pretensions, Eccles was evidently meticulous and had an 

unparalleled understanding of the surviving artefacts, architecture and landscaping 

at Downhill in their own local context. The findings of these architectural and 

landscaping surveys have informed and enriched this thesis; however, a different 

range of questions are asked of the architecture. Through considering Herveyôs 

stylistic choices and the layout and development of the houses, a new range of 

evidence emerges for understanding phases in Herveyôs career and self-image. 

 

The Earl Bishop as a patron has attracted the attention of art historians, who 

concentrate mainly on identifying what works he collected and how he operated 

as a patron. Brinsley Ford, with his tremendous sense of context, locates Herveyôs 

art patronage within the vibrant eighteenth-century art world, centred on Rome.15 

Nicola Figgis, in her unpublished M. A. thesis, unravels the mystery of Herveyôs 

last collection, through her discovery of an auction catalogue in Rome. Figgis 

combs this source to identify the pictures and marbles listed within, to find which 

contemporary artists Hervey patronised, and compares its content with inventories 

and extant art in both Ickworth and Downhill to discover what reached his 

houses.16 Although questions of connoisseurship are not the focus of this study, 

placing Hervey within the context of other British and Irish collectors is a theme 
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that is explored, both with reference to art and as part of a wider discourse on the 

Ascendancyôs sense of identity. Figgis also considers the degree to which Hervey 

was innovative in displaying his pictures chronologically by region and unusual in 

buying early Renaissance pictures. She concludes that Hervey óhad serious 

intentions as an art collectorô and that the sale catalogue was a valuable source as 

óa reflection of contemporary tasteô.17 Her research significantly furthers the 

previous scholarship on what artworks Hervey displayed. This thesis questions 

how that display was received and interpreted by visitors. 

 

Methodology 

 

Having considered the ways in which Hervey has been investigated by other 

historians, the focus now shifts to the issues and problems addressed in this thesis, 

as well as the methodologies and literature that have informed it. This study is 

rooted in the methodology of material culture, which utilises objects as a vehicle 

by which to articulate original readings and interpretations of the man himself, the 

material world he constructed, how others lived within it and how contemporaries 

reacted to viewing it. In an early application of material culture, Lorna Weatherill 

used inventories to gather empirical evidence for the spread of particular goods 

within Britain and across social strata. However, the danger of categorising the 

source material is the flattening out of diversity within the evidence.18 Other 

historians have applied different methodologies. Toby Barnard rejected 

establishing quantity in favour of revealing the profusion and meaning of 

individual objects through examples and short case studies: óThe arresting but 

untypical example has been favoured above the aggregation; the concrete before 

the generalityô.19 Much of Barnardôs evidence is archival, which has the advantage 

that text can offer as a commentary on the value and meaning of objects to the 

owner. Herveyôs material world is richly documented in runs of receipts, 

correspondence with his architect, auction records, inventories, picture lists and 

visitor accounts. The survival of objects is not as abundant; however, buildings, 
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portraits and other high-value items like artworks and chimneypieces invite close 

analysis.  

 

Barnard considers the study of material culture in Ireland to be at the stage of 

recovery and recording, after which the óknotty riddles of interpretationô will 

follow. For Ireland the ósimple retrieval and assembling of the settings in which 

past peoples lived constitute formidable undertakingsô. The Irish context exhibits 

peculiarities due to its ambivalent and changing relationship with Britain: the 

spread of British goods and habits of consumption may suggest assimilation; 

certain goods and styles may imply the admiration of British or even Protestant 

characteristics; and, paradoxically, choosing indigenous Irish goods was viewed 

as patriotic in some quarters but backward in others.20 The parameters and issues 

raised by Barnard have heavily influenced this project, finding resonance with an 

Ascendancy figure that ranged across boundaries. 

 

The term óAscendancyô has been chosen because it connotes privilege, political 

power, landownership and consciousness of being a numerical minority as the 

Church of Ireland. Ascendancy implies a specific way of life and way of thought. 

Other terms could have been employed, such as ógoverning classô, óprivileged 

eliteô or óupper ranks of societyô; but these phrases seem to lose something of the 

distinctiveness of this group in Ireland compared with their British equivalent. 

óAnglo-Irish eliteô suggests a birthright that excludes British incomers such as 

Hervey. óProtestant eliteô precludes the few major Catholic landowners, such as 

Lord Kenmare. The disadvantage of using this term is that its meaning to 

contemporaries was restricted and reactionary. Roche Boyle spoke of threats to 

the óProtestant ascendancyô during the debate over the Catholic Relief Act of 

1782. Bishop Woodward popularised the term in 1786 but, like Roche Boyle and 

George Ogle, he used it to emphasise the danger to the Church of Ireland 

landowner from a perceived Catholic threat; indeed, Herveyôs views on Catholic 

emancipation implicated him within that very threat. In this thesis, óAscendancyô 

has been employed to define a social and cultural group, rather than a political 

standpoint. James Kelly argues in favour of óAscendancyô over terms like 
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óProtestant governing eliteô, because it fulfils the óneed for a pithy and precise 

formulationô.21 

 

Hervey rose in rank on several occasions during his lifetime, but he is generally 

referred to as Hervey or the Earl Bishop in this thesis. He was born in 1730, the 

Honourable Frederick Hervey, third son of Lord John Hervey and Lady Molly 

(Lepell) Hervey, and grandson of John Hervey of Ickworth, Suffolk, first earl of 

Bristol. Hervey married Elizabeth Davers in 1752 and was ordained in 1754. His 

brother George, second earl of Bristol and briefly lord lieutenant of Ireland, 

secured the bishopric of Cloyne for Hervey in 1767. Hervey was translated to the 

richest see, Derry, in 1768, with an initial income of about £7,000 which he may 

have doubled through manipulation of rental fines. On the deaths of his two elder 

brothers, he became fourth earl of Bristol in 1779, resulting in an increase in 

income of £20,000. He was succeeded by his third son Frederick, later first 

marquess of Bristol. He left his Irish property and personal fortune to his cousin in 

Ireland, the Revd Henry Hervey Bruce, later baronet. Hervey undertook a total of 

six Grand Tours, spending the last eleven years of his life on the Continent where 

he died in 1803 at Albano near Rome. In this study, his wife is generally referred 

to as the Countess of Bristol, although she did not receive this title until 1779. His 

eldest daughters are usually given their married names: Lady Mary Erne and Lady 

Elizabeth Foster. His youngest daughter Louisa did not marry Robert Banks 

Jenkinson, second earl of Liverpool, until 1795 and is named as Louisa in this 

study.  

 

This thesis takes the form of a case study. Focusing critical attention on the 

individual allows for exploration of the role of human agency rather than 

functionalist processes. Case studies invite a more nuanced and varied account of 

Ascendancy experience, offering texture and detail, while broader thematic 

studies tend to level out diversity and diminish the crucial role of human agency. 

Investigating an idiosyncratic and esoteric individual works to challenge 

perceived norms in Ascendancy patterns of building, collecting and consuming. 

Historians follow a well-established chronology of architectural and decorative 
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style, largely shaped by Summerson, but Hervey, in his series of three houses, 

experimented with styles that were ahead of their time (authentic Roman fresco) 

or out of fashion in Britain and Ireland (chinoiserie).22 These untypical stylistic 

choices trouble several accepted norms: firstly, it is traditionally assumed that 

taste and fashion, and the attendant anxiety over getting them wrong, were the 

over-ruling factors in making choices; secondly, that the wealthiest patrons relied 

on well-known architects for a fully integrated and finished result, whereas 

Hervey trained his own architect; and thirdly, that the Ascendancy took its lead 

from London, yet Hervey looked to the Continent for inspiration. Herveyôs 

example emphasises that the Irish Ascendancy was far from homogenous.  

 

Although this study centres on Frederick Hervey and his papers and possessions, 

it is tempered by the awareness that so much of our understanding of the 

Ascendancy experience is drawn from the perspective of elite men. The survival 

of evidence strongly favours this bias towards the rich, the literate and the 

innovative. The subject of this study is just such a man: he was hugely wealthy in 

the Irish context with an income that may have reached £40,000 a year, and was 

highly unusual in his tastes and outlook. However, country house archives 

document a much wider range of material encounters. These sources can be 

viewed through a more lateral lens, bringing into focus the impact of Herveyôs 

collecting patterns on those who óconsumedô his possessions and collections. To 

this end, a case study of Herveyôs architect, Michael Shanahan from Cork, sheds 

light on the professional perspective. Another group of óconsumersô of Herveyôs 

display comprised a variety of visitors who viewed his houses and collections and 

whose personal expectations give rise to an interesting dialectic between Herveyôs 

intentions and visitor perceptions. 

 

This thesis takes a multi-disciplinary approach. Most previous studies of Hervey, 

as outlined above, are single-disciplinary narratives, which inevitably separate out 

and place a particular premium upon one specific area. In reality, lives are not 

compartmentalised; the balance and interplay of one aspect upon another is what 

makes the whole man. This holistic approach seeks to trace several explorative 
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threads of this multi-faceted individual across the study as a whole, despite 

chapter divisions. For instance, Hervey was steeped in the classics, which not only 

influenced his style of architecture and choice of artworks, but informed and 

enriched his travelling, archaeological endeavours and collecting abroad. 

Moreover, this interest in classicism shaped his political outlook and provided a 

framework for judging contemporary politicians, inspired artistic commissions, 

such as busts of philosophers for his library, or gems worn as finger rings, and, 

finally, impacted the Ascendancyôs programme for Ireland as revealed by 

Herveyôs desire for education in farming, derived from the ancient utopian ideal 

of the citizen farmer, as evoked by Virgilôs Georgics. Stephen Greenblattôs model 

of self-fashioning explores these issues in which ófashioning oneself and being 

fashioned by cultural institutions ï family, religion, state ï were inseparably 

intertwinedô.23 This study seeks to be alert to and analyse the shifts in Herveyôs 

self-fashioning over his lifetime.  

 

Chapter 1 comprises the first of two chapters which focus on Herveyôs successive 

building of three country houses. In seeking an explanation for this unparalleled 

architectural campaign, the novel hypothesis that these houses reflected Herveyôs 

changing political outlook and aspirations will be tested against Mark Girouardôs 

model of the powerhouse and Thomas Williamsonôs exploration of landscape 

parks as political expressions. Accepting that style carried meaning, Herveyôs 

choices of building in the neoclassical idiom and landscaping which ranged from 

the sublime at Downhill to the romantic picturesque at Ballyscullion, are read in 

terms of intention and self-expression. These findings are then contrasted with 

visitor descriptions and judgements, which indicate that visitors valued practical 

comforts and productive land more highly than contemporary literature suggests. 

The role of such ambitious, grandiose building projects in the debate on luxury 

may have a bearing on Herveyôs motives. Jules Lubbock argues that seventeenth-

century country houses were an expensive form of taxation on the rich; their 

ostentation represented a symbol of responsibility towards the local economy 

                                                           
23

 Stephen Greenblatt, Renaissance self-fashioning from More to Shakespeare (Chicago, 1984), p. 

256. 



 

rather than a manifestation of competitive consumption.24 Martyn Powell, on the 

other hand, sets up a more exploitative model. He offers as a framework for his 

book, a United Irish handbill of 1795, which accuses the elite of constructing their 

lives of luxury on the hardships endured by the poor: óHow much comfort do you 

extort from their misery, by places, offices and pensions and consume in idleness 

dissipation, riot and luxuryô.25 Contemporary visitors to houses drew their own 

interpretations which feed into this debate. 

 

Alongside the construction of his three country estates, Hervey also undertook a 

programme of church and glebe house building which has not received much 

scholarly attention, but may have more in common with the building activities of 

the next generation of bishops, facilitated by First Fruits money available after the 

Act of Union. Interpretations of Herveyôs religious and political actions will be 

viewed in the light of evidence derived from material culture. Herveyôs donations 

towards Catholic and Presbyterian building projects have implications for the 

level of co-operation between church leaders of different confessions at the local 

level. Admiration of architectural idiom may suggest a shared reading of stylistic 

meaning transcendent of denomination. 

 

Chapter 2 delves into the interiors of the houses themselves to further the theory 

that each was designed to perform specific and distinct functions. Mark 

Girouardôs model of the social house informs an investigation into how the 

changing names and purposes of rooms at Downhill advances our understanding 

of the ways in which the house operated and was lived in. Dichotomies of public 

or private, and masculine or feminine, can be usefully considered in relation to 

individual rooms to convey additional information about their utility. Herveyôs 

example may undermine the identification of some styles and spaces as 

conventionally feminine, such as the widespread use of chinoiserie wall coverings 

in the otherwise masculine neoclassical house, Ballyscullion, built after Hervey 

had separated from his wife. On the other hand, evidence from visitor accounts 

may complement Malcolm Bakerôs theory that statuary indicated public spaces. 
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Herveyôs intentions in interior decoration open up debate surrounding the 

meanings attached to specific styles, and question the assumption that house-

owners desired a fully integrated and finished decorative effect. Herveyôs houses, 

at least, were in a constant state of flux. 

 

In this chapter, the scarcity of surviving objects, particularly of an every-day, 

household nature, is most evident. To offset the paucity of this type of evidence, 

inventories, letters and receipts are analysed in detail, highlighting the debate 

within the study of material culture over the balance between objects and text. 

Elite consumption can silence other diverse histories; the expensive or unusual are 

more likely to leave a record. Looking at Herveyôs goods and possessions also 

raises the issue of male and female participation in consumerism. Hervey 

demonstrated considerable purchasing skills, haggling over prices for artworks 

and calculating value in various currencies. Margot Finn explores this theme of 

male expertise in buying in order counterbalance a perceived overemphasis on 

female acquisitiveness.26 This concept can be extended to the purchasing going on 

within the Hervey household. For instance, Anne Shanahan, the assistant 

housekeeper at Downhill, was held to account for overbuying but could justify in 

detail what had been bought for her familyôs consumption and what was for the 

bishopôs table.  

 

Martyn Powell investigates Irish consumption in relation to Britain, stretching the 

meaning of óconsumeô to its fullest by interpreting the political implications raised 

by objects of consumption, and attitudes towards consumption, among the 

Ascendancy of Ireland. To this end, he consciously alludes to issues broached by 

Barnard: namely whether the way Irish Protestants dressed, entertained and 

bought óbaubles of empireô reveals subordination, assimilation or independence 

from Britain.27  Herveyôs buying activities must be assessed in the light of 

discourses over the relationship of the periphery to the centre and the question of 

whether his consumption patterns illuminate Irish or British identity. Herveyôs 
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example necessitates an extension beyond the pull of London, to other centres of 

fashion such as Paris and Rome. Herveyôs importation from abroad ranged from 

artworks and furniture, to ideas, models and skilled craftsmen. This mobility of 

objects links Ireland with a wider world of commodities; the impact of the 

Continent in the analysis of eighteenth-century luxury consumption is a theme this 

thesis seeks to address. How foreign luxury items were received in Ireland will be 

explored through visitor reactions to Herveyôs display.  

 

Chapter 3, structurally the midpoint of the thesis, shifts critical focus from the 

elite to the professional ranks in Ascendancy society. In a microcosm of the 

whole, the chapter engages in another case study of an individual, namely Michael 

Shanahan of Cork, Herveyôs architect and overseer. This chapter considers how 

themes such as stylistic choices, experience of travel and the relationship between 

patron and employee, already discussed from Herveyôs perspective, operated 

amongst professionals. John Styles raises the issue of the relationship between 

borrowing and ownership: ómany of the things that poorer people used, treated 

and spoke of as their own were provided to them by others, on terms that 

restricted their ability to chooseô.28 The material world of the men and women 

who lived and worked within the Earl Bishopôs houses was provided for them. Of 

particular interest in this regard is new research presented in this thesis on 

Michael and Anne Shanahan, who lived at Downhill with their family, within a 

material world that was fundamentally created and controlled by Hervey, but 

overseen by Shanahan as architect and his wife as assistant housekeeper. Through 

their example, an interesting dynamic emerges: they were not simply passive as 

consumers, but in turn shaped the material world chosen by Hervey. In her 

capacity as housekeeper, Anne Shanahan influenced how guests experienced 

dining and staying overnight at Downhill. As architect, Shanahan translated 

Herveyôs instructions into the physical structure of the house, suggested designs 

for his patronôs ómodern trophiesô ceiling and provided an interpretation of 

meaning as tour guide to Daniel Beaufort.  
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The Shanahan familyôs home in Cork can be surveyed in order to illustrate the 

concept of emulation by professionals of the elite. Despite the fact that little 

documentary evidence concerning the appearance of their house and possessions 

survives, Shanahanôs collection of portfolios, pictures and antiquities (as 

described by Daniel Beaufort in his journal) can be considered in relation to the 

background of Herveyôs choices which the Shanahan family had experienced at 

Downhill. On the local level, the top-to-bottom ótrickle downô of style, as well as 

the practice of hierarchical emulation, can be tested by examining, as far as the 

evidence allows, the processes of production and consumption at work between 

Shanahanôs marble-yard and his market. The influence of Shanahanôs Grand Tour 

experience and its impact upon his consequent stylistic development is explored 

through the medium of the ólostô engravings that the architect made while in Italy; 

and this intriguing material evidence is presented for the first time here. 

  

The last two chapters return Hervey to centre stage. Chapter 4 engages with his 

extensive art collection. Herveyôs use of portraiture is analysed diachronically to 

investigate the ways in which he sought to position himself within the larger 

family narrative and what image he intended to project to contemporaries. 

Quantitative analysis of auction lists, combined with the exploration of a series of 

individual artworks, paint an intriguing picture of what Hervey displayed and how 

his wealth of art compared with other patrons in both Ireland and Britain. 

Herveyôs art collections in Ireland are viewed, not from a connoisseurial angle, a 

topic which has previously received considerable scholarly attention, but as 

evidence for Herveyôs intentions and how they were read. Following the lead of 

art historians such as Kate Retford and Marcia Pointon, the óinteraction between 

artistic forms and the socio-cultural milieu in which they were producedô has been 

explored in preference to aesthetic qualities.29 Previous accounts of Herveyôs 

engagement with the art world have focused only on Herveyôs point of view. In 

this study, visitor accounts are marshalled to gauge how viewers interpreted the 

display on his walls and whether good taste exonerated expensive consumption 

from accusations of luxury.  
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The final chapter deals with the Grand Tour experience, which informed so much 

of Herveyôs building, art collecting and display. The range of Herveyôs activities 

abroad question traditional definitions of the Grand Tour. Viccy Coltman argues 

for neoclassicism to be understood, not as a decorative style, but as a style of 

thought. Herveyôs enthusiastic engagement with antiquity may support her 

hypothesis that the shared classical education of the British and Irish ruling 

classes trained them to imitate Roman thought and art.30 On the other hand, 

Hervey was also interested in other cultural forms, such as Greek, Egyptian and 

chinoiserie elements, which must be incorporated into this paradigm. Herveyôs 

example begs questions of national identification, of whether he considered 

himself to be British or Irish, or whether he transcended such boundaries, 

emerging instead as a cosmopolitan figure. How Hervey was viewed by his 

compatriots is investigated in a period when national sentiment was growing in 

response to the French Revolution and Revolutionary Wars. 

 

In summary, this thesis seeks to reconstruct the material world of the Earl Bishop 

in order to re-evaluate its role in his life and work. Barnard contends that 

contemporary figures observed the cultural patronage of elite figures to explain 

their dominance. On the other hand, he argues, interest in material culture, such as 

building, landscaping, collecting and furnishing, has been side-lined by modern 

historians, and ósegregated from the public and óusefulô activities of landowners ... 

It is only the myopia of modern scholars which consigns these matters to a 

rarefied realm at best peripheral, and at worst irrelevant to the business of Irish 

politicsô.31 This holistic case study seeks to address this critical neglect of material 

culture. Through investigating the various meanings of the objects that comprise 

his collections, and the houses they inhabited, this study hopes to test perceived 

norms in the relationship of the Irish Ascendancy to ownership, building and 

display. Primary evidence supplied by contemporary visitor accounts will be 

analysed to illuminate themes such as his architectural and artistic agenda and 

how Herveyôs unprecedented material mission affected his standing in Ireland.  
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CHAPTER ONE 

ARCHITECTURE AND LANDSCAPING  

 

1.1 Introduction  

Frederick Hervey, the óedifying bishopô, is best known for his remarkable and 

unparalleled building campaign, which spanned the period from the late 1760s 

until his death in 1803. He left a rich and diverse architectural legacy that 

included three mansions in two countries as well as garden buildings, churches 

and glebe houses. This chapter examines what motivated him to build so 

prolifically; even within the context of the eighteenth-century building boom in 

Ireland, Hervey appears to have been operating on an unprecedented scale. 

Contrasting his example with other Ascendancy figures illuminates and questions 

both the general patterns and the exceptional.  

  

Firstly, this chapter explores the unique sequence of Herveyôs three distinctive 

country houses, and, in a novel hypothesis, suggests that he intended them to 

perform different functions: the political house (Downhill), the cultural house 

(Ballyscullion) and the dynastic house (Ickworth). Intriguingly, the selection of 

site appears loosely to reflect the vagaries of his political outlook. Situated on the 

cliff -edge above Downhill strand, Downhill acted as his base during the politically 

charged decade of the mid-1770s to mid-1780s, when he was reframing the Test 

Acts, involved in the Volunteer movement, and agitating for Catholic 

emancipation and parliamentary reform. The establishment of the more 

sophisticated house at Ballyscullion, on the romantic picturesque site of Lough 

Neagh, coincided with Herveyôs disillusionment with Irish politics from the mid-

1780s, and catered for his growing interest in collecting art. Towards the end of 

his life, retrenching after the French Revolution, he turned his attention to his 

inherited parklands at Ickworth in Suffolk, created by his Whig ancestors. Hervey 

prized natural terrain above man-made landscaping, sparking debate in 

contemporary visitor accounts on the relative merits of the sublime and the 

romantic. Architecture was a very visible and expensive marker of status; building 

in stone went hand-in-hand with fashioning an image, communicating wealth, 

taste and political outlook. Through a close analysis of the precedents provided by 



 

his exposure to architecture on the Grand Tour, this study will reveal how 

experiences abroad were translated structurally and stylistically back at home. 

 

Secondly, this chapter questions why the Earl Bishop did not possess a Dublin 

townhouse. Evidence of outmanoeuvring by his rival, Lord Charlemont, hints that 

Charlemontôs dominance of the Dublin scene acted as a disincentive. Except for 

his period of Volunteer mania, Hervey found the Continent more stimulating than 

Dublin. He rented a series of houses in foreign cities which facilitated his lifestyle 

abroad and which held the artworks he had collected for his display while they 

awaited shipment home. As earl of Bristol from 1779, Hervey was well served by 

a London townhouse in St Jamesôs Square. A new source reveals that he 

considered one last building venture, a new London house in Hyde Park.  

 

Thirdly, this chapter will review Herveyôs building of Church of Ireland churches 

and glebe houses and argue that they illuminate his ambitions for the established 

church in Ireland. His donations towards Catholic and Presbyterian projects 

constituted political actions. In religiously contested Ireland, architecture could 

act as a common language between denominations. The reception of Herveyôs 

overtures to the Roman Catholic bishop of Derry concerning the building of a 

Catholic church throws new light on shifting interdenominational relationships 

between the 1760s and 1780s. 

 

 

1.2 Three country houses 

 

Hervey was unique in building three country houses. Downhill Castle, near 

Castlerock on the coast of county Londonderry, was begun in 1776 and is now a 

ruin. Ballyscullion House, near Bellaghy on Lough Beg county Londonderry, was 

begun in 1787 and was demolished in 1813. Ickworth House, near Bury St 

Edmunds in Suffolk, was begun in 1795, only partly built when Hervey died in 

1803 and was completed by his son in 1829 [figs 1.1-1.2]. Unfortunately the 

survival of these architectural and landscaping projects and their supporting 

documents has been patchy. Downhill is best served by evidence: runs of receipts 

and letters between Hervey and his architect, Michael Shanahan, allow for 

detailed investigation into the process of building, the relationship between patron 



 

and architect, sourcing of materials and the craftsmen involved. Evidence for 

Ballyscullion and Ickworth is sketchy but Herveyôs letters give insight into his 

intentions and visitor accounts indicate how the houses were regarded.  

 

Hervey underwent several major changes of status and correspondingly of 

income: he was an improver, then a politician, then a connoisseur; he was a third 

son, a rich bishop and then the immensely wealthy Earl Bishop. As bishop, 

Hervey had lived in the palace in Derry for ten years, building a casino for dining 

in the palace gardens overlooking the river.1 Downhill (begun in 1776) was the 

product of the rental income of the richest see in Ireland and a legacy of £10,000 

from Herveyôs eldest brother in 1775, combined with increased political 

aspirations. Houses were a measure of the ownerôs sense of status, real and hoped 

for. Looking at newly built country houses, Mark Girouard argues that óthe size 

and pretensions of such houses were an accurate index of the ambitions ï or lack 

of them ï of their ownersô.2  John, Lord Hervey, father of the Earl Bishop, 

understood the role that houses played in advertising and attracting power. Lord 

Herveyôs political patron and friend, Robert Walpole, was helped at the start of 

his career by his better connected brother-in-law, Lord Townshend; however, 

when Walpole built Houghton, Lord Hervey observed that Townshend interpreted 

it as a hostile move.3  Toby Barnard describes Carton as óa fanfare for the 

Kildaresô re-entry into politics and high society. Architecture played a role in their 

public careersô.4  

 

In Ireland, Hervey was a new arrival. Maurice Craig noted that most houses were 

built by landowners who were ónew menô because four-fifths of the land of 

Ireland had recently changed hands; in contrast, Sir John Summerson estimated 
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that in England only a quarter were built by ónew menô. Craig also pointed out 

that the main period for building new great houses was similar in England and 

Ireland, though in England the number of houses built was far greater. In England 

the main building period was 1710-1760 (peaking between 1720 and 1724) whilst 

in Ireland two dozen large country houses were begun between 1716 and 1745.5
 

Frederick Hervey was building much later (Downhill from 1776, Ballyscullion 

1787, and in England Ickworth from 1795). Craig identified the Earl Bishopôs 

houses as prodigy houses, claiming that after 1750 only Castle Coole, Downhill 

and Ballyscullion approached the size of the earlier mansions by Richard Castle 

and Edward Lovett Pearce. Building on this scale indicates that Herveyôs ambition 

ran high.  

 

Architecture as a gentlemanly pursuit was a trail blazed by innovative amateur 

architects of the earlier Palladian era, notably Lord Burlington. It is noticeable that 

among the small Ascendancy class of Ireland, there were a number of able 

architects. Agmondesham Vesey exercised his considerable architectural skills at 

Lucan House, in consultation with William Chambers and James Wyatt, building 

for pleasure rather than dynastic reasons.6 Like Hervey, Edward Stratford, Earl of 

Aldborough, had a passion for architecture and built in both England and Ireland, 

but his motives were different: Aldborough House in Dublin was intended to 

secure splendid accommodation for his young second wife at the expense of his 

grasping brothers and his huge building project at Stratford Place in London was 

speculative development aiming for, though not achieving, real profit. Like 

Hervey, Charlemont was inspired by travel and was almost bankrupted by his 

passion for his perfect neoclassical Casino and his great townhouse. Herveyôs 

political aspirations were played out at Downhill. Anthony Malcomson identifies 

Castle Coole as a reflection of óBelmoreôs confidence in his own political future 

and the future of the political institutions of his dayô.7 Castle Cooleôs importance 
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as a status symbol and political base was quickly overtaken by the Act of Union: 

Belmoreôs two boroughs were disenfranchised and his opposition to the Act of 

Union prevented him from receiving the right to sit in the British House of Lords. 

 

 

1.2.1 Downhill: the political house in a radical landscape 

 

Downhill will be examined primarily in terms of why it was built and how it was 

lived in. Apportioning architectural responsibility for Herveyôs houses 

conclusively may be impossible. John Robinson believes that James Wyatt 

supplied the original design for Downhill. Wyatt was enjoying great fame 

following the success of the Pantheon in London and was already involved in 

Ireland from 1772 at Lucan House, Mount Kennedy and the Dartry Mausoleum at 

Castle Dawson.8  James McBlain, stonemason at Downhill, claimed in the 

Ordnance Survey Field Memoir (1834) that his father was working to Wyatt plans 

when he came to Downhill in 1778.9 Peter Rankin rejects James Wyatt as the 

designer of Downhill, believing that a Wyatt pattern book may account for 

similarities with the fa­ades of Wyattôs Heaton Hall, Lancashire, (1772) and 

Radcliffe Observatory at Oxford (1773).10 Rankin argues that Charles Cameron 

may have been the hidden hand behind the design, citing a plan and elevation of 

óan Unidentified Country Houseô in the Hermitage Museum in Leningrad.11 Wyatt 

and Hervey were both in Italy during Herveyôs first Tour and Cameron and 

Hervey overlapped in 1770-71. Whether or not Hervey met either architect 

abroad, they were all exposed to similar ancient, Palladian and neoclassical 

influences. The Italian architect, Placido Columbani, also worked on Downhill 

from 1783 to 1785 and has been suggested as architect but, as will be examined in 

chapter 2, his role was largely decoration and overseeing.12  As will be 

demonstrated, Herveyôs pattern of patronage typically involved approaching 
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several specialists. Though Robinsonôs recent research has not identified further 

documentary links between Wyatt and Hervey, it does provide a compelling case 

for Wyatt based on stylistic evidence. This chapter assumes a Wyatt plan but 

shifts the focus onto Michael Shanahan, Herveyôs architect, who, whether the 

original design was his or not, was largely responsible for Downhill as it was 

finally executed.  

 

Other contemporary patrons had a variety of experiences. Lord Charlemont had a 

remarkably sympathetic and productive relationship exclusively with William 

Chambers, whose Marino Casino and Charlemont House are considered to be 

some of Chambersôs best work. Another whole group of neoclassical houses were 

designed and built by what Craig has identified a cartel of architects centred on 

James Wyatt (who visited Ireland only in 1785) and his agents in Ireland, Thomas 

Cooley, Thomas Penrose and Richard Johnston.13 Like Hervey, William Burton 

Conyngham was fully involved in his schemes, approaching James Wyatt, a Mr 

Robinson, John Sutherland, James Gandon, Capability Brown, Thomas Penrose 

and Francis Johnston over his architectural improvements for Slane Castle.14  

 

It is the contention of this chapter that material culture, in this case the building of 

Downhill, provides evidence for Herveyôs political and religious outlook and 

action. Herveyôs political career has been viewed as a short-lived enthusiasm; 

there is some truth in this, for he tired of Irish politics after the cautious Lord 

Charlemont took over the Volunteer movement in 1783. Nevertheless, the 

architectural development of Downhill indicates a more serious political 

determination than Hervey has been given credit for, or in fact achieved. Downhill 

began in 1776 as a compact neoclassical villa, five bays wide, intended as a 

country retreat that combined Herveyôs love of impressive scenery and bracing 

sea air. It is posited that Downhill quickly became inadequate as Herveyôs 

involvement in politics grew, hence renewed building work to extend the house. 

As bishop, Hervey had responsibilities of overseeing clerical conduct and 

dispensing patronage and took upon himself the task of improving the stock of 
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church buildings and the incomes of curates and clergy widows. These duties 

involved meeting and entertaining. At a national level, his interest in the test oath 

and his short but intense period as a Volunteer colonel brought further assemblies 

and hospitality. This would explain the addition of a new east wing of 

accommodation for overnight visitors in the form of óbarracksô for single men, 

later known as the Curateôs Corridor [fig. 1.3]. Herveyôs father, John Lord 

Hervey, had attended Sir Robert Walpoleôs political congresses at Houghton in 

the 1720s and 1730s, hammering out the upcoming parliamentary season against a 

background of impressive art, grand architecture and lavish entertainment. Next 

Hervey expanded Downhill by adding a gallery and then the ónew galleryô. These 

had a display function (discussed in chapter 4), but also acted as spaces for the 

political hospitality familiar to his father, for wooing and impressing. 

  

Hints of Herveyôs use of Downhill for political and Volunteering purposes appear 

among the Downhill papers. A grand dinner costing £37 5s. 1d. was given for the 

officers of the Coleraine Battalion of Volunteers in July 1784. Anne Shanahan, 

assistant housekeeper, justified expenses incurred in feeding a company of 

Volunteers: óWhen your Lordship sent orders to provide for the Volunteers I 

expected that the Officers were to dine & sleep hereô.15 A receipt for óDinner 

given to the officers of the Battalionô shows that Ã12 1s. 3d. was spent; some or 

all the officers must have stayed overnight because £4 13s. was paid for 

blankets.16 Drinking and toasting played an important political role in bonding and 

in articulating political purposes. Martyn Powell points to toasts becoming more 

explicitly political during the American War period, the text circulated in 

newspapers and letters.17 Anecdotal evidence points to Herveyôs enjoyment of 

toasts among the clergy, his natural powerbase.18 As bishop, Hervey mobilised the 

clergy when he needed their political support, for instance, óalmost all the clergyô 
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attended at convention at Dungiven, having been summoned by letters from their 

bishop, where there was great mirth and óbawdy songs by the clergyô.19  

 

The Revd William Bruce, later a leader of the political and cultural scene of 

Belfast, stayed two nights at the house. His journal has not been investigated as a 

source for Downhill before. At dinner, Hervey criticised government policy in 

America in the óseverest and harshest termsô, expressed his intention to become a 

delegate for the Volunteer Convention in Dungannon and his hopes for 

parliamentary reform and for a free port. Bruce admired Count Ugolino and his 

sons óstarving in jailô and Benjamin Westôs Death of James Wolfe. He summed up 

the day: óDerry Review. Took refreshment with Lord Bristol before the sham 

fight. Had a long conversation with him on the terrace. Saw his son, who repeated 

verses on the death of Chathamô.20 In his journal, Bruce conflated Herveyôs 

hospitality, political talk, pictures and poetry, all expressions of Herveyôs political 

programme. Entertainment in the country house reaffirmed the partisan and 

endeavoured to persuade the undecided. 

 

In 1783 the Earl Bishop was at the height of his Volunteer phase.21 In a letter to 

Hervey, who was attending the Volunteer Convention of November 1783 in 

Dublin, Shanahan praised Hervey for his work on behalf of Irish Catholics. He 

went on to describe a new scheme for decorative plasterwork (discussed more 

fully in chapter 2) as ómodern trophiesé instead of those of the ancientsô.22 It is 

possible that these ómodern trophiesô were Volunteer iconography. Other patrons 

used plasterwork to express their outlook. The dining room of Glin Castle had 

martial themes incorporated into the plasterwork. At the House of Dun, near 
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Montrose, David Erskine chose to portray past family Jacobite activities and 

present loyalty in plasterwork by Joseph Enzer in 1742.23 

 

Herveyôs political role, particularly as a champion for Catholics between 1766 and 

1785, has been examined by John Walsh.24 Material culture also offers evidence, 

which, it is posited, indicates longer lasting political intentions. In Volunteer 

terms, Hervey entered the movement late, having been in England for two years 

following his inheritance of the Bristol title and lands in 1779. Initially he wrote 

to his son-in-law warning that the Volunteer movement might lead to ócivil warô 

but later saw its usefulness in pressing for his political goals; he became colonel 

of the Londonderry Corps in 1782.25 Herveyôs explosion onto the Volunteer scene 

in 1782 has been seen as evidence of his opportunism; however, visits to Ickworth 

by Sir Patrick Bellew (an intermediary between Hervey and the Catholic 

Committee) suggests a more active interest in events in Ireland while he was out 

of the country.26  

 

Herveyôs involvement with the Volunteers was part of a broader, ever-shifting 

political and professional programme. At Ickworth he was involved in a local 

initiative, led by his brother-in-law Sir Charles Davers, to raise money by 

subscription for a seventy-four gun ship for the navy. Within two months, £20,000 

had been pledged, of which the largest single sum, £1,000, was offered by 

Hervey. The second largest sum, £600, was pledged by the Duke of Grafton (who 

held land near Bury St Edmunds) and another Ã600 by the óThe clergymen of the 

diocese of Derry assembled at a visitationô.27 Ascendancy landowners in Ireland 

                                                           
23

 Christie, British country house, p. 52 and footnote 144. 
24

 Walsh, Le bienfaiteur des Catholiques, passim. 
25

 Hervey to John Thomas Foster, 21 May 1780 (R.I.A., MS 23.G.39). 
26
Lord Sydney used to see Sir Patrick Bellew in Suffolk óat that time a good deal with the bishop 

of Derryô, Sydney to Rutland, 28 Sept. 1784 (N.L.I., Sydney MS, quoted in Karen Harvey, The 

Bellews of Mount Bellew: a Catholic gentry family in eighteenth-century Ireland (Dublin, 1998), 

p. 154). Archbishop Agar complained that after voting in the test bill in 1780, Hervey ówent to the 

house of Sir Patrick Bellew where he remained for some time broaching his heterogeneous politics 

according to this customô, Archbishop Charles Agar to Sir George Macartney, 17 Feb. 1780 

(P.R.O.N.I., Macartney papers, D572/7/52, quoted in Thomas Bartlett, Macartney in Ireland, 

1768-72: a calendar of the chief secretaryship papers of Sir George Macartney (Belfast, 1978), p. 

303). 
27

 Yasushi Aoki, óTo be a member of the leading gentry: the Suffolk voluntary subscriptions of 

1782ô in Historical Research, lxxiv, no.191 (Feb. 2003), p. 84. 



 

often had land and influence in England; not only did their concerns intersect each 

sphere of influence, but others were drawn into this wider transference.  

 

On his return to Ireland in 1782, Hervey quickly recognised the power of the Irish 

Volunteers as a political lever. Though historians have regarded his Volunteer 

phase as short and notorious, two points have been overlooked. Firstly, Hervey 

could not foresee how quickly the Volunteer movement would lose its power after 

he became involved in 1782. Secondly, his Volunteerism was a more conspicuous 

flowering of his long-term political interest in the status of Catholics, one of the 

few lasting concerns of so mercurial a man. The need for hospitality, linked to the 

short but intense period of Herveyôs Volunteering, provided the impetus for the 

initial expansion of Downhill. The expense invested in the fabric and decoration 

in the early 1780s suggests a more fixed purpose, at variance with studies of his 

political role. 

 

Outside the house, garden buildings allowed for iconographical and architectural 

freedom. At Stowe, the Temple of Ancient Virtue and the Temple of British 

Worthies represented Lord Cobhamôs views on contemporary politics. Tom 

Williamson reads purposes into these gardens: 

 

They could be used to proclaim the wealth and power, and thus by 

implication the continuing political success, of great landowners: 

overawing the local population and attracting the undecided to their 

óinterestô. They could be used to demonstrate a governing eliteôs particular 

beliefs and ideology and also ï as advertisements of its taste and 

knowledge ï its fitness to rule.28 

 

Williamson suggests that these gardens of incident became stylistically óan 

evolutionary dead end, swept away by the landscape parkô.29 Herveyôs garden 

buildings indicate that landscaping remained open to fantasy. His period as 

Volunteer colonel was represented in the Downhill demesne: the main entrance 

was through a Roman arch named after the Coleraine Battalion, for which the 
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balance of £44 19s. 5d. was paid in July 1784 [fig 1.4].30 At Laurencetown, county 

Galway, there is a similar arch with Volunteer inscriptions. An ancient hill fort at 

Downhill was reshaped, using dynamite and tree planting, and renamed 

Dungannon Hill to commemorate the Dungannon Volunteer Conventions of 1782 

and 1783 and acted as a parade ground.  

 

As in the case of architecture, landscaping has been read as evidence of social 

change and political expression. Edward Malins and the Knight of Glin trace an 

interesting contrast between Herveyôs sublime landscape at Downhill and 

Charlemontôs romantic-poetic landscape at Marino: óHere the vast sweeps of 

Burkeôs sublimity reflected the extravagance and grandeur beloved by the Earl-

Bishop, producing not the idea of the Roman villa [Marino] set near the 

metropolis, wooing the elements and even the inhabitants, but a palace set high on 

a cliff far from anywhere, aweing visitors to silence and fighting Atlantic salt and 

windsô.31 Barnard warns against óseductive interpretationsô which link design 

innovations with larger intellectual currents.32 Viewed in this light, the shift from 

the sublime site of Downhill to the picturesque site of Ballyscullion, at a time 

when fashion was moving in the opposite direction, could be interpreted either as 

Herveyôs declining interest in politics or as the desire for an easier environment in 

which to live and garden. 

 

It is evident that Downhillôs cliff-top site had a powerful appeal to Hervey. He 

chose a basalt plateau, bordered by chasms to the sides and an 180 foot cliff to the 

sea below with magnificent views [fig. 1.5].33 Hervey was in tune with the 

growing interest in the awe-inspiring wildness and grandeur of nature. On his first 

Grand Tour he visited sites associated with the sublime: the Rhine at 

Schaffhausen, the Harz Mountains, the Montagne du Luberon in Provence, the 

Grand Chartreuse at Grenoble, the Alps and Vesuvius. The Ickworth library had a 
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1764 copy of Burkeôs The Sublime and the Beautiful.34 At Downhill, Hervey 

displayed pictures by Salvator Rosa and views of Vesuvius in eruption. 

Travelling, Hervey viewed landscapes through eyes trained to admire art: north of 

Florence, he anticipated óscenes of Salvator Rosa till we totally forget the more 

than Divine Claude Lorrainô.35  

 

The site of Downhill also offered health benefits. Originally sea-bathing brought 

the Hervey family from the palace in the city of Derry to this area; they were 

ólodging at the bathing-house of Mount Salut, near Magilliganô when they heard 

the harpist Dennis Hempson play.36 Hervey believed in the health properties of sea 

air which with the óMagnificent Ocean roaring ... bracôd up anew ... to the 

enjoyment of such natural pleasures & edifying Scenesô.37 Diet, exercise and fresh 

air were Herveyôs chief weapons against recurrent digestive problems and gout. 

 

In Ireland, little remains of Herveyôs landscapes because, as Shanahan 

complained, Hervey was too impatient and because he emphasised site over 

planting; the priorities of the patron were more powerful than the wisdom of the 

textbook. The layout and visual impact of the Downhill demesne are gleaned from 

early Ordnance Survey maps, published descriptions by G.V. Sampson, Statistical 

survey of county Londonderry (1803) and J.P. Neale, Views of the seats of 

noblemen and gentlemen (1823) and comments of visitors [figs 1.6-1.7a and b].38 

While the neighbouring Conolly estate at Limavady was surveyed or valued on 

four occasions between 1750 and 1782, Downhill was not surveyed at all, perhaps 

because it was still officially diocesan land. Unlike other proud landlords, Hervey 

did not commission views from landscape artists like William Ashford and 

Thomas Roberts (a theme explored further in chapter 4). 

 

Eye catchers, to be appreciated from the windows of the house, were the strongest 

man-made element of this landscape. The Mausoleum, based on the much 

admired Tomb of the Julii in St Remy, Provence, was built by Michael Shanahan 
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between 1779 and 1783, possibly to a design by Wyatt, at the estimated cost of 

£426 0s. 9d.39 Hervey intended it to commemorate his elder brother George, 2
nd

 

earl, who had secured the Irish bishopric and left a bequest of £10,000 on his 

death in 1775; a statue of George by van Nost stood in a ring of Corinthian 

columns under a dome. The Mausoleum was balanced by another tall, domed 

structure, the icehouse and pigeon tower in the walled garden, built in 1786. 

 

Hervey was a strong advocate of agricultural improvement and a friend of Arthur 

Young who lived near Ickworth. Hervey viewed Downhill as a ólaboratoryô where 

he experimented with ómountains converted into arable, & grouse metamorphosed 

without a miracle into men ... The limestone is at the bottom of the hill, the turf at 

the top; what gold may this chemistry produce?ô 40
 As early as 1787 Daniel 

Beaufort, a frequent commentator on improvements, was impressed that the moor 

was ónow a firm level rich turf, by his wonderful exertionsô.41 On his later visit in 

1807, Beaufort noticed limestone kilns; lime appears very frequently in the 

Downhill papers, sometimes apparently issued as a reward to tenant-improvers.42 

Hervey may have almost doubled his rental income by running leases against his 

life, since he was not yet forty when appointed bishop. He reserved to himself the 

bog and mountain land considered unprofitable and set about improving it and 

building cabins. Viewing these cabins in 1796, Chevalier Latocnaye approved of 

this investment in a ódesertô:  

 

The Bishop of Derry has built a superb palace in an unfrequented spot, or 

rather a place that was entirely desert before the erection of the building. It 

is with pleasure that one notices here a large number of houses for the 

peasants, built by the bishop at his own charges. They seem very fit and 

comfortable, and the peasants themselves, the tenants, seem to be greatly 

attached to their bishop, although they have never seen him.43 
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Herveyôs activities echo the complex mixture of motivations for improvement 

identified by Barnard: óthe cult of improvement would be embraced only if it 

appealed simultaneously to the self-interest and altruism of the landed. Fashion as 

well as duty popularised active supervision and innovationô.44 

 

Enriching the Downhill lands was part of a larger programme of improvements. 

At the time of his translation to Derry, Herveyôs passion was for geology. 

Financial advantage (though not for himself) and improvement converged in a 

search for coal and the development of mines. He drew upon his experiences and 

contacts from the Continent when he gave £1000 towards the building of a bridge 

to cross the Foyle instead of the inadequate ferry. He wrote to dôAnville (whom 

he had met in Paris in 1767) asking him to send plans for the bridge at 

Schaffhausen and received an óincredibleô number of proposals from engineers 

when he advertised in gazettes in Switzerland and Germany.45 As a result of these 

activities, Hervey was granted freedom of the city of Derry, commemorated by a 

gold freedom box discussed in chapter 2. Livia Hurley has indicated a circle of 

like-minded improvers, such as William Burton Conyngham, with whom Hervey 

shared interests in geology and the potential profits of mining, canals and 

bridges.46 

 

Fear of the disaffected in untouched areas of Ireland lingered through the 

eighteenth century. óUnadorned nature took longer to be appreciated in Ireland 

than in England and never won over allô.47 The Killarney area became the most 
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admired scenery in Ireland, attracting tourists and artists. The Giantôs Causeway 

increasingly drew tourists for whom the Earl Bishop provided pathways. The 

metamorphic rock of the Causeway inspired his travels to Staffa and, unusually, 

Dalmatia.48 Visitor reaction to the location of Downhill illuminates contemporary 

debate between proponents of the sublime and the beautiful. In this thesis, visitor 

accounts have been collected to form a body of evidence for assessing Herveyôs 

building and landscaping. Robert Slade responded to the sublime power of the site 

in terms of man pitted against mighty nature: 

 

It is built upon a rock, within a few paces of the sea, and the mind is struck 

with awe, in reflecting, that the broad expanse of water, which in 

tempestuous weather, dashes its spray into the chambers of the house, is 

continued for the space of more than three thousand miles ... the building 

is equally visible from the sea shore, near Coleraine, where it appears an 

object of Roman magnificence.49 

 

Chevalier de Latocnaye was also impressed by the Mussenden Temple, Herveyôs 

library on the cliff top at Downhill: óHe has built a temple of fine architecture on 

the edge of a precipice, as if to brave the waves and winds. The sea furiously beats 

against the perpendicular rocks at its base, and rises at times to a height of 150 

feetô.50 

 

Mr Justice Robert Day shared Herveyôs interest in Catholic emancipation and 

admired many of the same political figures, notably the Pitts and Lord Shelburne, 

who held estates in Dayôs native Kerry. He was óastonished and delighted by the 

splendid collection of pictures and statues and by the costly architecture of the 

eccentric Mitred Earl, the Lord of that wild sceneô.  However, he voiced prophetic 

despair at: 

 

the misapplication of so much treasure upon a spot where no suitable 

Demesne can be created, where trees will not grow, ... where the salt spray 
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begins already to corrode the sumptuous Pile of Grecian architecture, and 

the imagination, anticipating no distant period weeps over the splendid 

Ruin, a sad monument of human folly!ô51   

 

To Day in 1801, Herveyôs efforts were impressive, eccentric and regrettably 

wasteful. 

  

The Revd William Bisset in 1799 was disparaging because he valued productive 

land over the fashion for the sublime:  

 

The Scite is indeed elevated beyond all reason, and assuredly beyond all 

comfort ... a keen and stormy compulsion that precludes the Idea of a Tree, 

and ought to have arrested the hand of a Builder ... I hardly imagine an 

unenlightened man in the country could have been found so absurd as to 

place his Hut on the Top of Downhill.52 

 

The location of buildings was assessed as evidence of good taste and good sense 

and Hervey was found to be negligent on both counts. Finola OôKane notes that 

óThomas Conolly understood the standard iconography of garden design, and 

disliked the new concept of romantic landscape in particularô, preferring a 

landscape of more utility and improvement. To Conolly, Downhill was Herveyôs 

óextraordinary Mansion, upon a high cliff near the Sea, without Trees, open to the 

Atlantick, but with Distant Views, of the Giants Causewayô.53 Louisa Beaufort in 

1807 commented on the approach to the house: 

 

it is seen like an hospital on the top of a bare hill on the left the 

Mausoleum, on the right the Mussendon temple, time would not permit us 

to go either ï the Avenue most absurd, steepness & length of the acent to 

the house, is dangerous on the right is a tremendous precipice, fenced from 

the road by a low dry stone wall ï a few trees at the gate which is 

handsome, but the Lodge is gothic ï the house is remarkably low, the plan 

very odd.54 
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Assessing Louisa Beaufortôs journal, Marie Davis suggests that her óomission of 

any description of the scenery, and her lack of admiration for the Mausoleum and 

Temple point to a disaffection for the picturesque, like that of Jane Austenô.55 

Fashions did not appeal to all. 

 

How the house related to its landscape was an important consideration. Neale 

considered the view of Downhill from a distance, showing the cliffs and ocean, as 

worth a rare second engraving in Views of seats of nobility and gentlemen [fig . 

1.7b].56 It did not meet with universal admiration: the Revd Samuel Burdy in 1802 

felt that Downhill óhas rather the appearance of a public seminary than a 

gentlemanôs residenceô.57 He blamed the owner for the lack of integration between 

the house and landscape: óIn laying out the demesne we did not discover any 

remarkable taste displayed. His lordship indeed seems to have better relish for 

painting and architecture than for rural improvementsô.58 Though thousands of 

trees were planted, only those in the Port Vantage Glen (which was the approach 

to the house) and inland parts of the demesne survived.  

 

Port Vantage with its ponds, cascades and viewing opportunities was a more 

orthodox landscape and more admired.59 Hervey had the landscapist William King 

at work and wrote home from Italy that óMr. Kingôs operations begin now to be 

interesting & I should be glad to know their effect upon the Eyeô. Unlike most 

contemporaries, Hervey prized nature over human design, leading him to ófear the 

new garden will interrupt the view from the Window of the drawing room in wch 

case I should make no scruple to remove it, even if completed ó.60 For Hervey, the 

drama of the site could hardly be improved upon. Shanahanôs cry óit is but a folly 
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to think your Lordship could live here without a gardenô was more representative 

of the opinions of Herveyôs viewing public.61
  

 

By default Shanahan has been credited with landscaping at Downhill, but traces 

remain of contact with three Irish landscape gardeners, none of whom are 

mentioned by Malins and Glin.62  Herveyôs attempt to secure a really good 

landscape gardener throws an interesting light onto the business of visiting and 

viewing and raises the issue of relationships between patron and employee. 

Hervey wrote to the eighth earl of Abercorn in London asking to borrow his 

landscape gardener Thomas Hudson who óhas given proofs of his ability so far 

beyond what Mr Shanley or King, or any of the common manufacturers of lawns 

and plantations can rise toô because, in Herveyôs assessment of the site of 

Downhill, óI could not in justice to one of the most romantic and picturesque spots 

in Ireland forbear entreating your Lordship's assistance to adorn it to the utmostô.63 

This prompted a flurry of letters from the earl of Abercorn: these were polite and 

flattering acquiescence to Hervey, though with a caution not to óspoilô Hudson, a 

barrage of instructions for the unfortunate Hudson himself, and irritation 

expressed to his agent and kinsman James Hamilton.64  Abercorn feared the 

consequences óknowing how dangerous it is, to take a servant out of the plain 

track, in which he is going on well, yet I cannot refuse this civility, in a part of the 

world, where a system is so hard to be gotô.65 

 

A vignette of the busy visiting and viewing that went on at a new house, even 

when the owner was absent, emerges from these letters. James Hamilton informed 

the earl of Abercorn of two visits. The Earl Bishop stayed a night at Baronscourt 

with a retinue including his son, his cousin, the dean of Derry, a Scottish 

dissenting minister and an English clergyman: óhe chose to sleep in one of the 
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upper rooms; he went through every bit of the house and offices, and expressed 

great satisfaction, with that and the grounds which he also admiredô.66 A few days 

later Lord Charlemont, accompanied by an entourage of leading local Volunteers, 

spent the day at Baronscourt: óLord Charlemont went through every corner, and 

he and all the rest seemed to admire very much the house and place, and were 

astonished when they found, in what short time all was doneô.67 Building works 

were carefully inspected by other patrons and doubtless influenced their own 

works. 

 

 

1.2.2 Ballyscullion: the cultural house 

 

The case for Hervey investing in a political career has been made using evidence 

from Downhill. Ballyscullion, begun in 1787, suggests a very different function 

and a new phase in Herveyôs self-fashioning. Moving away from his role as busy 

bishop, family man and politician, Hervey the traveller and collector needed a 

show house to display his growing acquisitions. Downhill was not entirely 

successful: it had sprawled in size, with wings and offices as piecemeal responses 

to growing needs. Herveyôs architectural connoisseurship had developed since 

Downhill and crystallised into a unified concept of a rotunda flanked by galleries. 

Ballyscullion was to be an architectural gem of a single style and execution. So 

delightful was this design that Hervey replicated it ten years later at Ickworth: óIn 

all Europe I have not seen a Style of building with which I am so Enamored as 

with my ownô.68 

 

In contrast to the sublime vigour of Downhill, the site chosen for Ballyscullion, 

beside the river Bann at Lough Beg in the south of the diocese, was picturesque. 

Hervey had withdrawn from the cliff edge physically and metaphorically. Hervey 

used potentially treasonable language in his published replies to volunteer 

addresses, for instance exhorting the people óto repel the tyranny and exterminate 
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the tyrantsô.69 Rutland advised arresting him and George III called him óthis 

wicked prelateô.70  Hervey and Sir Edward Newenham were suspected of 

conspiring with France, despite their obvious political differences.71 Pitt advised 

that it would be difficult to prove treason and would only encourage Hervey, who 

did indeed lose interest in Irish politics after the Dublin Volunteer Convention 

was disbanded and Lord Charlemont outplayed him by spending the summer of 

1784 calming the Volunteers in their local areas. The Earl Bishop was to spend 

very little time in Ireland after 1787 but had a reliable agent in his relation and 

later heir, the Revd Henry Hervey Bruce. 72 With a central hall reaching up to the 

roof, Ballyscullion had less sleeping accommodation because having left his wife 

and withdrawing from Irish politics, his family and his entertainments were 

smaller.73 The novelty of Ballyscullion was to be the two flanking galleries for 

Herveyôs rapidly growing art and statuary collections. If Downhill was the 

political house, then Ballyscullion was the show house, the cultural house.  

 

As with Downhill, architectural responsibility for the design of Ballyscullion is 

uncertain. Shanahan may have been drawn up the original plans, but in the light of 

John Robinsonôs recent conclusions about Wyatt at Downhill, it seems unlikely. 

Certainly Shanahan had a model made ófor my own improvement and for the 

opinion of some good judges in architecture which daily visit meô.74 The Sandys 

brothers were also involved. Like Shanahan, Francis and Joseph Sandys gained 

advancement through Herveyôs patronage. Francis Sandys was funded in Italy by 

the Earl Bishop, both brothers were responsible for the building of Ickworth from 
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1796 and the Revd Joseph Sandys received preferment within the diocese of 

Derry. 75  

 

Building Ballyscullion was a joy: Hervey did not really need or use the house, but 

building and collecting became his passions. This growing collection needed to be 

displayed, a theme discussed in chapter 4. In America, Thomas Jefferson echoed 

these sentiments: óArchitecture is my delight, and putting up and pulling down 

one of my favorite amusementsô.76 It is interesting that Jefferson was also inspired 

by Palladioôs Villa Capra la Rotonda for his entry to the Presidentôs Palace 

competition. Furthermore, Hervey was motivated by a landownerôs responsibility 

to improve and employ; many in the area would benefit tangibly through the local 

economic boom that accompanied a great building project.77 

 

All this amuses me at the distance of 3000 miles as much as if I were on 

the Spot, & sometimes as Now I can write, talk & think of nothing else ï 

my Weekly Bills amount to £130 all spent among masons carpenters, 

stonecutters, limeburners, Carmen & all the most Valuable and industrious 

part of the community ï judge of the wealth & comfort I disseminate 

among such vertueô.78   

 

Ballyscullion illustrates how architectural influences from abroad found their way 

into county Londonderry through a well-travelled patron. Ireland was linked into a 

broader cultural world. Ideas, objects and craftsmen were mobile. Inspiration for 

the rotunda design came from the Pantheon in Rome, Palladioôs Villa Capra la 

Rotonda near Vicenza and Herveyôs favourite modern house, Belle Isle (1774) on 

Lake Windermere [fig. 1.8 a-c].79 Ballyscullion was óOval like the Pantheon é 
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The offices will be joinôd to the House by a semicircular colonnade like That of St 

Peters only closed, because of the Climateô.80 Hervey had considered a round 

house for some time, but he and his wife had different priorities in terms of 

comfort versus splendour. In 1777 she described a visit to ótwo Country Palacesô 

near Vicenza: 

 

One of these is a rotunda on wch Palladio valued himself, wch. has been 

much admirôd, & twice copied in England,81 but there is neither beauty on 

the outside nor convenience wthin. The whole is sacrificôd to a room in the 

center with a Dome from wch. you go out to ye four winds & cool yrself 

under four porticos ... Yr. Father had once thought of this plan for ye 

Downhill, we shd. certainly have been a prey to Neptune & have gone 

down ye rock, Castle & all, but I have convincôd him that it is only a 

beauty to coquet with, but not to marry.82 

 

Palladioôs Villa Capra la Rotonda was built exclusively for display and 

entertainment. Until bedrooms were created upstairs in the eighteenth century, the 

Capra family had never slept there, always returning to their nearby palazzo in 

Vicenza. Hervey was moving more towards this model of a house for display. 

 

Hervey took trouble over the stairs for Ballyscullion, which were óin the Center of 

the house & oval, & like a double screw includes the Back stairs, like Ld. 

Besboroughôs [sic] at Roehampton and that of Marshall Saxe at Chambord in the 

Poitouô.83 Sending for plans from London and France, illustrates the means by 

which an architectural idea might arrive in Ireland.84 Books offered guidance too: 

Palladio illustrated the Chambord example.85 The choice of this staircase, which 

allowed servants to remain unseen, may reflect the slow process of separation 
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between family and servants. The Belfast Newsletter in 1787 was quick to pick up 

on a novelty which óis the only thing of its kind in the Kingdomô and ópresents a 

figure resembling a double corkscrew; a great stair surrounding a lesser one for 

servants, both so constructed that passengers in one canôt perceive those on the 

other, and forming in their winding ascent communications with every story in the 

houseô.86  

 

This was a period of country house parties and visits, which facilitated 

comparison and copying. Staying with the duke of Richmond, Herveyôs daughter 

Elizabeth Foster suggested his country house at Goodwood as a possible model; 

Hervey requested an elevation so he could óadopt any improvement it containsô.87 

Hervey himself travelled about at great speed, making it impossible to follow his 

movements closely within the British Isles; however letters were written from 

Goodwood, Knole, Bowood, Blenheim and Althrop, and from the spa towns of 

Bath, Bournemouth and Southampton. The landscape of the British Isles was 

observed and drawings commissioned on an expedition to view the geology of 

Staffa, with stops in Edinburgh and Glasgow, and through comparisons of the 

scenery at the Giantôs Causeway and Killarney. His brotherôs diary referred to a 

visit to the Roman remains in Colchester and a tour of Norfolk including a stay at 

Holkham Hall. Hervey enjoyed Home Tours as he did Grand Tours. When 

Capability Brown came to Ickworth in 1782, Hervey invited a party of Suffolk 

gentlemen, interested in building and planting on their own demesnes, to meet 

him.88 Architecture and landscaping, visiting and viewing, were sociable and 

gentlemanly activities. 

 

Views were essential to the Earl Bishop. Barrell argues that long views were 

associated with the ability to govern, to see the broad picture.89 As Herveyôs 

interior decorating in chapter 2 makes clear, style was imported directly from the 
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Continent. It is suggested that the inspiration for landscaping at Ballyscullion was 

not the British landscape park, but was derived from the Villa Capra la Rotonda 

and other Palladian houses of the Veneto, centred on long views over the 

productive and varied landscape of wood, water and meadow. Supporting this 

proposal are Herveyôs plans to erect an eclectic and international set of garden 

buildings at Ballyscullion (spires, bridges, a pagoda and an obelisk). Gardens of 

incident were falling from favour in England, but were enjoying a revival in 

France at this time. In this thesis, the theme of the powerful influence of travel 

constantly recurs.  

 

Not only was Hervey inspired by what he saw abroad but he was content to 

manage and to imagine the project from a distance. Being present was not 

important. The following description (written three years after he had last seen 

Ballyscullion) is couched in the language of the picturesque and of improvement: 

 

such a [prospect] of wood, water, Steeple, Spires, hills & mountains as are 

Impayable ï a Bridge of nine arches built by Ld. OôNeill fronts my centre 

window, & from one out of windows I see a wood of ancient full Grown 

Oaks for which I gave the proprietor £1,000 ï all this amuses me at the 

distance of 3000 miles as much as if I were on the Spot ... a serpentine 

River of Two miles length will decorate the view from my drawing 

roomô90 

 

Unlike blustery Downhill, Ballyscullion was to be a place of virtuous rural 

retirement. For the frieze around the rotunda he chose lines from Virgilôs 

Georgics: 

 

Hic viridi in campo, templum de marmore ponam, 

Propter aquam, tardis ingens ubi flexibus errat 

Bannius, et tenui praetexit arundine ripas.91 

 

Contemporary comment was less flattering than his vision for Ballyscullion. 

William Blacker of Carrickblacker, county Armagh, saw the house in 1796 and 

commented that óthe house appeared as if dropped from the clouds into a large 
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field completely in a state of natureô.92 Samuel Burdy praised the architecture and 

interiors of Ballyscullion óYet, what seems very odd, the demesne was just in a 

state of nature, being covered over with rushesô.93 Sampson, in his Statistical 

Survey, formed a similar conclusion, identifying tree planting and mature timber 

as significant markers: 

 

Lord Bristol has planted a considerable number of trees near Ballyscullion 

house. They lie too far from the mansion, and are situated too low, to give 

any additional effect to this princely edifice. It is to be regretted, that the 

lawn around is not yet made to correspond with the rest of the noble and 

diversified scenery and landscape.94 

 

Judging by the constant assessment of tree planting by agriculturalists and tour 

guides, trees were a symbol of the English programme for Ireland, representing 

future investment. Tree planting was the antithesis of living off the fat of the land, 

a constant criticism of Gaelic culture.95 The failure of the thousands of trees 

planted at windswept Downhill and the lack of mature trees at Ballyscullion were 

roundly criticised as a dereliction of duty. Ballyscullion became known locally as 

óBishopôs Follyô: the landscape never matured, the house with its magnificent 

interior decoration was barely used and the two wings for galleries or offices were 

never completed. In 1813, Henry Hervey Bruce ólevelled the whole smack 

smooth, selling even the very stones of which it was composedô.96 

 

 

1.2.3 Ickworth: the dynastic house 

 

 

The meaning of being simultaneously British and Irish in the second half of the 

eighteenth century is an elusive theme that runs through this thesis. Though it is 

tackled again in chapter 5 in the context of foreign travel, a comparison of 

Herveyôs Irish and English houses also raises the issue. Many Irish Ascendancy 

figures had concerns in both countries: estates, houses, business, relations, friends, 
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common origins. The convergence of these elements of Irishness and Britishness 

in one individual helps to explain the identity of the Ascendancy class. The 

cartoon A whisper across the Channel indicates complexity and contradictions: 

Ireland is represented by an English nobleman, both countries are endangered by 

the convergence of political interest, and the root of trouble is increased autonomy 

for Ireland [fig. 1.9].97 Among Herveyôs Irish contemporaries, models varied: 

Lord Charlemont made a conscious virtue of choosing, and improving, Ireland. 

Lord Aldborough built in both countries, with a speculative eye to profit in 

London and to establish a position in Ireland. The duke of Leinster enjoyed both 

his position as Irelandôs leading nobleman and his English connections, while his 

English wife became the centre of a Lennox sisterhood settling in county Kildare. 

The Act of Union altered the balance again, strengthening the pull of London over 

Dublin. The case of the Earl Bishop is interesting because he was involved in 

England and Ireland but developed a European persona too. This study of an 

untypical individual enriches understanding of the variety of Ascendancy 

experience.  

 

The Earl Bishopôs grandfather had demolished the old Ickworth Hall in 1702, 

altered a farmhouse, Ickworth Lodge, into a temporary home and prepared to 

build a great house to match his peerages granted in 1703 and 1714.98 The family 

lived in the temporary Ickworth Lodge from 1702 to 1828 [fig. 1.11]. Ickworth 

was the land of his ancestors, of the Whig politicians and courtiers who had 

established and shaped the family. The park at Ickworth was much admired.99 The 

park was later altered a little by Capability Brown, for Augustus third earl of 

Bristol and Frederick fourth earl, although it is not clear what he did. The fact that 
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Hervey approached him shows that he understood that the relatively featureless 

and mature parkland created by his grandfather were well suited to Brownôs style. 

It also indicates that Hervey, with his wealth, was able to access the master, a 

choice viewed as in unimpeachable good taste at the time. Criticism of Brownôs 

style was soon to come. By the 1790s the Brownian landscape park was the 

established Whig landscape; Hervey had stopped experimenting.  

 

On becoming earl, Hervey spent 1781 to 1782 at Ickworth and commissioned 

óPlans and elevations for an Intire New Houseô from Capability Brown (they have 

not survived). At the end of 1782 he left his wife at Ickworth, never to see her 

again. He immersed himself in Volunteer politics in Ireland and then travelled 

abroad, losing interest in the Irish political scene. He visited Ickworth again in 

1792 (while his wife was in Ramsgate), confirmed the site proposed by Brown for 

his new house and for the Continent where he remained until his death in 1803. At 

Ickworth Hervey was at his most conservative. Ickworth was a larger version of 

Palladian Ballyscullion, so although the rotunda style was unusual, it was not new 

to him. The 1790s were a period of retrenchment for liberal Whigs: the French 

Revolution and war with France were changing attitudes to reform, particularly in 

Ireland, where the Church of Ireland and the state felt under attack. Much of what 

Hervey had striven for was finally given to Catholics in the 1793 Relief Acts, but 

instead of the hoped for harmony, there was an intensification of sectarianism. He 

deliberately separated his Irish and English lands in his will of 1791 and codicil of 

1794, leaving to his cousin and loyal agent, the Revd Henry Hervey Bruce, all his 

Irish land, two Irish houses and his art collection in Italy.100 His son inherited only 

the entailed land and title. Hamstrung by his fatherôs will, twenty years passed 

before Frederick, later first marquess, could afford to finish building Ickworth, 

where only the rotunda had been built [fig. 1.10]. Since he had not inherited the 

great art collection, he changed the internal layout, opting to live in one gallery, 

use the rotunda as state rooms for entertaining and leave the other gallery as a 

blank shell. 
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Herveyôs motives for building a third house at the age of sixty while living 

abroad, may stem from his restless love of building. Ickworth was to be his 

greatest house of all, fully designed, unlike Downhill, and benefiting from an 

experimental prototype at Ballyscullion. From his vantage point in war-torn 

Europe, after the shocks of the French Revolution and the 1798 Rebellion, he may 

have consciously wanted to return to his roots and re-establish the Hervey family 

in Suffolk. He spent his last ten years moving around a Europe dominated by the 

Revolutionary Wars. What he witnessed, the misfortunes of his European friends, 

the vandalism and confiscation of artworks (including his own great collection), 

perhaps made him more aware of the importance and fragility of his inherited 

status. Revolution was the extension of ideas that he had argued in his political 

days. Now, shocked by the French Revolution he, and most of the British and 

Irish aristocratic class, pulled rank. Yet this was tempered by awareness that 

French aristocrats had lost their position through their own failure to behave 

responsibly. Ickworth would provide a suitably impressive stage for Herveyôs last 

dynastic plan. Becoming increasingly eccentric and erratic towards the end of his 

life, Hervey decided that his son Frederick should marry into the Prussian royal 

family, planned for the King of Prussia to visit Ickworth and believed that his new 

status as father-in-law of royalty (albeit illegitimate) would be rewarded with a 

dukedom.101  His son Frederick was determined to marry Elizabeth Upton, 

daughter of Lord Templetown; the Earl Bishop had married for love and strongly 

advised against that course.  

 

For Ickworth, Hervey sought fashionable architectural advice in Italy; perhaps 

what had impressed in county Londonderry was not enough to impress in 

England. Herveyôs new house at Ickworth was to be Ballyscullion, perfected and 

enlarged. He approached Charles Heathcote Tatham, then studying in Rome, who 

wrote to the architect Henry Holland:  

 

The Earl of Bristol Bishop of Derry, lately arrived in Rome, to my great 

surprise consulted me to make him a design for a Villa to be built in 
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Suffolk extending nearly 500 feet, including offices. The distribution of 

the plan is very singular the House being oval according to his desire.102  

 

Changeable as ever, the Earl Bishop fixed upon Mario Asprucci the Younger. 

Two plans by Asprucci of 1794 and 1795 have recently been rediscovered [fig. 

1.12].103 Both are similar to Ballyscullion but on a larger scale and with more 

sophisticated ornamentation. Herveyôs admiration of Asprucciôs work is implied 

in the full-length painting by Hugh Douglas Hamilton of the Earl Bishop and his 

granddaughter Lady Caroline Crichton (c.1790). The setting is the English 

garden designed in 1786 by Herveyôs agent, the artist Jacob More, with 

Asprucciôs Temple of Aesculapius (1787) in the background [fig. 4.16]. Hervey 

brought the Sandys brothers, Francis and Joseph Sandys, from Ballyscullion to 

Ickworth. They simplified Asprucciôs plans for Ickworth and adapted them to the 

climate, joining the curving corridors onto the rotunda further round to the north, 

to make the most of the weak English sunshine.  

 

In England, Hervey imported plans from Italy and overseer/architects from 

Ireland. On the other hand, several great houses in Ireland were British affairs. 

Castle Coole, the only contemporary house in Ireland being built on the same or 

greater scale as Downhill or Ballyscullion, had ónot altogether the look of an Irish 

house, and small wonder since all the stone and nearly all the craftsmen were sent 

over from Englandô.104 The cosmopolitan Earl Bishop shopped for ideas and plans 

across Europe. He was a difficult employer who preferred less established men to 

carry out his projects, since they were more likely to accept his opinions and 

constant interfering. The architects he relied on most heavily were Irishmen: first 

Michael Shanahan at Downhill and Ballyscullion and then the Sandys brothers at 

Ballyscullion and Ickworth. Despite being an Englishman who owed his bishopric 

to nepotism, Hervey made a virtue of employing no English clergy in his diocese 

unless they had put in significant residence in Ireland first. This delighted his 

diocese and frustrated his British friends, trying to place their own dependents. It 
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is suggested that in art and architecture, the nationality of the artists and architects 

he approached seems to have been a secondary consideration. In his architects he 

looked for a combination of talent and personality; Shanahan and the Sandys 

brothers were Irish, but more importantly, they were men with whom he could 

work. 

 

It may be that those with architectural pretensions had an advantage in their 

clerical careers in the Herveyôs diocese. The Revd Trefusis Lovell was taken 

abroad as the Earl Bishopôs chaplain from 1791 to 1797 and received a prebend. 

Lovell was dispatched from Pyrmont to England in the summer of 1797, primed 

to judge the work at Ickworth as Hervey would and to issue instructions. Hervey 

introduced Lovell to his friend, John Symonds, as óno bad artist & a Connoisseur 

of meritô and asked Symonds to accompany Lovell to Ickworth óas he can better 

explain to you my Architectural Ideas, than even my Architect himself - & I 

flatter myself they are both Pure & Nobleô.105 The brothers Francis and the Revd 

Joseph Sandys were put in charge of Ickworth. Local friends with discernment 

and education like John Symonds and Arthur Young were prevailed upon to give 

their opinion on the proportions of Ickworth. 106 

 

My young Hounds there [the Sandys brothers at Ickworth] are now at a 

Fault ï one brother deems that a Gallery of 115 feet long will drown my 

mansion - & Eclipse its splendor ï the other computes that less than 115 

feet in the length of each gallery will not leave sufficient Room in the 

square of each office yard for Larders, Laundries etc., etc., suitable to the 

mansion & the family that must Inhabit them. Who shall decide when the 

Doctors disagree é and truly shake their spheres é like a true friend 

examine with your judicious Classical Eye the relative proportions of this 

puzzling animal 

Let it be, neither a Bustard with Wings too Small ï nor yet an Heron with 

Wings too large that drown or Eclipse the Body ï take if possible Arthur 

Young with you, that Soul of fire.107 
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1.3 Townhouses 

 

Herveyôs decision not to have a Dublin townhouse has not been questioned. It 

seems surprising for a bishop who had resources, enjoyed display and liked to be 

at the centre of political and cultural action to have assumed this stance. Hervey 

looked for a Dublin house when he first came to Ireland, presumably envisaging a 

political career, as a member of the Irish Privy Council from October 1767 and of 

the House of Lords. The miniaturist, Rupert Barber, advised Hervey against 

taking Delville in Glasnevin, where the Dean and Mrs Delany had lived:  

 

To any person who has a greater regard for health than parade and the 

conveniency of others, it certainly would answer to a town house, fifteen 

minutes being sufficient to convey him into Dublin. But the idea of its 

being in the country would make your visitors very few in the winter, none 

at all in the evenings. Few would consent to dine with you in parliament 

winters, as you know the members sit very late. As it now is, I think the 

house not sufficient for your family, neither do I think it fashionable. It 

will look very poor after Derry. é The pleasure part of the garden is 

charming.108 

 

Herveyôs love of fresh air perhaps recommended Delville to him over unhealthy 

Dublin.109 Amongst his papers, no further ambitions for a townhouse appear. Not 

long after Barberôs letter Hervey was in Bath (1769) and then the Continent (1770 

to 1772). He rarely sat in parliament except in the 1770s when he was agitating 

for changes in the test oath. Jeremiah Falvey records that over the eighteenth 

century, attendance in the House of Lords by bishops fell by 50% because the 

influence of the bench of bishops was reduced by the creation of new lay peers. 

The bishops of Derry had the poorest attendance rate at parliament, present at only 

20% of 3573 sittings of the House of Lords, whereas the bishops of Clonfert at 

58%, Killala 55% and Dublin 50% recorded the highest attendance.110  
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In the 1780s Hervey threw himself into the Volunteer movement. As a delegate of 

the Volunteer Convention of November 1783, Hervey entered Dublin in style, 

with a pseudo military escort and a specially designed, episcopal-military 

costume, discussed in chapter 5. He rented the Merrion Square house of his 

nephew, George Robert Fitzgerald, for £1,000 for the month of the Dublin 

Volunteer Convention.111 By this stage, Hervey and Lord Charlemont were firm 

rivals. Herveyôs efforts to trump him by gaining control of the Volunteer 

Convention were thwarted by Charlemont, who understood Herveyôs intentions. 

Charlemont dominated the Dublin scene from his stylish townhouse designed by 

Sir William Chambers. He used the layout of his streetscape to gain advantage 

over Hervey: 

 

As I was well acquainted with his disposition and already dreaded his 

designs, it was necessary that I should be circumspect in the manner of his 

reception. It was fitting that the Derry troop should be received in a 

military manner, and accordingly a guard of infantry and a squadron of 

horse were drawn at my door who saluted them at their arrival. But lest the 

Bishop should suppose that any particular honour were paid by the 

Volunteers to his person, I took care, by my orders, that his coach should 

be prevented from coming close to the door, that so, under the appearance 

of respect I might receive him at some distance from this house, and that 

returning with him from his coach, the subsequent salute should appear to 

me as general, and not to him. This manoeuvre he clearly understood, and 

appeared with difficulty to refrain from showing some symptoms of 

displeasure.112  

 

The Earl Bishop and Lord Charlemont had both travelled on the Continent for 

long periods; they shared a love of neoclassical architecture and a desire for 

parliamentary independence and reform. Their rivalry within the Volunteer 

movement, however, revealed their extreme temperamental differences: the 

former so volatile and the latter so conservative. They chose to revolve in 

different spheres. Hervey never tried to assail Charlemontôs position in Dublin, 

preferring a wider and more stimulating canvas. Once Charlemont had decided 
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that Ireland needed him, he threw himself into her improvement, becoming a 

leader of taste in Dublin. Both built wonderful garden buildings, the Mussenden 

Temple and the Casino at Marino, though Hervey concentrated on country houses 

whilst Charlemont built Charlemont House, so admired that the street name 

changed to Palace Row. 

 

Many bishops and noblemen built or rented a townhouse, despite frequent 

complaints of the expense of Dublin. Barnard noted that in the first half of the 

eighteenth century, Henry Boyle, Speaker of the House of Commons and Earl of 

Shannon, spent the minimum on his Dublin life, renting rather than building. 

Instead he lavished his money and care on Castlemartyr; he had based his 

successful political campaign on his provincialism and needed to remain close to 

his political base. Barnard concluded that: 

 

Henry Boyle skilfully elevated these preferences into a political statement, 

which numerous neighbours applauded. This showed his inventiveness as 

a politician. The truth was that the Speaker, like his shrewd ancestor [Lord 

Orrery], wanted the wherewithal simultaneously to run sumptuous 

establishments in Dublin and in the country.113  

 

Herveyôs lack of Dublin house indicates that it was possible to be a significant 

Ascendancy figure in Ireland without working the Dublin circuit. Hervey did not 

lack money but may have been conscious, as a new man in Ireland, of needing a 

strong local base. He won over the citizens of Derry through projects like the 

Foyle bridge and the expectation of a resident magnate spending his money 

locally. Reporting on his last visit to Ireland, a London newspaper reported that 

the óCitizens and Corporation of Derry are making preparations to honour the Earl 

of Bristol, on his arrival among them from the Continent, by every mark of esteem 

and affection ... the last pier of the bridge at Londonderry was sunk, by which a 

communication was opened between the City and the water-sideô.114  
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In London, Hervey inherited the family townhouse and, as earl of Bristol, a seat in 

the House of Lords from 1778.115 To the frustration of his wife, Hervey rented the 

house out when not in use by him. 116 A late letter of 1799 to his daughter, Lady 

Mary Erne, has not heretofore been printed or considered. It shows that Hervey 

considered building a new London townhouse: óI mean to sell it under an Act of 

Parliament & wt Mr Fôs [his son] leave to build another near Hyde Park and in 

better airô.117 

 

During his last eleven years, living on the Continent, Hervey rented houses and 

apartments in several European cities. The Countess dôAlbany reported that the 

Earl Bishop had taken a five-year lease on a villa in Florence called Il Broschetto 

onto which he built another storey, suggesting that he considered it a significant 

and long-term arrangement. He displayed more artworks in these houses: in 

Naples he had óthe handsomest & best situated house there; fourteen rooms on 

each floor all hung with Rafaels, Titians, & what notô.118 When absent, Hervey 

seems to have let people live in his houses, increasing his stock of patronage on 

the Continent, although at times he promised the same premises to several people 

at the same time.119 When Herveyôs changeable interests settled, the balance 

tipped towards building country houses, travelling abroad and collecting treasures 

for his mansions rather than carving out a sustained career as a politician or leader 
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of taste in a single capital city. He was not making choices between London and 

Dublin; he became a cosmopolitan figure. 

 

 

1.4 The improving bishop: Herveyôs church building  

 

Herveyôs most active period in Ireland, from his arrival as bishop of Cloyne in 

1767 until 1785, coincided with a time of relative peace and prosperity which 

encouraged the activities of improving landlords. Bishops were also major 

landlords, óapologists and beneficiaries from Protestant privilegeô.120 Barnard has 

explored the fascination with improvement in the eighteenth century, suggesting 

that Protestants saw improvement as a religious duty, as a way of differentiating 

themselves from the supposed indolence of their Catholic neighbours and 

justifying their appropriation of land. Improvement bought the reward of good 

opinion but also made sound economic sense: Protestants had a ólarger mission ï 

to improve the land and its inhabitants and thereby themselves as wellô.121 The 

Physico-Historical Society and similarly minded groups mixed sociability with 

duty, education with rewards.  

 

Hervey immediately set about draining the bog of Cloyne and dividing it into 

farms. Anxiety about bogs had a long tradition in Ireland. For Protestant settlers 

of the sixteenth and seventeenth centuries, unimproved areas like woodland and 

bogs were a threat, harbouring the disaffected. The bog of Cloyne may have been 

essential to the survival of those on the margins, but their voice was heard only in 

the stones thrown at Hervey, the burning of his gates and the fences torn down as 

fast as he was erecting them. Eventually the matter was settled at the Cork assizes 

and the improved land later brought in a high rent. As part of this programme of 

improvement, Hervey undertook a visitation of his diocese and acted upon the 

problems he uncovered: in Derry he found inadequate glebe-land, churches in 

need of rebuilding and a shortage of glebe houses. Bishop Hervey also lobbied for 

tithe reform, for adequate income for curates and gave money towards a fund for 

clergy widows. 

                                                           
120

 Barnard, Improving Ireland, p. 37. 
121

 Toby Barnard, óPublic and private uses of wealth in Ireland, c.1660-1760ô in Jacqueline Hill 

and Colm Lennon (eds.), Luxury and austerity (Dublin, 1999), p. 67. 



 

 

In architecture, patrons chose styles because they appealed to them, because the 

choice said something about their discernment, or because they deemed them 

appropriate to the beneficiary. Hervey chose a neoclassical style for his houses, 

yet he built gothic parish churches. Primate Robinson of Armagh also built parish 

churches in a gothic style; however, his private chapel beside the palace at 

Armagh was neoclassical, designed by the same architects, Thomas Cooley and 

Francis Johnston, who had designed his gothic parish churches [fig. 1.13].122 This 

may indicate that men like Hervey and Robinson perceived a divide between the 

educated, highly civilised ruling class, expert in the classical idiom, and their 

parishioners whose experience was more suited to familiar, home-grown styles. 

Hervey may have sought to build appropriate churches; mildly gothic churches 

were reminiscent of the medieval gothic of Established Church buildings, 

particularly in England. He would have been familiar with growing antiquarian 

interest in the medieval period and the accompanying fashion for gothic 

architecture and interiors.123  Gothic spires suited his purposes; often in his 

correspondence, he described the spires he had raised as eye-catchers to improve 

his views.  

 

Other wealthy Ascendancy figures in Ulster made different stylistic choices, 

opting for classical churches if they were to be an adjunct of the demesne, such as 

at Moira (1723), linked to the house by an avenue across the Moira demesne. 

There was a correlation between the aspirations or wealth of the landowner and 

the size of the church, as demonstrated by the Dowager Viscountess Midleton 

who employed Richard Castle for the classical church at Knockbreda, Belfast 

(1737). Wills Hill, later first Marquess of Downshire, outdid all local landowners 

by lavishing money on two churches, one classical and one gothic. Hillsborough 
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Church (1760) cost him the enormous sum of £20,000. It was a visible reminder 

of Hillôs unfulfilled hopes that it would be a cathedral for the diocese of Down.124  

 

Both Hervey and Primate Robinson built simple hall and tower churches with no 

nave, transepts, chancel or sanctuary. Their gothic appearance therefore, was only 

superficial: pinnacles, spire, pointed windows and sometimes crenellations. Craig 

has pointed out that in the period 1780 to 1800, architects like Richard Morrison 

and Francis Johnston designed in either the classical or gothic idiom according to 

the desire of the patron, so much so that their personal preference is unknown.125 

Only Hillsborough Church was a true gothic building with the full gothic layout. 

Rankin suggests that Herveyôs hall and tower churches anticipated the style of the 

First Fruits churches built so widely thirty years later.126  These were cost-

effective, practical churches, hence their later appeal. In order to preserve heat, 

there were no windows on the north wall at Desertoghill, Garvagh, and Tyanee, 

Tamlaght OôCrilly, both in county Londonderry. Hervey revelled in the reputation 

of an improver and a builder, but he watched the costs very carefully. At 

Desertoghill the 1775 subscription list in Herveyôs hand recorded that local 

landowners gave a total of £383, of which the bishop gave £95. By the time 

Samuel Lewis was compiling his Topographical Dictionary of Ireland in 1837, 

Hervey was given full credit for most of these churches, even the sole expense of 

Tyanee. Image was everything and could be achieved by the canny without 

enormous expense.  

 

One element of his church building was less successful. In 1778 he had a new 

spire put on St Columbôs Cathedral, Derry, probably designed by Shanahan, 

which appeared as the background of Herveyôs portrait of the bishop by Pompeo 

Batoni. When funds were exhausted, a new money-making scheme was begun. 

Hervey wrote to Mrs Isabella Forward, the wife of a local landowner, promising a 

print of the cathedral with its new spire for every subscriber. Mrs Forward sent 
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£30.127 When the spire became unsafe, Hervey ignored James Gandonôs advice 

and looked to the Continent for solutions; the spire subsequently became a source 

of rancour between the bishop and the dean.128  

 

Herveyôs early sermons emphasise Godôs generosity to mankind; in his sermons 

on creation, God is described as the master builder.129 Herveyôs church building in 

the diocese of Derry came in two bursts: the three churches of the 1770s were 

simple in design and decoration; in the 1790s, Ballyscullion and Tamlaghtfinlagan 

(built in conjunction with the Honourable John Beresford) had more sophisticated 

gothic decoration and acted as estate churches.130 Between the 1770s and the 

1790s, Hervey developed from an improving bishop to a sophisticated nobleman 

and connoisseur; even his church architecture reflected the shift. His mixed 

motives for building were most evident in his last and most gothic church at 

Tamlaghtfinlagan, even though he was on the Continent and would never return to 

Ireland [fig. 1.14]. The Earl Bishopôs letter to local landlord, John Beresford, 

gives hints of his building experience: he advised calling in pledged money 

quickly, before ódeath may deprive us of some of them, & caprice of othersô; 

paying the builder in three instalments, the last one on completion; and listed the 

subscriptions, his own being £100 (a fifth of the total pledged), leaving 

Beresfordôs contribution ominously open. He signed off óI am now eight weeks in 

bed with the gout, & have nothing to do but to build steeples & churches & other 

castles in the airô.131 Hervey was conscious of the Church of Ireland as a minority 

but believed it had a civilising and benevolent role: óLet it decorate the country if 
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it cannot receive it ... If we can employ the idle they will no more open their 

mouths é Let its steeple and spire make it the visible as well as the Established 

Churchô. 132  When finished, Tamlaghtfinlagan church became the living of 

Herveyôs favourite relation, the Revd Henry Hervey Aston Bruce. Building was 

rarely completely altruistic. 

 

Hervey had a visible impact on his diocese with his church, glebe-house and spire 

building. The dilapidation of churches and glebe houses had been one of the main 

findings of his visitation on becoming bishop. Tabulating First Fruits money by 

diocese (to 1823), Caroline Gallagher records Derry diocese as having the lowest 

take-up of First Fruits money: only £200 compared to Meath with the highest at 

£8,398.133 However, this evidence may point to a different conclusion: it may 

reflect the success of Herveyôs efforts to secure adequate glebes and to build glebe 

houses. Hervey also considered radical ideas for supporting super-annuated 

curates and for replacing the unpopular tithe payments to clergy with parcels of 

land. As we shall see, he was supportive of the building projects of other 

denominations too: a physical proof of his unusually liberal views on the rights of 

Catholics and Non-Conformists. 

 
 
 

1.4.1 Architecture as a common language 

 

During the early part of Herveyôs career in Ireland, as bishop he differed from the 

landowning English class from which he had emerged: his interests were focused 

on Irish religious and social issues. This was in contrast to the later period of his 

life when as absentee bishop, house-builder and collector, he behaved more like a 

lay lord. Architecture and religious outlook overlapped in his programme of 

improvement. As has been noted, his concern for the fabric of the churches and 

glebe houses of Derry diocese exceeded other bishops, until post-Union First 

Fruits money was systematically sought by the next generation, notably Bishop 
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OôBeirne in Meath. Herveyôs concern to provide adequate church buildings 

extended to the woeful lack of places for Catholics to worship. It is proposed in 

this chapter that he realised that building was an area in which he could make a 

visible difference; it was a political action, a proof of his support. This proposal 

will be tested through two case studies: firstly, his offer to build a Catholic church 

in the diocese of Derry and secondly, his contribution to the building of Rosemary 

Street First Presbyterian Church, Belfast.  

 

 

1.4.2 Case study one: Herveyôs offer to Bishop MacDevitt 

 

It is proposed that in religiously contested Ireland, architecture provided a 

language and an appreciation of style shared by cultured men of different 

denominations. Education and aesthetic appreciation could transcend the gulf 

between the assured position of the Church of Ireland clergy, who were recipients 

of tithes and rents, and the Roman Catholic and Dissenter clergy, whose 

congregations supported them as best they could. Barnard identifies an 

Ascendancy conviction that permanent and fashionable building set the 

Protestants apart morally and culturally from the impermanent structures of the 

inhabitants.134 Clergy had exercised a disproportionate influence over building in 

early eighteenth-century Ireland, because, through travel, they óencountered the 

new classicism, purchased treatises, engravings and pattern books, and returned to 

their livings confident that building bestowed larger cultural, ideological and 

practical benefitsô.135 By the late eighteenth century, the debate over the housing 

of the indigenous Irish had become more complex. Barnard cites the example of 

Charles OôConor, a Catholic landlord, who concluded in 1786 that although he 

had profited a little from his improvements, he doubted whether his tenants had, 

since better housing had led to them paying increased hearth tax. OôConor blamed 

not indolence, but the political and legal system that prevented Catholics from 

taking a responsible and long term view of their land.136 Barnard suggests that this 

was not a view popular with the Ascendancy; yet it might have struck a chord 
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with Hervey, who sought to tackle some of the legal disabilities faced by 

Catholics.  

 

Hervey was unusually sensitive to the injustices of the Penal Laws. Returning 

from his first Grand Tour to take up his appointment as bishop of Cloyne in 1767, 

Hervey, probably on the instructions of William Pitt, interviewed Irish clergy, 

friars and merchants in France to learn their views on a possible test oath. He 

translated his concern into political action: he was instrumental in the wording of 

the Test Act of 1774 and threw himself, with some notoriety, into Volunteering, 

with a Catholic emancipation agenda, from 1782. In his consideration of Herveyôs 

association with the Catholics from 1766 to 1785, J. R. Walsh rates Herveyôs 

contribution to the Test Act of 1774: 

 

Bishop Hervey é had advocated such a measure for over eight years and 

had drawn up a very similar Oath; he had been very active in the House of 

Lords from October, 1773 until the following May; and must be given 

much of the credit for preparing the way for this act. Lord Kenmare 

claimed that Herveyôs part in the proceedings would óimmortalise the 

name of the Bishop of Derryô. The Catholics of Ireland have, to their 

shame, largely forgotten their debt to him.137  

 

Nigel Yates identifies the 1774 Test Oath as the óbrainchildô of Bishop Hervey 

and as the essential precursor to the relief legislation that followed between 1778 

and 1793, the importance of which, Yates argues, ócannot be overstatedô.138  

 

Debates in Ireland over Roman Catholics swearing loyalty to the British crown 

were taking place within a wider discourse. The Quebec Act, also of 1774, 

recognised the necessity of compromising with the French Roman Catholic 

majority, in an area where British Protestants existed in tiny numbers and faced 

threats from the Thirteen Colonies and from France. It legalised freedom of 

worship for Roman Catholics and set up a legislative council, comprising 

seventeen to twenty-three residents of the colony, with a special oath that allowed 
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Roman Catholics to serve on this council.139 The Quebec Act represented the 

softening attitude of the British government towards Roman Catholicism and was 

indicative of variation of policy within the British Empire. 

 

Herveyôs political programme, though aimed ultimately at emancipation for 

Catholics, took material forms, too. He offered practical assistance to Catholic 

congregations, in the shape of disused churches. He donated an old Church of 

Ireland church, St Aidanôs near Limavady, to the local Catholic congregation 

when the new church was built at Duncrun, and similarly at Tamlaghtard, and he 

sent money to help build a Catholic church at Desertmartin, county 

Londonderry.140 The basement of the Mussenden Temple was used for services, 

since there was no Catholic chapel. In 1784, Finnôs Leinster Journal reported that 

passing through Saul on his way to Castle Ward, county Down, Hervey saw 

unroofed walls:  

 

Being informed that they were designed for a Romish Chapel but that the 

indigence of the people prevented its further advancement, his Lordship 

immediately repaired to the priestôs place of abode, and laying aside the 

pomp of greatness, entered his humble cabin and generously presented 

him with ten guineasô.141  

 

Emmet Larkin demonstrates the difficulties Catholic priests faced in ministering 

to their flock, finding that the ratio of priest to people was two and a half times 

worse in 1800 than in 1750.142 Larkin dates the beginning of improvement in 

church and chapel accommodation to 1790, with the most building in Derry 

diocese taking place between 1815 and 1830.143 Herveyôs concerns significantly 

predated this period.  

 

Other Church of Ireland bishops also maintained good relationships with the 

Roman Catholics of their diocese, notably Charles Agar, archbishop of Cashel, 
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who contributed towards the building of a new Roman Catholic chapel near his 

cathedral in Cashel and enjoyed reciprocal hospitality with the Catholic 

archbishop, James Butler, in their residences at Cashel and Thurles.144 Overall 

though, Hervey was unrepresentative of the largely conservative Church of 

Ireland bench of bishops, for instance John Ryder, archbishop of Tuam, who 

advised Hervey that ófrom the principles of their religion, Papists have no right to 

be tolerated in the exercise of their religion in Protestant countriesô.145  

 

Though the growth of religious toleration was gradual and complex in Ireland, 

Graham Gargett points out the prevalence and potential influence of French 

Enlightenment thought in Irish newspapers: the Dublin Magazine published 

eleven references to Voltaire between 1762 and 1765 and the Hibernian Magazine 

contained eighty references between 1771 and 1784 to the subject of toleration 

derived from the writings of Voltaire and French Enlightenment thought in 

general.146 It is difficult to determine Herveyôs religious views because his tone 

varied according to the viewpoint of his audience; however, he was sympathetic 

to French Enlightenment thought through his reading and travels, which included 

visits to Voltaire at Ferney in 1768 and 1770. At the root of his thinking, óThe 

rights of humanity form a great article in my Creedô. This extended to Non-

Conformists, whose beliefs he viewed as ónonsenseô but óas for their political 

principles, I think their system of purity & their practice in most parts of Europe, 

infinitely more favourable to political liberty than oursô.147 Similarly, scepticism 

of what he viewed as superstition in Catholicism did not outweigh natural rights: 

 

What a madness in our government not to legalise the daily exercise they 

make of their religion; as if a man was a less faithful subject, or a less 

brave soldier for being fool enough to believe that to be Flesh which all 

the world sees to be only Bread or as if doing that legally which he now 

                                                           
144

 Yates, The religious condition of Ireland, p. 252. 
145

 Ryder to Hervey, 26 Feb. 1768 (P.R.O.N.I., Hervey Bruce papers, D1514/9/75). 
146

 Graham Gargett, óToleration in later eighteenth-century Ireland: Voltaire and the Dublin and 

Hibernian magazines, 1762-84ô in Whelan, Ruth, and Baxter, Carol (eds), Toleration and 

religious identity: the Edict of Nantes and its implications in France, Britain and Ireland (Dublin, 

2003), p. 211. 
147

 Hervey to Arthur Young, 9 Mar. 1785, quoted in Matilda Bentham-Edwards, The 

autobiography of Arthur Young (London, 1898). 



 

does illegally would render him a more tumultuous or a more dangerous 

citizen.148 

 

 

The Catholic hierarchy suspected his motives. Archbishop Troy of Dublin 

believed that Hervey intended to divide the Catholic Church in Ireland in order to 

weaken it. Alarmed that his correspondent, Dr James Dillon, had been flattered by 

private conversations with Hervey at the Dungannon Volunteer Convention and 

that Dillon had invited Hervey to stay at his palace, Troy warned:  

 

He will talk a great deal of Gallican Doctrines and Privileges, but you will 

find him either ignorant of both, or misrepresenting them. As to his 

political Principles, I have been solemnly assured, even yesterday, by a 

great personage that he is a mere weather cock, and regarded by all parties 

as a mischief maker. I thought it necessary to be explicit with regard to 

him, in order to put you on your guard.149 

 

Where Hervey stood with regard to Catholicism is not entirely clear. At Easter 

1786, Hervey was in the company of the duke of Cumberland and Admiral 

Keppel at a celebration of the Misere in St Peterôs, Rome.  Cumberland earned the 

scorn of Fr Charles OôConor, studying at the Irish College in Rome, who reported 

his uncouth behaviour to his family in Ireland.150 The establishment in Britain, and 

particularly in Ireland, regarded Catholicism with suspicion, yet the 1770s and 

particularly 1780s saw some rapprochement at the local level in Ireland. 

 

In 1770, Hervey approached Philip MacDevitt, Roman Catholic bishop of Derry, 

offering to build him a church, a point not explored by previous studies.151 This 

approach suggests a high level of respect for the office of bishop and perhaps a 

personal relationship with the incumbent himself. The timing places this offer 

within Herveyôs initial burst of improvements, during his first couple of years in 

Derry. Unfortunately Hervey ócloggedô his offer with a restriction that made the 
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gift impossible for the bishop to accept, revealing that even this most sympathetic 

Church of Ireland cleric failed to understand fully the Roman Catholic situation.152  

 

William Cole, the Cambridge antiquary and friend of Hervey, carefully copied out 

from the London newspapers details both of Herveyôs offer and the trouble it 

caused. Hervey offered óa very considerable sumô to MacDevitt óprovided he 

would pray for the King and Royal Family by Nameô. Cole also copied out the 

reply of an Irish correspondent who believed Bishop MacDevittôs óBehaviour is 

very unfairly & dishonestly representedô, because óthe titular Bp. of Derry at his 

own Instance, & by Principle, constantly prayed, publickly & solemnly in his 

Congregation for our most gracious Sovereign King George the third, & the Royal 

Family, by Name; & did so before the noble Bishopôs Accession to the See of 

Derry, which some Hundreds of unexceptionable witnesses are ready to testify on 

Oathô.153 MacDevitt was not acting unusually: Catholic clergy had routinely 

offered prayers for the king since George IIIôs accession in 1760. Though there 

had been a failed attempt by the bishops of Armagh, Clogher, Meath, Derry, 

Kilmore, Raphoe and Kildare, meeting at the house of Lord Trimlestown in 1757, 

to demonstrate Catholic loyalty by offering weekly prayers for the king and a 

monthly denial of contentious tenets imputed to Catholics, the issue of loyalty to 

the crown was not eased until the pope omitted the name of James III from briefs 

of appointment to Irish sees on the accession of George III in 1760 and ceased to 

recognise the claims of the Stuarts to the throne on the death of the Old Pretender 

in 1766.154 

 

A traditional reading of the position of Catholic clergy and bishops in the Penal 

Era has emphasised the poverty, danger and disabilities they faced.155 The city of 

Derry, with its particularly troubled history, had not had a Catholic bishop living 

within the walls of the city since 1601. John MacColgan (Roman Catholic bishop 
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of Derry from 1752 to 1766) led an itinerant life. Philip MacDevitt lived in a 

small seminary outside the diocese and did not have a house in Derry nor a church 

until late on in his episcopate. Masses were said in the priestôs house on 

Fergusonôs Lane in Derry or outdoors by the hawthorn tree marking the remains 

of Derryôs Teampall Mor. His nephew, Charles OôDonnell, as bishop still lived in 

the priestôs house on Fergusonôs Lane. This was in contrast with their Church of 

Ireland counterparts, William Barnard, from England, who enjoyed a rental 

income of £7,000 from his see, and the Earl Bishop, who may have had an income 

of up to £40,000 a year from his English lands and diocesan rents.  

 

Reviewing the historiography of the penal laws, James Kelly characterises this 

emphasis on the sufferings of the Irish Catholic clergy and laity in the writings of 

historians such as Archbishop Moran as an ideological construct by nineteenth-

century clerical leaders to view the Catholic Church of their own day as emerging 

triumphantly from the ótrials and persecutionsô of the penal era.156 Kelly traces the 

emergence of a more evidentially driven interpretation of the penal laws to the 

1960s, led by Maureen Wall, John Brady and Patrick Corish, whose work dealt a 

ódevastating blowô to the traditional interpretation of intense repression by 

claiming both that the worst of the religious repression was over by the 1730s and 

that the Catholic church possessed a functioning episcopacy and sufficient clergy 

to minister to the Catholic population. They argued that the architects of the penal 

laws were more concerned to perpetuate Protestant political power through 

safeguarding their property and privilege rather than with the destruction of the 

Catholic Church.157 Kelly identifies the most recent direction of scholarship as 

óthe realisation that the so-called penal laws must be disaggregated if we are to 

replace myth and generalisation with accurate perception of a complex reality 

which meant that some laws (those against religion notably) were rarely enforced 

after 1745, while others (like the law on bearing arms and voting) were applied as 

long as they remained on the statute bookô.158 
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New work by Eric Derr is unearthing evidence that also suggests the traditional 

picture of the experience of Catholic bishops in Ireland during the penal era is 

more nuanced. Derr notes that leading Catholic families filled a bishopric for 

several generations, citing Derry as an example in which Bishop Philip MacDevitt 

was succeeded by his nephew, Bishop Charles OôDonnell. OôDonnell was 

nicknamed óOrange Charlieô because of his easy contact with Anglicans and 

Presbyterians.159 Looking at wills, he notes that some of these bishops were 

landowners or lived in the family home in some comfort. Bishop MacDevittôs will 

has not heretofore attracted attention but he spread out among his nephews and 

nieces a gold watch, silver spoons, money, beds and linen. He left silver 

candlesticks, chalices and embroidered vestments to parish churches. He also 

leased land through the cover of a Protestant, Colonel Richard Maxwell. His chief 

bequest was an educational bursary at St Patrickôs College, Maynooth.160 Hervey 

and MacDevitt had more in common than has previously been allowed. As well as 

enjoying a more varied and affluent material life than has previously been 

identified, MacDevitt had travelled and studied abroad, though obviously under 

different circumstances from the Grand Tourists. 

 

Herveyôs rejected offer of a church was made in 1770; over the next decade the 

situation changed significantly. It has not previously been noted in the context of 

Herveyôs involvement in the Test Acts, that in August 1782 Bishop MacDevitt, 

his nephew OôDonnell and the parish priest John Lynch swore the Oath of 

Allegiance.161 The month before, the Londonderry Journal reported: 

 

Yesterday evening in consequence of an invitation the different Volunteer 

Companies of the city marched to the review ground where they were 

politely entertained by the Reverend Mr Lynch the Roman Catholic 

Clergyman of Londonderry ... This act of hospitality is a pleasing instance 
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of the liberal spirit of the times leading us to charity and brotherly love, 

the genuine fruits of the Christian religion.162 

 

It was in this atmosphere that fundraising for a Catholic church in the city of 

Derry was begun in 1783; within hours, 500 guineas had been promised. The 

Protestant community contributed: the Corporation voted £50 and the Earl Bishop 

pledged the large sum of 200 guineas. In 1787, Daniel Beaufort noted Herveyôs 

interference in the building project: óLord Bristol promisôd Ã200, & gave One of 

it, but now refuses the other, because they finished it with Oak, instead of Cedar 

as he desiredô.163 

 

 

1.4.2 Case study two: Herveyôs offer to the First Presbyterian Church, 

Rosemary Street, Belfast 

 

The second case study also uses architecture, in this case a choice of style, as a 

vehicle to investigate interdenominational relationships. In 1781 (or possibly 

1783), Hervey contributed fifty guineas towards the building of the new First 

Presbyterian Church, Rosemary Street, Belfast.164 Alone in the list of donations 

recorded in the minute book was Herveyôs note, copied in, praising óa Building 

which does equal honor to the taste of the subscribers and the talent of the 

Architectô.165  The note implies that he had seen the plans or the finished 

neoclassical oval building designed by Roger Mulholland [fig. 1.15]. Rankin 

suggests that there may have been some connection between Hervey and 

Mulholland since Hervey was so insistent on complimenting him, possibly 

through the Volunteer Movement of which they were both members, or through 

the Italian architect, Columbani, who named Mulholland as his óparticular 
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friendô.166 Hervey mixed with Dissenters through his visits to Larchfield near 

Lisburn, the country house of the wealthy Presbyterian businessman Daniel 

Mussenden whose son Daniel was married to the bishopôs favourite, Frideswide 

Mussenden. Martha McTier, whose father had been the minister of the First 

Presbyterian Church, wrote to her brother William Drennan: óThe meeting house 

is finished and meets with great admiration but is not to be opened until Lord 

Donegall comes. There is still a large debt to which the Bishop of Derry very 

genteely, and unasked, sent £50. He is at present at L[arch]field and pays Mrs 

Mussenden adorationô.167  

Clearly Mulhollandôs church appealed strongly to Herveyôs architectural taste; his 

houses at Ballyscullion and Ickworth would also be round, neoclassical buildings. 

When Presbyterians in the 1780s moved away from functional, cheap Penal 

chapels and put up a building of architectural worth, they were signalling visually 

a claim to their actual current financial position and hopes of political status. 

Neoclassicism was identified with progress and rationalism.168 Neoclassicism was 

also a conscious separation from the gothic churches of the Established Church. 

The fact that Herveyôs compliment to their good taste was carefully recorded in 

the Rosemary Street Minute Book, indicates that architectural style could unite, 

transcending religious divides and political inequalities. Mulholland won the 

church committee over with a model of how an elliptical rafter system could be 

built and he was then given the commission óto alter the design of the new 

meeting house to be a perfect ellipsisô.169 This plan suited the emphasis on the 

pulpit in Protestant preaching denominations. An ellipsis was also functional: it 
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could seat a large number with good acoustics and uninterrupted view, and the 

simplicity of the classical lines lent elegance without further ornamentation or 

expense. Another Non-Subscribing Presbyterian congregation adopted a less 

sophisticated elliptical plan at Randalstown, County Antrim (completed in 1790). 

These two churches may have been inspired by the round St Andrewôs in 

Dublin.170 

 

 

1.5 Conclusion 

 

Wealth enabled Hervey to build on such an extensive scale. Changes in status 

launched new and increasingly ambitious building projects. The eighteenth 

century saw tremendous building activity, yet Hervey was extraordinary in the 

construction of three successive country houses. Comparison of style, interior 

layout, size and choice of architect shed light on his changing career trajectory. 

The need for expanding accommodation for guests and family at Downhill, his 

political base, was replaced by a zest for creating galleries to display artworks at 

Ballyscullion, his cultural house. Ickworth, the dynastic house, was twice the size 

of his Irish mansions, and this, combined with the fact that Hervey deemed it 

necessary to consult with fashionable Italian architects, indicates that more was 

needed to impress in England than Ireland. Pleasure also played a significant 

factor; Hervey clearly enjoyed the building process and had the funds to keep 

perfecting his architectural ideal through three country houses. 

 

Architectural influences entered Ireland through patrons like the Earl Bishop. 

óThe capillaries of friendship and consanguinity slowly suffused eighteenth-

century Ireland with classicismô.171 In Making the grand figure, Barnard reveals a 

wealth of seeking and offering advice, copying and commissioning, networks of 

relations and friends, and membership of associations. Hervey was in a position to 

be a conduit between Ireland and the architecture of Britain and of the Continent. 

His neoclassical houses and garden architecture indicate that, as in so much of his 

life, travel informed and inspired.  
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Hervey used architecture, or donations towards architectural projects, as a means 

of communication between denominations in a religiously divided Ireland. The 

aesthetic appreciation of architecture was a common language among educated 

men, irrelevant of their denominational backgrounds. Studies of Herveyôs political 

career have consistently highlighted his religious tolerance. By outlining the way 

he approached other denominations through building, and by providing pertinent 

examples of his methods of political and religious communication, the chapter 

sought to re-evaluate how such overtures were received. 



 

CHAPTER TWO  

INTERIORS AND GOODS 

 

2.1 Introduction 

 

The Earl Bishopôs houses have received attention from historians for their 

architecture and art collections but not for the appearance or use of the rooms 

themselves. To rectify this scholarly neglect, and reclaim these houses as the 

centre of daily life and work within the context of Ascendancy society, this 

chapter takes material culture as its starting point. As evidence for interiors and 

goods is sparse and relates mainly to Downhill, the net has been cast widely to 

encompass descriptions in letters and tourist comments. Objects are examined 

through receipts, auction records and stylistic choices. Inevitably, this chapter 

brings together disparate material which is organised into categories: interior 

design, craftsmen, fixed elements (notably chimneypieces) and finally moveable 

goods. In a symbiotic relationship, this chapter has both contributed to, and been 

enriched by, a project undertaken by Stephen Price at the Northern Regional 

College in Coleraine, to recreate the interiors at Downhill digitally [figs 2.1-2.2].1 

 

Several inter-related themes are raised through collating and analysing the 

material evidence that relates to the interiors of Herveyôs houses, which are 

traced, as they emerge, throughout this chapter. Firstly, it seeks to develop and 

advance the conclusions reached by the previous chapter, that Herveyôs three 

houses were built for different purposes. To this end, focus shifts towards social 

history, influenced by the work of Mark Girouard, particularly Life in the English 

country house (1978), as a theoretical tool to further our understanding of how 

rooms functioned, were lived in by family and dependents, and were experienced 

by a wider audience. Secondly, by tracking the sourcing and movement of skilled 

practitioners, networks of patronage are revealed. This brings into focus other 

social groups, notably the architects and craftsmen working at Downhill, some of 

whom, like the Shanahan family, lived in the house. Thirdly, this chapter 

                                                           
1
 The National Regional College/National Trust Downhill 3D Project has involved a considerable 

effort of recovery and research. I am grateful to Stephen Price for including my researches and 

suggestions, and for sharing his findings so generously. 



 

examines issues of stylistic choices. Intriguingly at Downhill and Ballyscullion 

(both neoclassical houses with similar Grand Tour collections on display) two 

very different decorative styles were employed for the wall treatments: classical 

and, as new evidence presented here shows, chinoiserie. The investigation of 

possible sources and models for inspiration leads to questions of emulation or 

innovation and works to place Herveyôs projects within the wider neoclassical 

movement. Fourthly, the status of rooms is considered. A hierarchy of 

chimneypieces finds expression here, with expensive Italian chimneypieces 

presiding over the chief rooms and English mantles in the bedrooms; a hierarchy 

that Herveyôs architect, Michael Shanahan, managed to upset. Throughout this 

chapter, comparison of the interiors and contents of Downhill and Ballyscullion 

with other Irish and British houses provides context for stylistic choices, 

consumption patterns and trends in the changing performative functions of rooms.   

 

 

2.2 Living within the house: the interiors at Downhill and comparison with 

contemporary houses 

 

The interior layout, the decoration and the names of the rooms at Downhill 

indicate their function and importance, the balance between public and private 

space, and the role of hospitality. Herveyôs houses have not been scrutinised from 

these angles before. In rejecting a formal layout in favour of a circular progression 

through the rooms, Hervey was in tune with attitudes of the 1770s. Changing 

room names give an interesting indication of the uses intended for them [fig. 2.3]. 

The Downhill library metamorphosed into the ólounging roomô. Both Peter 

Rankin and Maurice Craig noted the early use of this word in Ireland, Craig 

commenting that óby a strange paradox, this least cosy of houses seems to have 

been one of the very first to have one of its principal rooms labelled a óloungeô.2 

Lounge suggests the use of the library as a family sitting room for informal 

socialising and anticipates the house parties of the late eighteenth century.3 
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Girouard charted the changing functions of libraries from personal spaces in the 

early eighteenth-century, to family sitting room mid-century and a place for house 

party entertaining by the turn of the century.4 

 

Despite a new vogue for asymmetric and gothic fronts, Hervey preferred a strictly 

symmetrical, neoclassical façade. Visually, the drawing room and dining room 

balanced each other at the front of the house. Drawing rooms have been 

designated as female spaces, to which women withdrew while men dominated the 

dining room.5 Visitor accounts of Downhill pay least attention to the drawing 

room, typically the most richly furnished room, possibly because it lost its 

purpose after Hervey separated from Lady Hervey in 1782. A rare view of family 

life involved music. Frederick Hervey, Herveyôs fifteen-year-old son, described a 

typical day to his sister:  

 

I have been practising on the fiddle all this morning almost ï I read some 

of Montesquieuôs Spirit of the Laws this morning before breakfast ï since 

that I read some Greek & practisôd some Overtures ï dressôd for Dinner & 

I am now sat down to write to you ... When we have no other Company 

Papa reads Milton to us every Evening & delightfull it is so well read.6 

 

 

The evidence points to the dining room being well used. It has not previously 

been noticed that Downhill hospitality reached the attention of a London 

newspaper: óAmong the new mansions lately erected in Ireland, that of the Earl of 

Bristol, near Coleraine, is the most magnificent; and though his Lordship is 

absent, yet hospitality reigns in his palaceô.7 In the same year as this newspaper 

report, Beaufort was less impressed: óDinner very small & plain ï Wines excellent 

ï Burgundy, port Claret, madeira ï Champagne in the roomô.8 Hospitality seems 

typically to have embraced large numbers, as Herveyôs cheerful letter of 1783 to 

his daughter Mary suggests: óEverything is redolent of Joy and Youth, and we 

commonly sit down to table from 20 to 25. We have cold Suppers and a bottle of 
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Champaigne at each end of the table. The Songsters sing Ketchesô.9 As these Irish 

songs were performed in Herveyôs dining room at Downhill, one can assume that, 

when there was a harpist in the house, he performed there also. Hervey even had a 

house built for Dennis Hempson, the blind harpist.10 Hervey featured in political 

cartoons of 1783-84 as an Irish patriot in the form of a harp [fig. 2.4].11 Where the 

balance lay, between becoming too Irish and degenerating into the excessive 

hospitality associated with Gaelic culture, and dispensing the largesse expected of 

a bishop and nobleman, is difficult to judge and may have been determined by the 

viewpoint of the observer.12 On the other hand, excessive hospitality, feasting and 

drinking, was not the preserve of Gaelic culture, as Hervey had discovered when 

campaigning for his brother for the seat of Bury St Edmunds in 1753. 

 

Downhill, the neoclassical family villa, quickly expanded into Downhill, the 

house for entertaining. The gallery wing was added in the early 1780s and then 

extended, and a billiard table arrived at Downhill in 1787 which was noticed in 

the gallery in 1823 along with an organ.13 Galleries were public entertainment 

spaces in which the owner could display his taste, learning and acquisitions. 

Soane recorded his frustration with the Earl Bishopôs plans for Downhill: óthe 

whole house is an assemblage of Galleries, & passagesô.14  Soane favoured 

óenlarging the HKeepers Room, Servants hall &c, to build a new Room in the 

West pt for a Gallery Library &cô.15 He was a thoroughly modern architect, 

concerned with convenience and the workings of the staff in relation to the design. 

He proposed rooms for mixed, flexible use (óGallery Libraryô and óRoom & 

Galleryô) and considered the internal look of the gallery for which a massive 
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ceiling painting of Aurora was already in train. These galleries upset the 

circulation route around the house. The changing names of room at Downhill 

highlight Herveyôs search for a role and persona during the 1770s and 1780s and 

suggest uncertainty as to how he wanted to use his house. Even as Downhill 

became more of a hub for entertaining and business, Hervey sought more 

personal privacy, building a new bedroom suite for himself, accessed only from 

the stable courtyard. Ballyscullion had less accommodation and more display 

space.  

 

The balance of responsibility between the patron, architect and craftsman may be 

explored though the process of designing fixed elements of the interior, the layout 

of the rooms and the stucco, woodwork and painting. The example of Downhill 

challenges the impression, given by architectôs plans and books, such as Robert 

and James Adam, Works in architecture (1773), that an interior was a fully 

designed space, with architecture, decoration and even furniture all unified.16 

Downhill developed piecemeal, influenced by the tastes, needs and availability of 

the owner, architect, interior designers and craftsmen. While this piecemeal 

approach must have been characteristic of older houses being updated, it must 

have been less usual in a house like Downhill which was a new-build.17 It is 

difficult to know how unusual Hervey was in not leaving the project in the hands 

of a single architect, because architectural historiography emphasises the work of 

famous architects, ignoring more complicated and piecemeal building projects. 

 

By the time Hervey was ready to decorate Downhill in the late 1770s and early 

1780s, neoclassical interiors were becoming established in Irish buildings. 

Examples can be found in William Chambersôs townhouse for Lord Charlemont 

from 1763; Thomas Cooleyôs Royal Exchange 1769; James Stuart at Rathfarnham 

Castle for Lord Loftus 1770-1; Robert Adamôs ceiling designs for the townhouse 

of Hercules Rowley 1765 and for Summerhill 1779; and the Long Gallery at 

Castletown painted in the Pompeian style in 1777 by Charles Reuben Riley and 

Thomas Ryder. The most influential neoclassical interior was Wyattôs picture 
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gallery at Leinster House of 1777.18 At Downhill in 1777 the dining room, 

drawing room and library (later lounging room) at Downhill were decorated with 

óOrnamental Entablature according to Mr. Wyattôs designsô.19 Summerson has 

identified 1775 as marking the end in Britain of the dominance of Adam and 

Chambers over the órevolution in taste of which he himself [Adam] was so 

arrogantly consciousô.20  In choosing this second generation of neoclassical 

architects, led by James Wyatt and John Soane, Hervey was abreast of British 

fashion. Wyatt was considered to be more true to the Roman and Greek models, 

more refined. He restricted decoration to the ceiling, leaving walls unadorned 

(picture hanging space was at a premium for Hervey), and limited motifs to a 

couple of themes repeated in ceiling, friezes and chimneypieces. Wyatt also had 

an extensive practice and influence in Ireland: Conor Lucey has noted the stylistic 

debt Stapleton owed to Wyatt, through Penrose, Wyattôs agent in Ireland.21  

 

Oddly, the only surviving stucco estimate for Downhill, for the stair hall, is 

suggestive of a composite style, apparently fusing neoclassical medallions with 

the now out-dated naturalistic elements so beloved of Irish plasterers and patrons. 

Curran has charted the changes in style in Ireland: 1750 marked the high point of 

the open ceiling, with naturalistic and rococo elements, particularly the famous 

bird motifs of Irish plasterwork, superseded around 1770 by the low-relief, 

geometrical style of Adam, practised in Ireland by Stapleton and Thorp.22  

William Fitzgeraldôs estimate or bill featured images derived from classical 

themes: óa sacrefice in which there is 3 figers, a Cow Urn and Bird 9 days 

Ã1.16.0ô and óa figer of the Goddess Flora which is 19 inches high which took me 

7 days Ã1.8.0ô. The scheme also involved ó32 Birds in different Atatudes which 

will take 32 days Ã6.8.0ô among tree branches and tendrils.23 Fitzgeraldôs scheme 

would have been unfashionable in a neoclassical house; perhaps it was rejected. 
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Nevertheless, a recurring theme in this thesis is the influence of the idiosyncratic 

patron: fashion and cost were not the only factors governing choices. 

 

Conor Lucey points out that ornament had a social function, hence the 

concentration of stucco decoration in the entrance halls of town houses in Dublin 

and Amsterdam. The great expense of ornamental decoration was órecovered in 

terms of social commerce ... it provided a high óreturnô through its visibility and 

legibility as an expression of taste and classical eruditionô.24 However, using 

visitor accounts as a guide suggests that the Downhill stair hall did not have a 

strong impact, for only two visitors commented upon it and none described stucco 

work. This reticence was typical because, despite the great expense of ornamental 

plastering, it was considered lower in the artistic hierarchy that placed decorative 

art below fine art. Jocelyn Anderson has demonstrated that published guidebooks 

adhered exclusively to descriptions of architecture, artworks and landscaping. 

This triumvirate dominated individual tourist accounts too, though personal 

interest in furnishings and colour schemes might find expression.25 In the stair 

hall, Daniel Beaufort in 1787 commented only on the painting in the dome: óa 

horrible Collossal picture of the Father bestriding the clouds & dividing light from 

darknessô.26 Neale in 1823 also homed in on the painted elements: 

 

In the Entrance Hall is a statue of the Fighting Gladiator. The staircase is 

extremely light and elegant, it is of stone, with gilt balustrades, the walls 

painted in fresco, with rustic scenery: from the dome, in which is painted a 

representation of the Deity dividing light from darkness, depends a large 

glass chandelier.27 

 

Francis Reagel (a German painter and mosaic artist based in Rome) was noted at 

work ónow painting the pannel under the middle window of the great stairsô.28 
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Possibly these fresco panels were framed by William Fitzgeraldôs stucco, as were 

Robert Adamôs early schemes for Admiral Boscawen at Hatchlands Park (1759), 

contrasting stucco panels of arabesques with fresco views of ancient ruins [fig. 

2.5]. Adamôs Saloon for Kedleston (c.1761) for Sir Nathaniel Curzon [fig. 2.6], 

though on a far grander scale, combined the same constituents as Downhill: dome, 

fresco, plasterwork and statuary. Hervey developed these ideas at Ballyscullion 

and Ickworth where the tall portico columns at the entrance, the immense height 

of the dome and specially commissioned statuary groups dominated.  

 

Receipts provide evidence of further decorative details. The balustrade for the 

great stairs at Downhill cost £62, whilst the balustrade of the stairs to the offices 

cost £6 6s. 8d. in 1782, indicating how money was apportioned between areas 

designed to impress visitors and working areas, in this case a difference of a 

multiple of ten.29 James Forbes, a Belfast carpenter, added a Vitruvian scroll to the 

stairs, window architraves for the five windows and two ionic columns placed at 

the base of the stairs at a cost of £5 13s. 9d.30 He also carved óvine-leaf and grapes 

at 20d a footô for the dining room (a typical dining motif) and óvine-leaf onlyô for 

the lounging room.31  

 

The influence of a patron is evident in the design for the ceiling of the main 

corridor (discussed in terms of political iconography in chapter 1). Three letters 

from Shanahan to Hervey, one each month from September to November 1783, 

offer a revealing glimpse of the design process operating at Downhill. For the 

ceiling plan, Hervey had first suggested that Shanahan ócopy one from a bookô.32 

Evidently the pattern books had nothing to offer the Earl Bishop, currently in the 

heat of his Volunteer phase, so Shanahan tried again: 

 

you have not seen any design for the Ceiling of the Corridore that pleased 

you, I have lately made out two designs, quite different from any as yet in 

the Downhill ï one of which my wife tells you approve of but saying you 
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wished to have Modern Trophys introduced instead of those of the 

Antients ï I therefore send it by the bearer for your Lordshipôs further 

instruction in filling the Compartments.33 

 

Finally, the Earl Bishopôs very specific requirements were met: óFitzgerald is 

working at the ceiling of the corridor, filled with modern trophies by Mr. Rigel 

[Reagel]ô.34 On this occasion the patron had strong views, pattern books were 

consulted, the architect made out the plans, there was wider discussion which 

included the architectôs wife, the patron approved them, and finally the stucco 

expert and the German painter executed the design, possibly with some 

modifications of their own. This corridor (where statues were displayed in niches) 

also reflects the piecemeal development of interiors: in 1783 it had a trophy theme 

but in 1780 Soane had suggested arabesques.35  

 

A letter from William Salmon of Dublin reveals that Hervey bought pre-cast 

plaster medallions, which allows comparison with the taste of other patrons.  

From Salmonôs collection, Hervey selected exclusively classical designs, for 

instance óAurora in her chariotô costing Ã4 11s.36 Salmon advertised in Faulknerôs 

Journal and offered a catalogue for perusal.37 James Wyatt decorated the dining 

room of Westport House for Lord Altamont with classical medallions and 

roundels. Stapleton purchased medallions from Salmon; based on Salmonôs letter 
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to Hervey, Lucey has located similar (probably identical) models [fig. 2.7].38 

These serve both to provide visual examples of what has been lost at Downhill 

and to highlight that other patrons made similar choices, sourced in Dublin and 

London.  

 

Some degree of a classical education was shared by patrons and architects, but as 

Lucey has proven in relation to speculatively built Dublin townhouses of the late 

eighteenth century, a combination of illiteracy in the canon of classical imagery 

and ócommercially motivated pragmatismô, resulted in the apparently 

indiscriminate use of classical motifs. In contrast, George Richardson warned in 

Iconography (1779) that the decorator should select images appropriately in order 

to órender his art singularly entertaining, and intelligible to reason, taste and 

judgmentô.39 Richardson assumed that the stucco schemes would be read and 

enjoyed by the occupants. 

 

Downhill exhibited a wide variety of media and sources for wall decoration. 

Salmonôs letter reveals that he brought his patterns for moulds from London. 

Some mouldings were made on site at Downhill. Murphy was paid for stucco 

work in 1782 and may have made his own wax moulds: Shanahan ordered 18oz. 

of beeswax for the stucco-man.40 Hervey also displayed contemporary sculpture 

such as Mr Foyôs óbasso relievo for the staircaseô which was óon the road from 

Dublinô in 1783.41 The much admired bas-relief of Socrates detecting Alcibiades 

in the society of courtesans (discussed in chapter 4), over the chimneypiece in the 

gallery may have been ancient. Hervey mixed unique pieces, often sourced 

abroad, with ready-made items produced closer to home.  
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2.3 The craftsmen 

 

As bishop, Hervey made a virtue of giving preferment only to Irish clergy; 

whether he consciously extended this patriotic policy to his building projects is 

less clear. Undoubtedly, the skills profile of an area was altered by a major 

building project. A web criss-crossing Ireland, England and the Continent, 

emerges through the Downhill papers: a web of personal introduction, advice 

seeking, viewing work undertaken elsewhere, looking at published examples, and 

doubtless, chance. Delineating the strands of this web indicates pathways by 

which ideas, styles and skills circulated within or entered Ireland. Identifying the 

origins and interplay of the employees at Downhill contributes new material to the 

picture of building and decorating in Ireland in the second half of the eighteenth 

century. Some of these men (and Michael Shanahanôs family) lived as well as 

worked at Downhill, bringing another social group into focus. 

 

Among local craftsmen, Ulster was a more vibrant place for decorative and 

building skills than might be expected, considering that this region was remote 

from Dublin, the centre of Irish building activity. Father and son stonecutters, 

James and David McBlain, were locals who found work in the area, for Wills Hill 

at Hillsborough, Robert Stewart at Mount Stewart and Frederick Hervey at 

Downhill and Derry cathedral spire. They chose to be buried in Dunboe 

churchyard beside Downhill [fig. 2.8]. William Fitzgerald, master plasterer from 

Dublin, came to Downhill from the nearby Temple of the Winds at Mount 

Stewart. James Forbes was a carver and carpenter working in Belfast.42 Less 

skilled local craftsmen worked under a master: in August 1783 Connor the 

carpenter had three Derry carpenters helping him in the gallery and Heffernan 

(who often had trouble finding labourers or plasterers) had óa manô to help him 

that week.43 
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Local men with skills might move out of the area, for example óyoung Hiffernanô, 

who was gilding in the Gallery in 1783, was probably the James Heffernan of 

Derry whom Shanahan took on as an apprentice at his Cork marble-works in 

1796. His father, also James Heffernan, was óan honest man and a very good plain 

plasterer, but as for ornaments he would not at all answer my purposeô.44 Francis 

Johnston of Armagh benefited from the patronage of Primate Robinson of 

Armagh: he was nominated for the Royal School in Armagh by Robinson, was 

apprenticed to his architect Thomas Cooley in Dublin and became Robinsonôs 

main architect. The Sandys brothers of Dublin received opportunities through the 

Earl Bishop. The Revd Joseph Sandys became Herveyôs chaplain and clerk of 

works at Ballyscullion and then at Ickworth. Hervey may have helped finance 

Francis Sandysô four years in Rome from 1791 and certainly introduced him to 

Canova and engaged him at Rome for Ickworth. Joseph Sandys returned home to 

become rector of Kilrea and married into the Burroughs family, particular friends 

of Hervey, while Francis Sandys first settled in Bury St Edmunds, near Ickworth 

in Suffolk, and then moved to London as an architect.45 Architecturally-minded 

patrons could significantly boost the career of a talented or deserving individual. 

 

Others came to Ulster in search of opportunity. Richard Louch of London, 

builder, architect and timber supplier, was considering emigration to America 

after his London premises were destroyed by fire, but was persuaded to come to 

Armagh by Primate Robinson.46 Whilst at Downhill, John Soane rode over in 

person to secure Louchôs superior carpentry services; whether Louchôs London 

training was the chief recommendation or whether Soane already knew him is 

unknown.47 The capital cities of Dublin and London were tapped directly too. As 

du Prey comments, óThe comradely contacts with London craftsmen which Soane 

maintained since his days in the office of Henry Holland would now be of use to 
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the young architect on a job of his ownô.48 Soane wrote from Downhill to Richard 

Holland in London óto send two good Joiners by his Lordships orders, 

recommend Derham & Webb if not engagedô.49 Shanahan developed his own 

professional networks: he knew Roger Mulholland (of Belfast) and travelled with 

George Steuart (a Scottish architect who had worked at Baronscourt), and he 

intended to consult Wyatt and Adam in London and Thomas Penrose, Malton (an 

English architect, Christian name unknown) and James Gandon in Dublin. 

 

Some specialist skills were not available near home. Soane wrote óto England for 

somebody to paint the long Gallery ... in Arabesque Pergolasô.50 In about 1783 

William Fitzgerald travelled in search of stucco men and a supply of alabaster, 

and in 1787 Shanahan was going to London for a skilled sculptor.51 Painters were 

paid for the journey to Downhill from Dublin (James Cosgrave óand partnersô 

received 2s. 5d. per day each, for a five day journey) and then worked for twenty-

nine days painting the drawing room and lounging room; this must have been 

specialist work to make it worthwhile.52 Mr. Murphy appeared in the monthly 

accounts of January and February 1782 as a stucco man. Here he is tentatively 

identified for the first time as Daniel Murphy of Cork; Shanahan was from Cork 

and may have sourced craftsmen through his home contacts. Daniel Murphy 

actively sought out work, considering it advantageous to advertise his London 

training under a top architect:  

 

all manner of ornament stucco-work in the Antique Grotesque style and 

colouring of apartments in oil and water now practised in the Cities of 

London and Westminster where he received his education and professional 

knowledge under the ingenious James Wyatt, architect.53 

 

When Soane needed óanother Ornamt hand if more enrich'd Cielings are 

required, & at least three more plain menô in 1780, he planned to ógo to Armagh 
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to make every enquiry to get men from thence or from Dublinô.54 Presumably 

Primate Robinsonôs projects had created a pool of craftsmen in Armagh. When 

Shanahan fell out with William Fitzgerald, the plasterer, he found that he could 

not easily replace him in Ireland and suggested that Hervey might óhave recourse 

to Mr. Wyatt or Adam for a manô, but eventually Fitzgeraldôs terms were met.55 

The Rose family in England were Robert Adamôs main plasterers. He treated 

them well, settling Joseph Roseôs bills directly whereas the client paid the other 

workers.56 The Roses also accepted other commissions, for instance at Castle 

Coole under James Wyatt. 

 

Although Hervey was unusually well-travelled, he rarely employed foreign 

specialists in Ireland, tending to rely on Irish talent more than some patrons in his 

position. By following a holistic approach, this thesis aims to highlight areas of 

crossover where one aspect of Herveyôs life influences another. Herveyôs 

employment of Irishmen may have been influenced by the popularity of his policy 

of employing only Irish clergy and by the timing of the project, considering that 

the extending and decorating of Downhill coincided with his period as patriot 

politician. It has already been noted that the craftsmen and materials for the other 

major house of this period, Castle Coole, were shipped over from England. 

Hervey also employed Irishmen for Ballyscullion and placed two Irish architects, 

the Sandys brothers, in charge of Ickworth in Suffolk. On the other hand, other 

factors must have played a part: cost and convenience made Irishmen more 

attractive, and foreign practitioners were brought in where necessary.  

 

Crookshank and Glin comment on the growing appetite for European art seen in 

picture collections from the middle of the century and the popularity of painted 

interiors in the late eighteenth century.57 In the area of painting, Hervey mobilised 

all his resources and contacts abroad, employing a foreign history painter, Francis 

Reagel. Once at Downhill, Reagel was stricken by a swelling lump in his stomach, 

had to abandon his work and disappeared from the historical record altogether. He 
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had only completed some panels on the great stairs and probably the mosaic 

scenes of Roman views above the doors in the lounging room.58 According to 

Strickland, Hervey met Reagel in Rome where he studied painting and mosaic 

work under his German father, and Hervey invited him to Ireland in 1784 with the 

immense promise of £1,000 to create a mosaic pavement for the Mussenden 

Temple.59 Hervey was not the only Irish patron to look abroad for specialist skills. 

Returning from his Grand Tour in 1805, Lord Cloncurry, brought the Italian 

landscape painter, Gaspare Gabrielle (fl. 1803-33), to decorate the principal 

reception rooms at Lyons with murals of Italian and Irish scenery ócreating what 

must have been the finest painted interior in Irelandô.60 This importation of foreign 

artists indicates that certain high-level skills could not be found at home. Securing 

the foreign and the famous brought prestige, as testified by the impossible number 

of decorative pictures attributed to Angelica Kauffmannôs brief period in Ireland. 

The earl of Aldborough tried for similar effects on a smaller budget. He employed 

the Italian Filippos Zafforini (fl.1798-1811), a theatre scene painter in Dublin, for 

Aldborough House in Dublin for 30 guineas from June to July 1798 and alongside 

Dublin artist, John Meares, for portrait heads in the same scenes.61 These murals 

aroused some derision because the patron and his wife appeared too prominently, 

dressed in Volunteer costumes.62  
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Shanahan withdrew from Downhill for a time while Hervey employed the 

Milanese architect and designer Placido Columbani from 1783 to 1785, the most 

intense period of decoration at Downhill.63  A vignette of this unusually 

cosmopolitan (and troubled) period is given by Anne Shanahanôs defence of 

herself and her husband against imported Italian speaking professionals: ówe 

imagined you had taken a dislike to us of late and I thought my character in very 

great danger in the house with Mr Columbani by what he told Mr Rigel [Reagel] 

and some others of our Acquaintance in Coleraineô.64 Though the presence of 

foreign specialists in Ireland has been widely noted, most comprehensively in 

Irish painters by Crookshank and Glin, the impact of this foreign competition on 

indigenous artists and craftsmen has been little explored. Anne Shanahanôs letter 

reveals a strong sense of them and us; Columbani in particular was identified as a 

threat. More commonly a foreign painter was attached to an architectural practice, 

as was Antonio Zucchi who worked for Adam at Headfort House in the 1770s. 

The teams of stuccadores from the Lombard lake area generally kept within their 

own company and often had wives and land at home. A different scenario played 

out at Lyons where Gaspare Gabrielle lived for thirteen years and married an Irish 

housemaid.  

 

How Columbani came to Ireland and to Downhill is unknown. Possibly his 

publications between 1766 and 1776 recommended him.65 Columbaniôs style was 

associated with that of the Adams brothers and was perhaps closest to Pergolesi.66 

His books made their way to Ireland: in 1788 the Dublin Journal advertised 

Columbaniôs New book of ornaments selling for 7s. 6d. and Variety of capitals for 

6s. Francis Johnston bought the former and the latter appears in the Westport 
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House library catalogue of 1845.67 The purpose of these books, ostensibly to 

spread good taste and offer ideas, was also to attract patronage.  

 

There was a wealth of pattern book publishing during the neoclassical period, 

creating a decorative revolution, so that the ódomestic interior had become a 

vehicle which could be moulded according to the tastes of the individual ownerô.68 

Among the most influential pattern books were lavish publications like The works 

in architecture of Robert and James Adam (1770s) and John Soaneôs Plans, 

elevations and sections of buildings (1788) in which he criticised Adamesque 

style. Some of these books contained minimal text and were intended to be used 

flexibly by craftsmen, such as Placido Columbaniôs Variety of capitals, freezes 

and corniches, and how to increase and decrease them, still retaining the same 

proportion as the original (1776). 

 

Placido Columbani may be a member of the Columbani family of Lodi, an area 

specialising in ceramics.69 The stuccodore families of the Lombard lakes, who 

travelled for work all over Europe, were multi-talented, often covering a range of 

decorative functions within the family or even individual. Thus Columbani 

claimed to be an architect and stuccodore, published decorative schemes, was an 

engraver, landscape designer and acted as a clerk of works.70 It is suggested in this 

chapter that Hervey may provide a previously unnoticed thread running through 

the career of Columbani, whose career is hard to trace and has not received 

academic attention before. Columbani worked at Audley End in Essex before and 

after coming to Ireland. The Earl Bishop has not been linked with Audley End, 

but he owned land there; in fact he owned Ring Hill (the principal view from the 

Jacobean house) which Sir John Griffin Griffin rented from the earls of Bristol 

and built the circular Temple of Victory by Robert Adam in 1771 as an eye 
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catcher.71 Howard Colvin locates Columbani at Audley End in 1781 amending the 

designs of Richard Woodsôs Elysian Garden.72 From 1783-5 he was at Downhill 

but was back at Audley End again in 1786, making record drawings of the Adam 

rooms and presumably making some changes since new curtains for the dining 

parlour and a dining table and six chairs for the vestibule were purchased [fig. 

2.9].73 Sir John Dick employed Columbani to Italianise his villa, Mount Clare, at 

Roehampton c.1780 with ornaments and a Doric portico.74 Again, Sir John Dick 

knew Hervey, with whom he and Sir John Strange had tried to sell Italian pictures 

in Ireland (see chapter 4).75 In the 1790s, Columbani worked at Mulgrave Castle, 

the seat of Herveyôs nephew, Constantine Phipps.76  Surprisingly, at the age of 

forty-two in 1786, Columbani enrolled in the Royal Academy Schools.77 Whether 

Hervey had a direct hand in recommending Columbani to friends and relations is 

speculation, but Columbaniôs example indicates how a skilled practitioner might 

circulate within a patronage group.78 

 

The capacity in which Hervey employed Placido Columbani is far from clear. 

According to Peter Rankin:  

 

Placido Columbani has sometimes been suggested as architect of 

Downhill, or if not architect then at least responsible for much of the 

internal decoration. But he appears at Downhill only between 1783 and 
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1785, and then in a somewhat overseeing capacity, more concerned with 

matters of plumbing and the installation of the waterclosets. He described 

himself as a óparticular friendô of Roger Mulholland, the Belfast 

architect.79 

 

It seems highly unlikely that the Earl Bishop would employ a man of some 

standing in the world of interior decoration and not use him in that role. A hint 

among Herveyôs papers, not previously noted, indicates that Columbani did 

execute design drawings: óI will be much obliged to yr. Lordship for the Drawing 

of the Skreen etc. I had left in the Drawing Rm. for yr. Lordshipôs approbationô.80 

The lack of evidence for what Columbani executed at Downhill, presumably 

results from Herveyôs residence during this period, so decisions were not recorded 

on paper. 

 

Later in England, Hervey employed Casimiri and Donato Carabelli, two 

specialists from Italy who had worked on Milan cathedral, for modelling the 

frieze around the rotunda at Ickworth in terracotta. This frieze demonstrates the 

network Hervey could draw upon abroad. He wrote to Alexander Day, miniature 

artist and agent, in Rome:  

 

certainly a more beautifull, elegant, noble façade [Ickworth] never was 

seen ... the only difficulty now is how to get the basso relievos executed. 

The upper ones must certainly be painted as Dear Canova suggests being 

beyond the read[ing] of the Eyes accuracy, but the lower ones must be 

bold & I suppose cast from all parts - & I should be thankfull to you if you 

would begin an experiment on the basso relievos of Villa Bourghese: & 

then try The Casts with the composition of our formula ... as the extent of 

our Basso relievos is immense we must blend Oeconomy with our 

Magnificence or we shall wreck the Vessel.81 

 

The scheme was based on Flaxmanôs illustrations of Homerôs Odyssey (1793) and 

Iliad (1805), a remarkable experiment in replicating ancient images seen in vase 

decoration [fig. 2.10]. Herveyôs granddaughter, Lady Caroline Crichton, may have 

designed the panels under the portico on the theme of the Olympic Games [fig. 

                                                           
79

 Peter Rankin, Irish building ventures, p. 14. 
80

 Columbani to Hervey, 23 June 1784 (P.R.O.N.I., Hervey Bruce papers, D2798/2/66). 
81

 Hervey to Alexander Day, 8 Sept. 1795 (Suffolk R.O., Hervey papers, 941/30/1). In fact neither 

frieze was painted. Further plans of the Earl Bishop to run the frieze along the pavilions were not 

carried out by Herveyôs son. 



 

2.11]. The section unfinished at Herveyôs death was completed in Coade stone in 

the 1820s.  

 

Comparing wages and prices at Downhill with the wider Irish building scene, 

Hervey seems to have paid his employees well. Conor Lucey notes that Dublin 

and London plasterers were paid at similar levels. Quantity surveyor Bryan 

Bolgerôs itemized labour costs for Stapletonôs team at Trinity College in 1790, 

giving a daily rate of 4s. for plasterers, 1s. 9d. for labourers, and 1s. 3d. for 

óboysô.82 At Downhill William Fitzgerald, master plasterer from Dublin, was 

apparently paid at almost twice the rate noted by Lucey for Dublin (at £2 5s. 6d. a 

week) whilst Heffernan, the plasterer from Derry, was closer to the norm (£1 6s. a 

week). Foreign practitioners commanded more: Hervey may have offered Reagel 

£1,000 and the Carabelli received wages of £26 5s. per month 1799-1804 at 

Ickworth.83 

 

Prices were carefully compared. Shanahan kept abreast of building projects in 

Dublin, using them as a guideline to prices: óit would be a pleasure to me, if your 

Lordship enquirôd of Lord Mountgarret who has lately finishôd a large House in 

Stephen Green, what he had paid Mr. Darley a foot for his stairsô.84 He even knew 

what Robert Adam was charging in London, justifying an expensive carpentry 

estimate with a flattering comparison: óI hope your Lordship will not be surprised 

at the amount of the carverôs bill. The carving of the frame of a looking-glass at 

Sir Watkin Williams Wynnôs cost Ã200ô.85 Overseers and architects also had 

pricing books to guide them: comparing prices paid at Downhill in 1777 with 

Philip Levi Hodgson, A set of tables of solid and superficial measure (Dublin, 

1774), indicates that Downhill craftsmen were paid slightly above suggested 

prices.86 Columbani regretted agreeing to James McAlisterôs plumbing estimate 
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before comparing prices with other architects. The Dublin plumbersô rate was 3s. 

a day óbut [McAlister] would have 5 per day ï Board, expences, and all days paid 

he was at leisureô.87 Prices were dictated by the cities; in this case local work was 

no cheaper and might even be more expensive. The clerk of works had to be 

experienced and on guard against the unscrupulous. Columbani enquired about 

prices with architects in Dublin and Belfast: óA particular friend of mine Mr 

Roger Mulholland in Belfast hearing of my distress in the plumbing work has sent 

me a Man Plumber, who has worked for him there, and for Lord Abricorn [sic]ô.88 

Personal recommendation carried weight. Later, the Earl Bishop was pleased with 

the pump supplying the water closets and paid McAlister £22 15s. in part payment 

for what the Earl Bishop noted on the bill was a óvery ingenious Pumpô.89  

 

Examining the craftsmen and the logistics of the building programme has placed 

Downhill within the wider picture of late Georgian building. Although original 

plans by Wyatt may speculatively be assumed, Downhill and Ballyscullion were 

overseen, built and decorated by Irishmen, perhaps linked to Herveyôs patriotic 

outlook in the 1770s and 1780s. Only where decorative art met fine art did Hervey 

import specialists, sourced through his travels. Other patrons also sought the 

prestige of the foreign if they could, either through London based architectural 

firms with associated specialists or sourcing decorative artists abroad in person. 

Shanahan had a network of contacts across Ireland and England and kept a keen 

eye on prices. The constant changes of room names, decorative schemes and 

extensions of galleries and accommodation indicate both Herveyôs search for a 

role during the period of the building of Downhill and his proactive, even 

meddlesome, approach to building and decorating. 

 

 

2.4 Sources of inspiration 
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Having discussed the sourcing of craftsmen and specialists working at Downhill, 

attention is now turned to the circulation of ideas between Ireland, Britain and the 

Continent and, by extension, to locating Herveyôs building projects within the 

wider neoclassical movement. Travel informed Herveyôs taste and models seen 

abroad were reconfigured at home. Archaeology brought new inspiration and 

collecting pictures and statues gave new purpose to his houses. His building plans 

had to adapt in response to new stimuli. Herveyôs engagement with neoclassicism 

was serious: his purchase of the Villa Negroni frescoes in 1777 and exploration of 

the ruins of the Palace of Lucullus with Soane in 1779, reveal contemporary 

fascination with experiencing and replicating the classical world. The previous 

chapter considered his use of neoclassical architecture and copies of Roman 

buildings in his demesne which were comparable to other contemporary country 

houses. This chapter proposes that (in intention at least) his ambitions for 

neoclassical interiors were more radical. 

 

The interiors of Ballyscullion have been a mystery, but new evidence presented 

here reveals unsuspected chinoiserie decoration. This choice appears incongruous 

in a neoclassical house, at a time when chinoiserie was out of fashion in Britain. 

This chapter proposes that by selecting the foreign as a backdrop for his display, 

Hervey was responding to the flimsy architecture depicted in the wall frescoes of 

the Villa Negroni, Pompeii and Herculaneum. Chinoiserie was enjoying renewed 

popularity in France; Hervey was more attuned to Continental than British 

fashion. 

 

 

2.4.1 Sources of inspiration: prints and books 

 

Faced with bald areas of inner wall beyond the shutters in the gallery (due to the 

very deep thickness of the walls) Shanahan recommended a fashionable solution: 

panels with óa few ornaments from Raphaels Gallery either in painting, or 

Carving, which will give them a light elegant effectô.90 Shanahan only had eight 
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inch strips around the windows within which to work, but these designs could be 

easily adapted. This exchange between Shanahan and Hervey underscores 

Herveyôs insistence on having every design decision passed by him, even when he 

was abroad. A letter sent from Shanahan on 30 December 1785 to Hervey in 

Rome, bears the annotation in Herveyôs hand óanswered Feb 26ô, giving an 

impression of the delays this micro-management involved.91 

 

Shanahan was following fashion, not dictating it; Raphaelôs Vatican loggi had 

strongly influenced interior design in Britain, especially through the Adam 

brothers. Father Thorpe, writing to his patron Lord Arundel, commented that 

óSince the Vatican Pilasters have been printed & coloured, their ornaments are 

now put upon every thingô.92 Horace Walpole described the interior of the 

Pantheon, which launched James Wyattôs career in 1771: óThe ceilings even of 

the ballroom and the panels painted like Raphaelôs Loggias in The Vaticanô.93 

Küttner in 1785 observed that Irish houses followed the trend: 

 

Almost everywhere in the houses I find stucco work which is either old 

and in the Italian taste, or new in the best style of the antique ... Many 

houses are decorated in the taste to the so-called Loggia of Raphael in the 

Vatican, certainly a highly agreeable and tasteful style which for the last 

ten years and especially in the great houses has become the fashion.94  

 

Shanahanôs idea of using the fashionable and flexible decorations from óRaphaelôs 

Galleryô was already well established in Irish houses, yet it is interesting that he 

chose to explain his idea by referencing Raphael himself and not through an 

interpretation from a pattern book. 

 

At Castletown, Lady Louisa Conolly also used Grand Tour folios for inspiration 

for her gallery, drawing on a similar visual repertoire to the Earl Bishop and 
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Shanahan. 95 She was inspired by work underway in the library of her brotherôs 

seat, Goodwood House in Sussex, which was óto my taste is one of the prettiest 

rooms I ever sawô.96 In 1775 she secured the same artist, Charles Reuben Riley. 

Just as Hervey liked to be involved in his projects, Lady Louisa Conolly, her sister 

Lady Sarah Bunbury and Riley collaborated on the Castletown gallery. The 

largest single feature was a copy of Guido Reniôs Aurora in her chariot placed 

over the door. Hervey had a huge copy painted by William Pars in Rome (Soane 

expected it to measure 23 feet by 9 feet 6 inches97) as the focus of his gallery 

ceiling.98 The gallery at Castletown had been intended by William Conolly as a 

picture gallery; however, Louisa Conolly sought a more modern look and use, 

describing the success of the room for varied activities including eating, cards, 

reading, dancing, concerts and more. The Castletown long gallery was light and 

elegantly painted rather than hung with paintings, had eight busts by Vierpyl on 

brackets, a life-size statue of Diana brought back by Thomas Conolly from his 

Grand Tour, and huge windows framing landscape features, designed, according 

to Finola OôKane, to mirror the decorative programme of the cult of Apollo, god 

of arts and the Muses.99 Some patrons expected the architect to determine the 

interior decoration; others stamped their own tastes and interests on key rooms. 

 

 

2.4.2 Sources of inspiration: the Villa Negroni frescoes 

 

Hervey attempted to import not just the neoclassical approach to his house but 

actual Roman interiors. While the chaste marble temple had inspired interior 

decoration for a century, contemporary architects and patrons were beginning to 

translate the strong colors and lively images, seen in the new excavations at 
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Pompeii and Herculaneum and transposed into deluxe folios, as decorative effects. 

Hervey arrived in Rome on his third Grand Tour in November 1777 shortly after 

the Villa Negroni was discovered. His enthusiasm is evident in this letter to his 

daughter Mary Erne after his purchase from Henry Tresham for £300: 

 

I have been singularly fortunate ï several ancient rooms have been 

unearthed since my arrival ï the ptgs were in fresco & almost as perfect as 

at first ï the secret was soon found of detaching the ptd stucco from the 

walls, & I have bought three complete rooms with wch I propose to adorne 

the Downhill et le rendre un morceau unique.100 

 

It seems that he did not keep the rooms ócompleteô because the Diario Ordinario 

indicates that only the figurative paintings were cut out and kept, including a 

Venus and a faun.101 This selection of individual masterpieces at the expense of 

the integrity of the whole was typical of current practice. Herveyôs intention to 

display actual ancient fresco at Downhill was highly unusual, apparently unique. 

Ultimately the scheme was not carried out, but the intention underscores Hervey 

as untypical and deeply interested in the authentic and archaeological aspect of 

neoclassicism. 

 

Thomas Jones recorded the excavation of this rare Roman domestic interior in his 

painting An excavation of an antique building in a cava in the villa Negroni, 

Rome (1779) [fig 2.12]. He recorded in his Journal: óThe painted Ornaments much 

in the Chinese taste ï figures of Cupids bathing &c and painted in fresco on the 

Stucco of the Walls ï The Reds, purples, Blues & Yellows very bright ï but had a 

dark & heavy effectô.102 It was difficult for contemporaries to interpret the 

historical context of these images and to determine the treatment of the original. 

In discussing how Pompeii, Herculaneum and the Villa Negroni were 

incorporated into British interiors, Viccy Coltman does not explore why the 

original might be purchased but focuses on how and why ancient images were 
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copied. She does note that Thomas Jenkins recognised the Villa Negroni frescoes 

as a unique opportunity to acquire originals, and offered them, unsuccessfully, to 

the great collector of ancient statuary Sir Charles Townley: ówould you wish to 

have the whole Room or is it a single picture only you desire. I have preserved 

one half of the end of the Room intire, which is in my opinion an interesting 

objectô.103 For an agent like Tresham or for a collector like Bishop Hervey, this 

site was an opportunity for profit and plunder. Others viewed it differently. The 

young Philip Yorke wrote to his uncle regretting that this rare example of an 

ancient house was literally disappearing before his eyes (the bricks were being 

used for the Sacristy of St Peterôs).104 The contrasting experiences of the sites of 

Pompeii and Herculaneum (with strict royal control over excavation, viewing and 

publishing) and the Villa Negroni (cut up, purchased privately and materials 

recycled) represent contemporary uncertainty as to how to view and treat ancient 

sites. 

 

Copies were very acceptable to the eighteenth-century collector and the Earl 

Bishop owned both the original and the copy. He must have supported the 

engraving project of the Villa Negroni frescoes, because the last four engravings 

were dedicated to him [fig. 2.13a and b].105 This ambitious cycle was unusual in 

its intention of recording the whole decorative scheme undisturbed, instead of 

presenting dislocated images as in the Herculaneum and Pompeii publications. In 

his Manifesto (1778), Camillo Buti claimed: 

 

the idea which can be had of the ornaments of the ancients is so rare, or at 

least ornaments in this style, while the works so far published are either 

copied from detached pieces and therefore do not give an idea of the 

whole, or are restored and the additions confused with the true antique, or 

are copied with such thoughtlessness that they are not delicate enough: 

Wherefore our rooms are drawn (before being removed from the walls) 

with the most scrupulous exactness and with the same colours, in order 
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that it can be seen what was the effect that the parts made with the whole, 

and finally so that one can form an idea of the taste of the ancients in this 

type of mixed ornamental and figurative painting.106 

 

Despite being the work of Anton Raphael Mengs (and after his death Anton von 

Maron), the Villa Negroni engravings had little impact on taste because only a 

small number were produced and the project stretched from 1778 to 1802. The 

Villa Negroni engravings belonged to an intellectual circle which included the 

artist Mengs, art historian Winckelmann, the Spanish minister Azara, and 

publisher Buti, all interested in the concept of authenticity, accuracy and artistic 

quality. Hervey was beginning to move in these international circles, beginning to 

fashion himself into a patron and connoisseur. Archaeology became the bridge 

between his waning interest in geology and his new passion for art. 

 

It was the idea of the antique rather than the authentic that actually caught on in 

interior design. The Pompeian/Etruscan/Ancient rooms appearing in British 

country houses between 1760 and 1790, led by architect-designers such as James 

óAthenianô Stuart, Robert Adam and James Wyatt, were imaginative and 

eclectic.107 These rooms were named almost without recourse to the actual origins 

and were derived from images already dislocated by excavation and reinterpreted 

into book form, such as the appropriation of images from Grand Tour folios by 

Louisa Conolly for the Long Gallery at Castletown.108  Herveyôs vision for 

Downhill would have been óun morceau uniqueô; no other patron seems to have 

attempted a genuine Roman interior, either using antique fresco or a fully 

authentic replication. Unfortunately the experiment was never carried out, 

presumably because the frescoes deteriorated too far.109 

 

The final effect that Hervey intended for his Villa Negroni frescoes is unclear; 

perhaps he did not know himself but jumped at the opportunity to acquire them. In 

her article on the frescoes, Hetty Joyce doubts that the frescoes ever left Italy, 
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quoting Brinsley Fordôs opinion that such an unusual feature would have been 

talked of and Rankinôs view that among all the papers there was no mention of 

fresco.110 These points carry weight; however, a damaged letter from Shanahan of 

1786 is the only example of his use of the word fresco, suggesting that he 

employed it deliberately for the ó6 Cases containing Frescoô. Despite the loss of 

the edge of the letter, the phrases ó7 Illuminated or Colourôd prints by Me...ô and 

ófrom your Lordshipôs Fresco, very ...ô appear to be linked.111 It is just possible 

that these were the Villa Negroni engravings, of which the seventh engraving was 

published in 1783. In 1788 Beaufort noted that Shanahan himself owned ósome 

painted colored plaster from the walls of Herculaneumô which could conceivably 

be the remains of the Villa Negroni purchase.112 If the Villa Negroni frescos did 

reach Ireland, they probably deteriorated too far to be displayed. This may 

account for the other rooms at the Villa Negroni not being sold and presumably 

perishing with the site.113  

 

John Soane travelled with Hervey shortly after Hervey bought the frescoes and 

later Soane purchased the first eight plates for £2 8s. at a Christieôs sale in 1796.114 

In 1802, Soane commissioned mirrors with blue panels (painted by John Crace) 

derived from the Villa Negroni engravings; Joyce considers this to be the only 

eighteenth-century attempt to use the designs as wall decoration.115  Soane 

displayed the engravings themselves on the walls of his breakfast parlour at 

Lincoln Inn Fields 1813.  
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2.4.3 Neoclassicism and Sir John Soane 

 

Collaboration between Hervey and the young architect John Soane during 

Herveyôs third Grand Tour from 1777 to 1779, led to plans for a dining room 

based on a Roman triclinium. Gillian Darley traces Herveyôs influence over 

Soane: 

 

The Bishop led Soane to imagine that he was a potential patron, and 

quickly swept him, astonished by such good fortune, into his train. He 

became an ebullient cicerone for Soane and, presenting him with 

Palladioôs Quattro Libri and a copy of Vitruvius, set the tone of a 

pedagogical relationship.116  

 

Soaneôs notebook, kept during his week-long trip to Naples with Hervey over 

Christmas 1778 and return journey to Rome in March 1779, took on a different 

voice under the stimulation of Herveyôs enthusiasms. Notes on agriculture and 

comparisons with Irish practices found their only expression here. A strong vein 

of interaction with the classical past runs though this section of the notebook. It 

was Herveyôs habit to quote from the classical literature he knew intimately, both 

though his days at Westminster School, where the boys studied classical literature 

and were expected to communicate in Latin, and through his later reading. In 

recommending books to his older brother-in-law, Hervey was clearly preparing 

himself for classical encounters a decade before he had the opportunity to go 

abroad, exploring parallel virtual worlds through ancient and modern maps: 

óWillôs Geography é is a summary account of all parts of the world both what 

was known to the Ancients and what has since been discoverôd by the moderns, 

and has this particular convenience, that it gives you the names of places usôd by 

bothô.117 Likewise, Montaigne could claim of his own education:  

 

I was familiar with the affairs of Rome long before those of my own 

house. I knew the Capitol and its position before I knew the Louvre, and 
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the Tiber before the Seine. I have meditated more on the conditions and 

fortunes of Lucullus, Metellus and Scipio than I have about many of our 

own men.118 

 

Viccy Coltmanôs proposal that English aristocrats on the Grand Tour found ótheir 

classical education was both fleshed out once on classic ground and imaginatively 

played out before their eyesô finds resonance with Frederick Hervey.119  

 

Soaneôs delight in sharing a Christmas meal of local sea bass, in what Hervey was 

convinced was the ruined Apollo triclinium of the Villa of Lucullus, famous 

general and gastronome, appeared fifty-five years later in Soaneôs Memoirs, with 

the remembered conversation, quotations and literary proofs of Herveyôs excited 

discovery.120 This experience took on a physical form in the plan for a semi-

circular triclinium as a dining room for Downhill, based on the ruins they had 

found [figs 2.14 and 2.15]. They were engaging in the process proposed by 

Coltman: ancient artefacts were óparsed, translated and imitatedô.121 Du Prey 

considers that such deference to archaeology and strong link between function and 

form single Soane and Hervey out as pioneers in neoclassicism.122 

 

Hervey let it be known among the architectural community in Rome that he 

sought plans for a dining room and circulated dimensions recommended by 

Palladio. Though this was a policy Hervey often adopted, it was unpopular among 

designers and architects, causing competition and misunderstandings over 

whether Hervey had actually committed to a commission. For instance, John 

Soane kept copies both of his dining room designs for Downhill and those of John 

Henderson (Scottish architect in Rome 1776-79) due to a dispute over plagiarism. 

Soane later used this oval of columns, coffer-barrelled ceiling and dominating 

statues when planning rooms intended to give a sense of ancient authenticity, for 

example that most distinctively Roman room, the bath-house, as seen in plans for 

Taverham Hall (1784) [fig. 2.16]. In her survey of surviving architectural plans 
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and inventories of Irish houses between 1730 and 1830, Patricia McCarthy 

comments on the strongly architectural nature of dining rooms, where columns, 

niches, bows and columnar screens added interest. Soaneôs dining room design for 

Downhill was never executed [fig. 2.17]. 

 

 

2.5 Wall papers, fabric, upholstery and chinoiserie 

 

Daniel Beaufortôs first impression of Downhill (1787) gives the best sense of what 

the finished interiors looked like. He was struck by the richness and gilding: óThe 

rooms are rather low, but magnificently fitted up with much rich decoration of 

painting & gilding, the furniture is of the same order, the chair frames gilt, the 

covers & curtains red & white damask with gold lace & fringeô.123 McCarthy has 

found that in Irish houses, red was the most frequent colour for drawing rooms 

and damask the favoured fabric; therefore Downhill fits within this spectrum.124 

The colour of the Downhill dining room is not known. Soaneôs design drawing 

was washed with a very pale apple green but this room was never built. In the 

1823 Downhill inventory, the curtains and upholstery of the gallery are given as 

green and white striped. The inventory lists the upstairs bedrooms by shape or 

colour: the oval room, the crimson room, the green duping room, the blue room, 

the green room, the alcove room, Sallyôs room, the buff room, the stair room, the 

end room and the bow room.125 The rooms upstairs at Westport House were 

described by similar colours in a valuation of 1845.126 Though there are a few 

receipts from drapers and haberdashers in Dublin and Derry, they offer no 

evidence of major fabric orders, which may have been sourced outside Ireland. 

Fabric and accoutrements for chintz curtains cost £8 10s. 7d. from the draper 
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Begley.127 These curtains were only a tenth of the cost of £85 6s. 3d. for ó3 parlour 

curtainsô ordered by the De Vesci family from Eggleso, Dublin, in 1808.128 Mrs 

Watson (whose identity is unknown) spent £15 11s. 4½d. in Dublin on knotted 

fringe in crimson and green and crimson silk tassels, possibly for curtains at 

Ballyscullion.129  

 

Interestingly, Hervey entrusted the supervision of certain decorative work 

underway at Ballyscullion to women: óI have at this moment upholsterers, gilders, 

carvers etc etc under the direction of two or three Gentlewomen, employôd in 

arranging allô.130 Judging by the Herveyôs correspondence, men were consulted on 

architectural and art themes whereas women were entrusted with furniture and 

furnishings. Wives often took on this role: the Duchess of Leinster, Louisa 

Conolly and their sister Sarah Bunbury exchanged detailed letters over interior 

design, furnishing schemes and decisions. Hervey, having left his wife, to whom 

he used to refer as his óExcellentô but now the óMagnificent Ruinô, at Ickworth 

from 1782, found other ógentlewomenô to oversee the decoration of Ballyscullion.  

Their number almost certainly included Mary Anne Burroughs (sister of 

Archdeacon Burroughs), who was living in the Herveyôs house, Bellaghy Castle, 

on the Ballyscullion estate in 1796. Hervey left domestic decisions to her: óAs to 

Dearest Indefatigable Mary Anne give my love to her and assure her how highly I 

approve all her proposals about Beds, Bolsters & Pillowsô.131 This hints at a larger 

correspondence of instructions that has not survived.  She received a pension of a 

hundred pounds in Herveyôs will.132 
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The interior and furnishing of Ballyscullion have been a mystery; the house only 

lasted twenty-five years. New sources presented here reveal a previously 

unsuspected chinoiserie interior of the richest fabrics, probably unique in Ireland. 

France had incorporated the oriental into the rococo from the early eighteenth 

century. Chinoiserie in Britain and Ireland, which had reached its apex in the 

1740s and 1750s, was becoming outmoded in the 1770s, just as it was enjoying a 

renewed vogue in Europe. Herveyôs interiors of the 1780s and 1790s at 

Ballyscullion were aligned with Continental rather than British fashion. Patricia 

McCarthy notes that colours in Irish houses in the late eighteenth century became 

lighter; in contrast Ballyscullion, with oriental fabrics and gilded furniture, 

paintings and marbles, was a riot of splendour.  

 

Gilbert Innes, a discerning visitor from Edinburgh, saw Ballyscullion in 1799 

while touring northern Antrim and Londonderry. He found the house ówhimsicalô 

and was critical of the architectural concept of the rotunda; however, he was very 

impressed by the exotic wall coverings which eclipsed the Grand Tour artworks 

on display. His description is given in full because it has not previously appeared 

in print: 

 

The Rooms are all out of proportion being the segment of a Circle on the 

one side, straight at the other, and narrowing to the ends[,] they are most 

superbly fitted up and remarkable for the shew of fine painting and cut 

Marble from Italy, some of them are covered with satin embroidered in 

imitation of Indian paper others with painted silk, and one with Chinois 

paper representing views and manufactures of that Country. The Beds and 

furniture far surpasses any thing of the sort I have seen[,] they are rich far 

beyond any idea I could have form'd and hath me in mind of some story I 

read in the Arabian nights - tho the House has been finish'd several years 

the Bishop has not yet seen it.133 

 

 

The published travel account of the Revd Samuel Burdy (1802) has not appeared 

as a source in connection to Ballyscullion before. Burdyôs account corroborates 

Innesô findings:  
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The chairs were covered with embroidered satin, with which also many of 

the rooms were lined, especially those of the first story ... His Lordshipôs 

bedchamber was lined with China paper, representing the different 

customs of that country; in other rooms were prints and pictures 

representing the manners of other countries, so that one might imagine 

himself conveyed to the different nations of the world.134 

 

Embroidered satin chair upholstery appears in photographs taken at Downhill in 

about 1900, some emblazoned with mitres [fig. 2.18]. Another visitor of 1802, 

Robert Slade, described Ballyscullion as óinhabited and partly finished, and 

ornamented in a style of eastern magnificenceô.135 These descriptions reveal 

unexpected decoration at Ballyscullion. No other Irish house is known to have had 

an interior as lavishly oriental. Presumably the chinoiserie rooms were chiefly 

bedrooms and dressing rooms though the sources do not definitively rule out 

rooms of the piano nobile.136 William Blacker, who did not note any chinoiserie 

specifically, did comment that óThe reception rooms on the ground floor were 

segments of circles superbly fitted up as to paper and silk hangings, the walls 

covered with picturesô.137 

 

Although the craze for chinoiserie had faded in Britain and Ireland by 1770, it had 

not disappeared. Chippendale supplied all elements from paper to furniture for the 

chinoiserie bedroom suite at Nostell Priory in 1770. A gift of Indian chintz given 

to David Garrickôs wife in 1771 inspired a Chinese drawing room.138 

Contemporaneously with Hervey, the Prince of Wales also ignored British fashion 

trends by creating a Chinese drawing room at Carlton House [fig. 2.19a and b].139 

The duke of Bedford was the only other British patron also building in the 

Chinese style, with a Chinese temple seating thirty diners on a lake-island at 
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Woburn and an elegant Chinese Dairy erected in 1787.140 John Dinkel describes 

the Chinese Dairy as a óquiet reimportationô of Chinese taste from the 

Continent.141 

 

In a rare comment on the ongoing decorating at Ballyscullion, Hervey boasted 

that though he had once spent Ã3,000 on pictures in one day, ómy Richest 

furniture is in Persiennes and China taffetas & Papers; than all which nothing can 

be more exquisitely Beautyfullô, suggesting that his expenditure on these showy 

wall coverings must have been prodigious.142 There is no clue of how he sourced 

these fabric hangings, though they were widely available in London and Paris. At 

Caledon, James Alexander probably availed of his Indian residency to import the 

apple green paper with white bamboo and bright birds (now hanging in the 

boudoir), as Lord Clive did for Powis Castle.143 Hervey was acquainted with Lord 

Macartney, who had been Governor of Madras 1781-5, headed the first British 

Mission to China (1792-4) and had estates in Antrim. Hervey followed 

Macartneyôs embassy to China through books, recommending óAndersonôs 

Narrative of Ld Macarthyôs Chimney-sweepers Embassyô which óhas greatly 

amused me & must you: it is as poignant as the other is Vapidô.144  

 

The Earl Bishopôs own travels continually informed his taste. Chinoiserie 

flourished in France, Germany, Sweden, Russia and Italy. At Sans Souci, 

Frederick the Great had entertained Voltaire in chinoiserie rooms to their mutual 

taste and built a Chinese tea house 1754-7. Hervey spent a delightful month at 

Sans Souci, óthis Philosophic Mansionô, in 1796 as the guest of Frederick William 
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II of Prussia.145 He was intimate with Ferdinand, king of the Two Sicilies and 

particularly Queen Maria Carolina, who enlivened their forced retreat to Palermo 

by building and decorating the Palazzina Cinese. The façade, by the neoclassical 

architect Giuseppe Patricola, employed a portico of columns with pagoda roofs 

and balconies, which it is proposed in this chapter, are possibly reminiscent of 

Roman frescoes [fig. 2.20]. Inside, chinoiserie rooms, again with fragile 

architecture, coexisted with Pompeian-style conceits inspired by the excavations 

near their palace at Naples. 

 

Hervey planned to build a pagoda at Ballyscullion just as British landscapers were 

turning away from the garden of incident; however in France, growing interest in 

the jardin anglo-chinois was fuelled by Chambersôs A dissertation on oriental 

gardening (London, 1772) and engravings of the Great Pagoda at Kew from 

Plans, elevations, sections ... of the gardens and buildings at Kew in Surrey 

(London, 1763). The Earl Bishop took his lead from France, requesting a model of 

the Chanteloup pagoda (1775) from the duc de Penthièvre.146 This pagoda was 

itself an oddity because it was so classicised: seven domed storeys built in stone, 

supported by columns [fig. 2.21].  

 

That a man attuned to the neoclassical idiom would be drawn to a fanciful style, 

leads to the proposal in this chapter, that the strangeness of the Roman domestic 

interiors, seen inside the Villa Negroni and Pompeii, directed Hervey to engage 

with the foreign. It is possible that, as he sought to interpret Roman frescoes, he 

was inspired to transpose chinoiserie from its rococo home, to incorporate it into a 

neoclassical scheme. Discussing neoclassicism, Viccy Coltman notes that 

references to the exotic arts of China, India, and Arabia enabled European visitors 

to accommodate the ancient architectural paintings from Herculaneum, and 

Pompeii within an aesthetic that was familiar to them but that at the same time 

was stereotypically foreign.147 In her study of chinoiserie, Dawn Jacobson also 

hints at this theme without developing it: óHere [Portici], within shouting distance 
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of the greatest excavations of classical remains at Pompeii and Herculaneum ï 

which had then been recently revealed ï the King and Queen of Naples created a 

porcelain room at their royal palaceô.148 Thomas Jones, William Chambers and 

Horace Walpole drew parallels with oriental decoration.149 Lady Miller assumed 

that the Romans had contact with China: 

 

In the architecture there is a strange mixture of the Gothic and Chinese 

taste; and some views in particular of country-houses or villas, situated on 

the margin of the sea (probably Baja) [Baiae] where there appears Chinese 

ornaments, such as pales, bridges, temples etc. represented as belonging to 

the gardens. That these people should have any knowledge of the Chinese 

and their gardens, ornaments etc. is surprising. I observed one 

representation of a Chinese temple built on piles over a piece of water, and 

open on all sides.150 

 

Whether structures like the Palazzina Cinese and the Chanteloup Pagoda, or 

hybrid designs like Sèvres neoclassical vases with chinoiserie motifs and 

Chippendaleôs chinoiserie chairs with straight neoclassical legs, represent this 

proposed interface between chinoiserie and neoclassicism, is beyond the scope of 

this thesis. Nevertheless, at Ballyscullion Hervey, perhaps inspired by Roman 

frescoes, may have seen an oriental background as appropriate for a neoclassical 

display.  

 

 

2.6 Chimneypieces 

 

The theme of hierarchy that runs through Herveyôs interiors can best be explored 

through the chimneypieces of Downhill which reflect the status of rooms: Italian 

marble for the grandest rooms and English marble for the main bedrooms. 

Shanahan slowly managed to upset this order by placing his own Cork 

chimneypieces in the new gallery of Downhill. Hervey took great pains over the 

choice of art and statuary, upon which he relied for the chief visual expression of 

his taste and style. It is proposed that he viewed his chief chimneypieces as 
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artworks not fixtures. Hervey chose them, commissioned them, shipped them and 

admired them as he did pictures and statues.  

 

Herveyôs choices of chimneypieces place him within known circles of buyers, 

mainly elite British collectors. Herveyôs chimneypieces from Lorenzo Cardelli 

and Carlo Albacini in Rome were related or identical to others exported to Britain; 

evidence of a chimneypiece industry aimed at British collectors [figs 2.22-

2.24].151 These same studios also worked on sculpture and restoration so that their 

chimneypieces were informed by developments in art and archaeology. Albacini 

sold sculptural chimneypieces to Thomas Mansel Talbot (1773), Lord Shelburne 

(1775), Patrick Home (1776) and the Earl Bishop (c.1778). He was also a restorer 

for Henry Blundell, James Smith Barry, John Brown, Thomas Hope, Thomas 

Jenkins and Gavin Hamilton, and in 1777 had thirty-four marbles awaiting 

shipment to Charles Townley. Lorenzo Cardelli had an international clientele 

including Prince Borghese and the King of Poland as well as British Grand 

Tourists like Lord Arundell, Thomas Mansel Talbot (1771) and the Earl Bishop 

(1778 and 1789). The 1804 list of his collection in Rome, presumably intended for 

Ickworth, included fourteen chimneypieces, some by named sculptors: Focardi, 

Blasi, Rinaldini and Cardelli.152  

 

Letters from agents reporting on developments in chimneypiece design indicate 

that Hervey was buying highly fashionable and desirable neoclassical pieces. 

Father Thorpe recommended to his patron Lord Arundell that óA Sig.re Cardelli 

cuts ornaments in marble as fine as the ancients didô.153 Lord Arundell must have 

followed Thorpeôs advice, for Neale later listed a Cardelli chimneypiece in the 

óChintz bedroomô at Wardour Castle.154 In 1795 Tatham described the styles of 
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new Roman chimneypieces to his patron Lord Holland including one costing £350 

for Prince Augustus: óThe mosaic is inimitable, And comes so near to painting it 

is litterally a deception. The ornaments have the recommendation of being copied 

minutely from the antiqueô.155 One of Cardelliôs chimneypieces for the Earl 

Bishop (they had documented dealings in 1778 and 1789) combined the ancient 

art-forms of rosso antico medallions and micro-mosaic panels, so Hervey was up-

to-date with Roman taste as admired by Tatham, Lord Holland and Father Thorpe 

[fig. 2.22].156 He was, however, out of step with less cosmopolitan viewers. 

Possibly it was this piece with rosso antico oval frieze medallions depicting 

Apollo and Daphne, the eagle borne ascent of Ganymede and the goddess Hebe 

that offended the sensibilities of Thomas Conolly of Castletown in 1786: óHe has 

filled this house with bad pictures and statues at an amazing expense from Italy, 

and from the frequent appearance of Ganymede I should suppose his Lordship 

fonder of boys than of girlsô.157 

 

It was more typical for patrons to rely on the architect to arrange the 

chimneypieces as part of the interior decoration. Wyatt had chimneypieces carved 

by Westmacott of London, with the same decorative scheme as the destined room. 

Sometimes designs by English architects were sent to be made up in Italy because 

of the increased éclat of displaying an Italian piece. Lord Charlemont bypassed 

Chambers in commissioning a chimneypiece with a lapis lazuli tablet and a 

bronze ramôs head from Francis Harwood in Florence.158 OôConnor argues that 

Charlemont was unique in Ireland and that not until 1795 ówe find his arch-rival 

and enemy, the Earl Bishop, looking for chimneypieces to be sent from Romeô. 

This is not correct; Hervey was shipping chimneypieces from Rome to Downhill 

from the end of the 1770s. The Earl Bishop may represent another variant of 

patronage, possibly misread by Damie Stillman. Stillmanôs implication, in quoting 

Herveyôs letter of 1789, is that he left the actual choice to family members (here 
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his daughter Mary Erne) and to the master practitioner (here Cardelli): óI want 

some beautyful chimney pieces pray tell Cardelli soô.159 However, when viewing 

this chimneypiece request within the wider picture of the Earl Bishopôs patronage, 

it becomes apparent that this was a method he often used: Hervey would put out 

word of what he wanted and wait to see what wonders would appear.160 He was 

never wholly dependent on any one agent and retained the freedom to choose, or 

to abandon designs and even finished pieces as it pleased him.  

 

Hervey seems to have differed from the majority of patrons in viewing his 

chimneypieces as statuary rather than decorative fixtures intrinsic to the room. In 

support of this proposal, Hervey listed chimneypieces among his artworks when 

he visualised his confiscated and vulnerable treasure: óall that immense & 

valuable & beautiful property of large mosaick pavements, sumptuous chimney 

pieces for my new house, & pictures, statues, busts & marbles without endô.161 

Italian chimneypieces ranked alongside sculpture in terms of price: Tathamôs 

letters of 1795 mentioned examples ranging from £75 to £350 and shipping and 

customs costs must be added. Thomas Mansel Talbot paid £200 in 1771 for his 

chimneypiece by Cardelli with micro-mosaic panels by Aguatti (similar to the 

Downhill example) for the drawing room at Penrice Castle, Glamorgan.162 He also 

patronised two of the same sculptors as Hervey: Cardelli (1771) and Albacini 

(1773). Collectors like Hervey and Talbot were not content with contracting one 

studio to produce all the chimneypieces for their houses but selected individual 

pieces from different masters.163  

 

Further supporting the proposal of chimneypiece as artwork, is the Albacini piece 

with free-standing statuary groups of lovers which blurs the line between 

chimneypiece and statue altogether [fig. 2.24]. Sculpture was the strongest 
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element in contemporary fascination with the classical world. Albaciniôs studio 

also sold new, restored and ancient statuary, so that chimneypiece design was 

informed by developments in art and archaeology.164  Albacini restored the 

spectacular Farnese collection; Hervey commissioned a cast of the Farnese 

Hercules from him in 1786.165 The two pairs of lovers by Albacini in Herveyôs 

chimneypiece were Roman copies of late Hellenistic sculptures: Cupid and 

Psyche was discovered in 1749 and exhibited in the Capitoline Museum; and 

Bacchus and Ariadne was displayed by James Smith Barry at Marbury Hall in 

Cheshire from 1780.166  Impeccable credentials: these ancient groups had 

Hellenistic inspiration and formed part of much admired collections in the Italian 

museum and the British country house. Viccy Coltman comments on the 

manipulation of ancient images in Britain: 

 

This educated elite did not simply collect copies of antique sculptures and 

busts óas seenô in royal and elite collections on the grand tour in Italy. 

They had them translated into a variety of aesthetic media, tailor-made by 

being enlarged to fit existing architectural and domestic spaces and 

juxtaposed in unusual pairs and different groupings. These novel 

reconfigurations ensured that the cachet of the copy complied with an elite 

British agenda of social emulation, aristocratic competition, and ... self-

representation.167 

 

Like Lord Charlemont who had the Farnese Mercury copied in all forms (print, 

plaster and bronze), the Earl Bishop displayed Cupid and Psyche in different 

media in the same room, as a statuary group in the chimneypiece and as a painting 

by Cipriani. Herveyôs Albacini chimneypiece with the free-standing groups of 

lovers was not unique: not only did he own two examples, but the fourth earl of 

Darnley (a generation younger than the Earl Bishop) bought one for Cobham Hall, 

Kent,168 and the duke of Gloucester lost a similar chimneypiece when H.M.S. 

Westmorland was captured in 1778 and her contents secretly bought by Charles 
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III of Spain.169 Also, the attraction of this chimneypiece was not exclusive to the 

British Grand Tourist; Albacini was paid in 1813 for an identical composition for 

the Quirinale.170  

 

Exactly where Hervey placed his two identical Albacini chimneypieces is a 

puzzle. Until now they have been associated only with his English houses: the 

library at Ickworth and the drawing room of 6, St Jamesôs Square. However, 

visitor comments at Downhill indicate a new solution: that one or both were 

intended for and installed in his Irish houses.171  Therefore, unlike later 

appearances, Hervey did not save his choicest items to impress in sophisticated 

London and in Suffolk, but lavished marvels on his houses in county 

Londonderry. Italian chimneypieces were choice items and the Albacini 

chimneypieces had the desired effect: only these elicited specific descriptions 

from visitors over a forty year period, from Daniel Beaufort (1787), his daughter 

Louisa (1807) and Neale (1823).172 

 

Looking at Downhill, a hierarchy of chimneypieces emerges. Due to the 1851 fire, 

subsequent auction and Lanyonôs rebuilding, chimneypieces shown in 

photographs are not necessarily in their original position.173 However, conclusions 

can be drawn with some certainty using Shanahanôs letters and visitor accounts. 
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The most important rooms received Italian chimneypieces, chosen abroad by the 

Earl Bishop himself. These marked him out as a man of taste and wealth and, as 

intended, they were admired by visitors. Beaufort commented that óthe chimney 

pieces are mostly Italian & extremely fineô.174 Louisa Beaufort recorded ófour 

mosaic chimney pieces one of them beautiful ... several very beautiful white 

chimney pieces one in particular in Libraryô.175 

 

The presence of a óRomanô chimneypiece in Lady Bristolôs dressing room, 

adjoining her bedroom upstairs, indicates that this room was semi-public. Robert 

Adam championed fine and feminine decoration for womenôs dressing rooms, 

emphasising their role for entertaining other women. Downhill was not as grand 

as Wardour Castle, where a Cardelli chimneypiece was recorded by Neale in the 

óchintz bedroomô.176 In Downhill, bedrooms were more private spaces, requiring 

less expensive fixtures, indicated by the choice of English chimneypieces rather 

than Italian. Shanahan made clear his disgust with English workmanship and saw 

an opportunity for himself:  

 

In your Lordshipôs bed Chamber the mantle of the Chimney piece is bent 

down in the middle, and endangers the falling of the frieze & Tablet ï this 

is one of your English Chimney pieces, the Cause of this is that the mantle 

was never lined with anything to strengthen the marble ï and that in Lady 

Erne is much in the same state, for the above reason, I took the dimensions 

of them to get new ones made.177 

 

Slowly Shanahan managed to infiltrate his own Cork made chimneypieces into 

the bedrooms [fig. 2.25].178 

 

Hervey championed Irish clergy in his diocese and Irish architects for his houses, 

but for highly skilled decorative art and fine art he imported. Perhaps Shanahan 

had proven that Cork chimneypieces were good value and presentable or perhaps 
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the Earl Bishop was losing interest in Downhill once the new project of 

Ballyscullion began in 1787; regardless, in 1787 Shanahan sent a shipment from 

Cork of eight chimneypieces. Shanahan had overturned the chimneypiece 

hierarchy at Downhill: he installed óOne statuary Chimney piece with carved 

terms, tablet & veined hearthô in the new gallery at Downhill with a matching one 

to follow which had a tablet of the Bristol arms in the centre and a coronet and 

mitre at the sides.179 This was a significant new room for display; Shanahanôs 

chimneypieces had to hold their own with ancient statuary, busts and a cast of the 

Apollo Belvedere.  

 

Beaufort was astonished to witness an extraordinary chimneypiece under 

construction for the Earl Bishop when he visited Michael Shanahan in Cork in 

1788. He described the sketch he had made in his journal [fig. 2.26]:  

 

with the large figures labelled a, b, Liberty & Loyalty, supporting an Oval 

which contains a groupe ï in relief ï Minerva unfolding (or rather drawing 

the Curtains off from) arts & sciences, w. Lord B. bust, and shewing them 

to Hibernia, whom Britain strives to keep back, - both these represented by 

boys - with the proper insignia.180  

 

This heavy-handed political message and identification of himself with the arts 

and sciences, could only have originated in the mind of the Earl Bishop. Stephen 

OôConnor points to Hibernia as an important iconographical figure for the 

Volunteers, the bringer of peace and prosperity or the embodiment of an 

increasingly confident polity.181 Lord Charlemont was associated with similar 

iconography (though less eccentric) as depicted in a medal by Mossop of 1786. 

One side showed Lord Charlemont in Volunteer uniform wearing the star of the 

Order of St Patrick. The reverse depicted Hibernia seated on a pile of books, 

helmeted and holding a shield with a harp and Irish crown and the rod and cap of 
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Liberty. In front was a round tower and behind emblems of astronomy, chemistry 

and literature.182 The motto on the medal, veteras revocavit artes, recalls the 

message of Herveyôs chimneypiece.183 

 

 

2.7 Moveable goods 

 

Architecture and fixed internal features, such as chimney-pieces, might survive as 

physical evidence and were topics on which the Earl Bishop and Shanahan 

corresponded. Artworks were valuable and were listed by impressed visitors. Yet 

goods like furniture, silver and household items have been dispersed with little 

trace, rendering the examination of moveable goods within Herveyôs houses as the 

most problematic area of his display. Occasional receipts, auction records for 

valuable items and rare comments in letters can be assessed and placed in the 

context of other houses. An otherwise invaluable inventory of 1823 has been used 

with caution because it survives only as a copy.184 These goods were essential to 

the impact of Herveyôs display in his public rooms and vital to the running of the 

house in domestic areas. From the evidence surviving, questions will be asked 

about sourcing items, about gift-giving and the role of women in his houses. An 

assessment of how his patterns of consumption compared with the wider Hervey 

family is possible through viewing the good he inherited in England. 

 

 

2.7.1 Furniture  

 

Hervey probably sourced his furniture widely but evidence is scarce. Only two 

receipts for furniture for Downhill survive, both from Edward Dougherty, a 
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cabinet-maker in Derry.185 Presumably basic furniture was sourced locally for 

convenience and cost. He supplied twelve mahogany chairs, billed in March 1785, 

possibly augmenting the entertaining potential for extra guests. Guest bedrooms 

and barracks are suggested when Dougherty supplied fifteen mahogany basin 

stands each costing 25s. and fifteen mahogany dressing tables each at 15s. in 

1787.186 These guests, mainly bachelors, enjoyed gentlemanly comfort but not 

luxury, judging by the prices of their mahogany bedroom furniture. Entertaining 

was central to the function of Downhill; as proposed in chapter 1, Hervey used 

Downhill as his base for political entertaining during his Volunteer phase and for 

diocesan activity.187 Thus Downhill maintained the tradition of country house 

hospitality which Dana Arnold notes was in decline during the eighteenth century, 

as owners spent more time in the city for the season or in the spa towns.188 

Ballyscullion fits Arnoldôs model more closely: Hervey was rarely in residence 

and there was less scope for accommodation in the rotunda. Interestingly, when 

William Blacker was visiting the Earl Bishopôs houses on a tour in 1796, he and 

his party did not sleep at Ballyscullion: 

 

we took up our abode at the old castellated mansion adjoining the village 

then inhabited by Mrs Burrowes, a particular friend of the Bishop and who 

exercised a kind of agency over his affairs in that quarter. She was a very 

agreeable woman and sung sweetly.189 

 

Mary Anne Burroughs seems to have acted as a housekeeper at Ballyscullion and 

was provided with a house, Bellaghy Castle. Samuel Burdy in 1802 stayed at an 

inn near Ballyscullion.  

 

Comparing furniture prices between the Downhill bills from Edward Dougherty 

of Derry, with the prices paid by James Alexander (later first Earl of Caledon and 
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elder brother of Herveyôs Derry banker Robert Alexander of Boom Hall) to his 

Dublin furniture makers Kirchoffer, indicates that Derry prices were close to 

Dublin for mahogany furniture. Hervey spent £17 16s. 0d. on twelve mahogany 

chairs in 1787 in Derry; James Alexander paid Kirchoffer in Dublin £26 10s. 0d. 

for ó20 best Mahogany Parlour Chairsô in 1783. Hervey paid Dougherty £7 for a 

mahogany bureau; Alexander spent £6 5s. on a óMahogany Library tableô and 

Lord Aldborough spent £7 19s. 3d. in Dublin on óan inlaid Cabinetô for Lady 

Aldborough in 1792.190 

 

Though no bills for high end furniture exist for Downhill, comparisons between 

the furniture bills of Hervey and James Alexander, suggest that Hervey might 

have bought serviceable furniture from his local Irish supplier. Alexander bought 

his basic furniture from Kirchoffer of Dublin but went to Mayhew and Ince of 

London for his grander furniture for the newly built Caledon, county Tyrone, in 

the 1780s and 1790s. The most expensive items supplied by Mayhew and Ince 

were three large mirrors in carved frames costing £336 10s. 0d.191 However, cost 

was watched carefully and Alexander compared quotations. Twice Kirchoffer was 

chosen and the item struck off the Mayhew and Ince list, for example Mayhew 

and Ince quoted £25 for a leather-topped library table against Kirchofferôs Ã6 5s. 

0d. 192 London dictated style and quality in the late eighteenth century. Irish 

manufacturers emphasised their London training or described their wares as equal 

to those manufactured in London; for example Dublinôs leading cabinet maker, 

William Moore, advertised his training under Mayhew and Ince of London.193 

Lower down the social scale, the Belfast merchant Daniel Mussenden used his 

commercial contacts to import English furniture from Lancashire via Liverpool 

for himself and his customers, though the majority of his furniture came from 

Dublin.194 
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There were periods when patriotism became identified with buying Irish 

manufactured goods, usually coinciding with times of economic downturn. 

Patriots were convinced that Free Trade and a stronger parliament in Dublin 

would stimulate Irish manufacture and export. Feelings ran high: Henry Grattan 

was lambasted by the Freemanôs Journal in 1782 for ordering a new coach from 

England.195 Powell argues that at the height of Irish patriotism in the late 1770s to 

early 1780s, a new sense of equality with England showed itself in ambitious 

building projects and luxury goods. He identified a crisis in Protestant identity 

ótorn between ambitious emulation and scornful revulsionô.196  

 

Viewing consumerism in the American colonies, Breen argues that colonists 

developed a common identity by participating in the same consumer revolution; 

this shared experience as consumers provided them with the cultural resources to 

develop a new form of political protest, boycott.197 In Ireland there were examples 

of feathering and tarring of drapers selling British cloth, of weavers attacking 

shops, of the fashionable wearing Irish cloth, of Volunteer iconography appearing 

on commemorative items, and of Irish motifs like shamrocks in William Mooreôs 

inlaid furniture.198  But buying patterns in Ireland never became so sharply 

polarised as in colonial America. Indeed, observing responses to increasingly 

diverse trade, Barnard concludes that óobedient to cross-channel and international 

fashions, they willed this greater integrationô.199 The political leadership of Ireland 

was a different body to the American colonists: self-assured, born to power, in 

breeding many were closer to their British relations than to their Irish tenantry, 

and when Union loomed, some of the most outspoken patriots (like Hervey) voted 

in favour.200 Though the duke of Leinster, Earl of Charlemont and the Earl Bishop 

were leading Volunteers and leaders in taste, they by no means bought only Irish 
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products; their complex buying patterns reflected their search for a new role 

within the British Empire but not a rejection of it. 

 

In architecture, plasterwork and chimneypiece selection, Hervey was fully 

involved; however in terms of furniture, there is not enough evidence to determine 

Herveyôs personal input. To ensure a more unified look, patrons often employed 

one furniture-making company or one architect for the majority of their furniture. 

Robert Adam supplied the Earl of Bective with a pair of marble-topped giltwood 

pier tables and pier glasses which harmonised with the oval medallions in the 

stucco scheme he had designed for Headfort House.201 James Wyatt, architect of 

Abbey Leix for Lord Knapton, produced a united scheme; in the dining room, 

plasterwork and Wyatt dining furniture and urns remain today.202  William 

Chambers designed much of the furniture for Charlemont House and the Marino 

Casino. The Earl of Ormonde spent £7,000 on furniture from London cabinet 

makers Kennett and Kidd 1794-5 who advertised in Dublin for Irish custom.203 

There is no evidence for where Hervey bought the majority of his furniture, 

although drafts drawn in London may mask furniture buying.204  

 

Herveyôs sensibilities lay in collecting and connoisseurship. Auction records 

indicate a hint of the elite furniture he commissioned. The workshop of Henry 

Clay, a Birmingham manufacturer who patented new techniques in japanning, was 

on the itinerary of visitors to Englandôs emerging industrial towns. Visiting 

Birmingham in 1791, Edward Daniel Clarke (traveller and collector) saw ótwo 

pier tablesô made from papier m©ch® ófor Lord Bristol, which were painted after 

some designs brought purposely from Rome. They were by far the most beautiful 

things of the kind I ever sawô.205 Hervey ordered six semi-circular tables with 
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ancient and modern scenes of Rome and Vesuvius [fig. 2.27].206 It has not 

previously been noted that Daniel Beaufort must have seen two of these tables 

when he admired ó2 Tables with Vesuvius on One, Colliseum & 2 Views of Tivoli 

on the Otherô at Downhill in 1807.207 Decoratively these tables were the height of 

neoclassical decorative fashion; the gilt frieze corresponded with a pattern by 

Tischbein which at this date (1791) had not yet been published in A Collection of 

Engravings from Ancient Vases Discovered in the Kingdom of the Two Sicilies 

between 1789-1790 (Naples, 1793-1803).208  Reporting to Henry Holland on 

developments in decoration, architect Charles Heathcote Tatham wrote of 

Tischbeinôs Etruscan schemes that óyou can scarce imagine how successful and 

new such ornaments appearô in 1796.209 It is possible that the Earl Bishop, who 

had been staying in Naples in 1790 before returning home, may have brought 

engravings or designs by Tischbein before publication to England, fuelling 

developments in British neoclassical decoration.210 Henry Clayôs workshop also 

supplied Robert Child with a Pembroke table for Adamôs Etruscan Dressing 

Room at Osterley Park and óseveral pieces of superb furniture which now adorn 

the royal residenceô.211 Innovative, fashionable and foreign furniture, some of it 

potentially in a chinoiserie style, was not to everyoneôs taste. The Reverend 

William Bisset, viewing Ballyscullion in 1799, detested the furniture: óNothing 

can be more gawdy and effeminate, nothing less suitable to a Bishop, or agreeable 

to a manly tasteô.212 At Downhill óthe Furniture in the same frippery style with that 

I had already seen at Ballyscullion though by no means equally rich and 

expensiveô.213  
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To place the Earl Bishopôs furniture within a broader Hervey context, Ickworth 

Lodge contained layers of furniture collected over generations, including perks of 

office like the pair of gilt Rococo pier-glasses carved with the Prince of Walesôs 

feathers probably given to the Earl Bishopôs father, John Lord Hervey who was 

Vice-Chamberlain of the Royal Household.214 Finishing Ickworth House in the 

late 1820s, his son Frederick bought pieces of French neoclassical furniture on his 

Grand Tour and then turned to the London supplier Banting, France and 

Company, paying £7,500 for furniture, carpets, papering and painting.215 As with 

his other decorative features, the eclecticism of the Earl Bishopôs collection at 

Downhill and Ballyscullion was unusual, not in its range but in being assembled 

by one man in a relatively short space of time. A family over generations might 

build up a very broad collection; an individual in a hurry usually relied on one 

supplier. 

 

2.7.2 Silver 

Attitudes towards the display of silver in the neoclassical dining room were 

changing from 1760, with art and statuary becoming more indicative of wealth 

and taste than an impressive display of silver or the novelty of silver plate. Early 

in this period of change, Adamôs design for Kedleston Hall 1762 provided niches 

for silver and illustrated where exact pieces of silver were to be placed.216 Twenty 

years later, Soaneôs unused design for a summer dining room at Downhill relied 

on architectural features such as columns and statue filled niches. The 1823 

Downhill inventory mentions two Egyptian side-tables, indicating that the Earl 

Bishop might have had an eclectic range of vehicles for display.  

 

There is little evidence for how the Earl Bishop deployed silver in his houses. His 

grandfather John, first Earl of Bristol, still mindful of Civil War upheaval and the 

importance of portable wealth, amassed and displayed an impressive horde of 

silver detailed in óExpenses of John Hervey 1688-1742ô. His silver was made in 

London, mainly by Kandler (over twenty pieces or sets), though the work of 
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almost forty other silver and goldsmiths appears in the Hervey collection.217 

Barnard has argued that the óslow development of banking in Ireland, together 

with recurrent bank failures before 1760, may have encouraged the wealthy in 

Ireland to prefer accumulations of silver longer than their counterparts in 

Englandô.218 Just as the first Earl of Bristol had earlier advertised his familyôs 

raised status in silver, so Barnard has shown that the Kildares ótrumpeted re-entry 

into Irish Protestant society with commissions for grandiose silver services, as 

well as by building spectacularly in County Kildare and Dublinô. The Kildare 

dinner service cost in excess of £4,000. Barnard has estimated that the ósideboard 

of plateô in the Dublin townhouse of an aristocratic Nugent was (at Ã60) worth 

about a third of his total effects.219 Alison FitzGerald has demonstrated that 

Herveyôs neighbour James Alexander, whose East India Company fortune was 

new money, used silver as a signifier of gentility and status. He spent £1,000 on 

tableware in London in 1772 on his return from India and indulged in further 

buying on his elevation to the peerage in 1790.220 The Earl Bishopôs eldest brother 

George, second Earl of Bristol, also relied on silver to impress, especially as 

ambassador in Turin and Madrid. In Turin, he had English pieces carefully copied 

to augment his hospitality and more pieces made in London (some presumably 

with government money) at each rise in his diplomatic career.  

 

The plate book of Frederick Hervey, first marquess of Bristol, is a meticulous 

record in his writing of the weights of the silverware he inherited from his father, 

the Earl Bishop, at Ickworth. 221 He checked his records against those of George, 

second earl, indicating that neither Augustus, third earl, nor the Earl Bishop made 

an inventory of silver. The Earl Bishopôs use of silver is uncertain but, as bishop 

                                                           
217

 Richard Hoar, David Willaume, Robert Ffowle, Philip Rollos, Walter Compton, Isaac Liger, 

Peter Harrache, Pierre Platel, Louis Mettayer, Louis Hamon, Abraham Chambers, Simon Pantin, 

Robert Cooper, Edward Waldergrave, James Seamers, Reter Rogers of Bury, Richard Gurney and 

Thomas Cook, Emick Romer, David Hennell, Paul Crespin, Edward Aldridge, Edward Féline, 

John Robinson, Paul de Lamerie, Frederick Kandler, Simon Le Sage, Christian Hillan, A. Peterson 

and P. Podie, Paul Storr, John Emes, John Crouch, J. Carddock and W. Reid, T.W. Matthews, 

Nicholas Hearnden, William Eley, William Fearn and John Bridge. Names taken from N. M. 

Penzer, óThe Hervey silver at Ickworthô in Apollo, lxv (Feb. 1957), pp 39-43 and (Apr. 1957), pp 

133-7. 
218

 Barnard, Grand figure, p. 140. 
219

 Barnard, Grand figure, p. 139. 
220

 Alison FitzGerald, óThe production and consumption of goldsmithsô work in eighteenth-century 

Dublinô (Ph.D. thesis, The Royal College of Art, London, 2005), p. 178. 
221

 List of plate, 4 May 1811 (Suffolk R.O., Hervey papers 941/75/1). 



 

and nobleman, a high level of hospitality was expected. He had at least eighty-

four silver dinner plates, engraved with the arms of the See of Derry impaling the 

arms of Bristol, made in London in 1776 by John Rowe and Andrew Fogelberg.222 

In 1784, during the flurry of buying and extending at Downhill, generated by his 

phase as a political host, this set was augmented by twelve more plates by 

Fogelberg and Stephen Gilbert. Other prelates impressed with plate: in 1781 the 

Archbishop of Dublin ordered a dinner service from Wakelin and Taylor in 

London for nearly £1,000, engraved with his arms and mitre; and Archbishop 

Agar of Cashel bought a second-hand silver service for entertaining at his St 

Stephenôs Green townhouse for Ã856.223  

 

As with furniture, Hervey used a local silversmith for necessities, dealing with 

John Franks of Ferry Quay Street, Derry.224 Five receipts survive between August 

1784 and September 1787 totalling £163 9s. 2d. including entries for repairs and 

engraving, two gold bracelets and a silver coffee service (he paid £14 12s. 0d. for 

the pot and £13 15s. 3d. for the jug).225 Tea, coffee and chocolate drinking was 

well entrenched by this period and evidently enjoyed at Downhill by family and 

dependents. Anne Shanahan reported on the amount of tea drunk during the Earl 

Bishopôs absence (a pound a week in the parlour) and assured him that it was 

weighed by the housekeeper in front of witnesses.226 Hervey himself deplored 

óThat poisonous beverage Tea ... The Whisky of the Womenô but equipped his 

houses with all the paraphernalia including a tea caddy painted with Mount 

Vesuvius in eruption by Henry Clay of Birmingham to match the japanned 

tables.227 
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2.8 Gift giving  

 

Gifts were an important element of sociability. Amanda Vickery describes gifts as 

óa significant currency in elite sociabilityô, part of a wider óexchange of 

compliments, gifts, dinners and teas with other elite families, [through which] the 

genteel reaffirmed their gentility and maintained a wide polite acquaintanceô.228 

Margot Finn argues that male participation in consumerism, including gift-giving, 

has been neglected due to overemphasis on women as the primary shoppers of the 

family. Herveyôs skills in elite buying and giving add some weight to her 

argument, although other commentators note that men were involved in expensive 

or luxury purchases.229 Her case study, based on the diaries (1758-1802) of 

Norfolk parson, James Woodforde, indicates the complexity of maintaining the 

relationship between patrons, clients, friends, neighbours and family. 

 

Hervey gave gifts to his family. He brought back two pairs of gold bracelets for 

his daughters from the Continent in 1779, leaving them to be set óto your own 

tasteô in Dublin.230 Silver and gold items lent themselves to gift giving, being 

valuable, small and decoratively versatile. His sons-in-law received Roman style 

gems, suitably masculine gifts since they were adorned with classical allusions 

and were presumably chosen to flatter: óthe Apollo I desire dear Mary will offer in 

my name to Lord Erne. The Plato I hope our philosopher John Thomas [Foster] 

will accept.231 

 

A present of a dress for Louisa was not so well received: óLouisa has sold the 

beautiful gown I gave her, because the shape was not fashionable, and I have 
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redeemôd it & paid her the priceô. This same letter indicates an increasing 

separation from his responsibilities:  

 

I am stoick enough to find adopted children, brothers, everything, & can 

smile with ineffable contempt at the injuries & revilements I incur: in this 

country [Ireland] I am more popular & more courted than ever: yet I do 

nothing but build houses, plant forests, decorate villas, &c.232  

 

The spirit of giving and receiving was as important as the gift. For Louisa, 

abandoned for years with her mother at Ickworth and separated from the 

opportunities she should have enjoyed, a dress was not enough to appease. For 

Hervey, an obvious reciprocal display of gratitude from his children was required; 

when he did not receive it, he looked for more loyal beneficiaries, such as his 

young Bruce cousin who would inherit all the Herveyôs un-entailed possessions. 

After her marriage to Charles Jenkinson (later Lord Liverpool and prime minister 

1812-27), Louisa received gifts of a picture and china from her father. Hervey was 

an experienced purchaser and was pleased with his choices, expecting admiration 

and gratitude and advising on display options: the picture was óa real bijou & just 

fit for her breakfast room ... but you say nothing of the Berlin déjeuné which I 

reckon a great cadeau, and when it stands on a tripod of Siberian Malachite will 

be impayableô.233  

 

Within a year of arriving in Derry, Bishop Hervey was granted freedom of the city 

and given a commemorative gold freedom box depicting the arms of See and City 

of Derry, a bridge of five arches and men hewing coal and sending it up in baskets 

[figs 2.28a and b].234 William Cole, the Cambridge antiquary, kept track of the 

activities of his friends through the newspapers. He recorded that Herveyôs 

improvements in Derry: 

 

rendred his Lordship the Idol of his Diocese, & had a wonderful Effect in 

conciliating the Affection of the Natives of that Kingdom, who are not apt 

to be over fond of the English Clergy, who are generally the Incumbents of 
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their best Preferments ... presented him with the Freedom of their City, in 

a golden Box: a Compliment never before paid to any of his Predecessors 

óbecause, as the Mayor observed, his Lordship had almost effected, what 

none of his Predecessors had before not so much as considered, the two 

most important Points in this Town, a Bridge & a Collieryô.235 

 

Herveyôs box has been viewed as a reward, but the Derry Corporation Minute 

Book reveals that the decision to make him a freeman, marked by óa gold Box 

Value £25 and that he be Entertained in the townhall with a glass of Wine the day 

the same is presented to himô, was taken only four months after he had been 

enthroned, suggesting that it was intended as an insurance rather than a reward.236 

The Corporation chose a top craftsman in Benjamin Stokes of Skinner Row, 

Dublin, Master of the Goldsmiths Company 1767-8 when Herveyôs box was 

commissioned.237 Ida Delamer considers that the honour ódegenerated into a quid 

pro quo bargainô during the eighteenth-century.238 In 1755 James, earl of Kildare, 

was anxious to accept the gift of a gold freedom box, from a delegation of the 

Corporation of Cutlers, Stationers and Painters, in the right spirit: óI am in distress 

how I am to receive them, for I shall be abused for taking state upon me, which I 

donôt choose to do; and if I donôt take the same it will affront themô. Alison 

FitzGerald teases out this web of reciprocity for this box: óThe dedication invokes 

Milton to express the Guildôs indebtedness. In reality, a mutual obligation existed 

between donor and recipient. Guild support was important to political candidates 

and objects like these were reminders of that factô.239  
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Portraits on gifts reflected ties of protection and obligation.240 In 1796, Hervey 

received a breakfast set of Dresden china decorated with medallions of the King 

Frederick William II of Prussia and the Queen in 1796. It was an honour to 

display this obvious mark of royal favour.241 Herveyôs chaplain, Trefusis Lovell, 

received a Dresden cup and saucer painted with the silhouette of his protector 

Bishop Hervey. This sign of esteem must have looked well in the archdeaconôs 

house at Derry; it was carefully kept by the family and later made its way to 

Ickworth as a gift from Lovellôs granddaughter to Geraldine, Marchioness of 

Bristol.242 These gifts also suggest another function, the presentation gift marking 

an honourable dismissal. John Hennig claims that the Earl Bishop and his 

chaplain spent the winter of 1796 at Berlin ówhere the King endured Bristolôs 

antics until he became tired of themô, hence the presentation of the china.243 

Herveyôs relationship with his chaplain Trefusis Lovell also reached breaking 

point around this time.244 

 

References in the Earl Bishopôs letters indicate that furniture was also exchanged 

as gifts. At Ballyscullion the room which most delighted the Earl Bishop was his 

Augusta room óto which the Dss of Brunswick has been so good as to contribute 

the chief furniture & which is in the attick & peculiarly my ownô. 245 A second 

example of a gift of furniture also involved a woman. In 1797 Hervey wrote from 

Pyrmont to Sir William Hamilton that he intended to winter in Naples: óI hope to 

bring a Beautyfull Cabinet to Beautyfull Emma almost as fair as her Skin, and as 

Elegant as her formô.246 Emma Hamilton was a close friend of the Earl Bishop; he 

had written an enthusiastic letter of congratulations to his oldest friend Sir 
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William when his second marriage, widely criticised, had taken place.247 The Earl 

Bishop also sent a set of furniture as a gift to Countess Lichtenau when they 

parted, the Countess hurrying back to the ailing King of Prussia. She had admired 

similar neoclassical chairs at the house of General Acton (prime minister at 

Naples) so much that she had kissed them.248 The set, with twelve chairs, two 

commodes and two tables perhaps suggests the type of gathering the Earl Bishop 

favoured; he was of the generation that enjoyed and admired conversation and 

expected the furniture to facilitate it.  

 

Margot Finnôs examples of men as gift givers suggests that gift exchange outside 

the family was usually between members of the same sex. Instances of Herveyôs 

gift giving, found in his papers, were not only to women but couched in flirtatious 

language. Doubtless these presents were only a sample of his actual gift exchange; 

however, this male to female giving adds an interesting and perhaps untypical 

dimension to eighteenth-century affective sociability. Clearly Herveyôs 

relationship with women caused contemporary disapproval. The Revd Bisset 

associated the style of Herveyôs furniture with the influence of unsuitable women 

(in this case presumably Emma Hamilton): óThe Whole Taste of the Furniture is 

vicious; one should imagine it had been chosen by the Neapolitan Lady whose 

Portrait you are shewn, and who is said to have been a Favourite of his 

Lordshipô.249 

 

Gifts could also be practical. In Herveyôs earliest incarnation, as third son and 

young husband, mentions of furniture in letters reveal concerns alien to the older, 

wealthy and more sophisticated Earl Bishop. Aged twenty-two Hervey married 

Elizabeth Davers, daughter of the local political rival and Tory, Sir Robert Davers 
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of Rushbrook Hall, Suffolk. Renting and furnishing a house occupied the young 

coupleôs attention. Writing to his brother-in-law Constantine Phipps in 1753, 

Hervey had a ólittle sum wch we already have savôd for furnitureô.250 By the next 

spring, óMrs Hervey dreads the not having where withal to furnish our House ... 

and provisions are become so immoderately dear that I see no other resource for 

us but that of living where they are cheapestô.251 It was important to live like a 

gentleman even when means were limited; both sexes worried about this. By 

1755, Frederick and Elizabeth Hervey with their growing family, were tenants of 

his brother in a house just outside the gates of Ickworth Park. The gift of a library 

table from Constantine Phipps was received with delight: óI am come to thank you 

for one of the prettiest ornaments of my Small house: it is indeed excessively neat, 

perfectly convenient, and both on its own account and that of the giver so 

acceptableô.252 Such a gift was a practical and welcome way to help a relation. 

 

 

2.9 Conclusion 

 

This chapter has highlighted that Hervey was unusual among wealthy patrons 

because he did not employ a fashionable architect to create a unified decorative 

scheme. Downhill contradicts the impression repeatedly evinced by publications 

on eighteenth-century houses, that interiors were fully designed spaces, with all 

aspects determined by the architect. The decorating of Downhill was piecemeal; 

an evolving project. His travels undoubtedly had a profound impact on the 

development of Herveyôs interiors; however, neither the exciting potential offered 

by the newly discovered Roman interiors at the Villa Negroni, nor the possibility 

of his classically inspired collaboration with John Soane, were ever fully realised. 

Experimental and innovative ideas were attractive in theory, but at Downhill, at 

least, it seems that tried and tested models were ultimately preferable; intention 

and reality were at variance. On the other hand, new evidence of the use of 

chinoiserie in interiors at Ballyscullion shows that Hervey was more influenced 
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by Continental than British fashion. Ballyscullion and Ickworth were considerably 

more extravagant in terms of interior decoration than Downhill, revealing that 

Hervey refined the concept of the interior as a vehicle for display.  

 

This chapter has sought to explore Downhill (and, as far as possible, 

Ballyscullion) as a functioning house for family, staff and visitors. Herveyôs 

houses were built for different and changing purposes and the validity of this 

hypothesis is reinforced by the appearance and content of their respective 

interiors. Extensions and room names reflect the development of Downhill from a 

family villa to a centre for entertaining and politicking. Ballyscullion, built to 

display art, neither achieved this objective, since the two galleries were not 

completed, nor was it properly lived in, inviting criticism by observers of the 

óBishopôs Follyô. Intriguing glimpses into everyday life at Downhill are made 

possible though vestiges of the goods that were once there: the genteel enjoyment 

of a pound of tea a week during Herveyôs absence; the fifteen identical, locally-

manufactured gentlemenôs dressing tables in the barracks; and the gift of 

ófripperyô foreign furniture from Princess Augusta. The next chapter, which 

comprises a case study of Herveyôs architect, Michael Shanahan, explores more 

fully the themes of professional life, patronage and sources of stylistic inspiration 

that have been alluded to above.  



 

CHAPTER THREE  

CASE STUDY OF MICHAEL SHANAHAN ( c.1731-1811) 

 

3.1 Introduction 

 

Michael Shanahan, stonemason and architect, probably originating in county 

Cork, is a fascinating figure who reveals some of the complexities and texture of 

late eighteenth-century professional life.1 Hitherto Shanahan has appeared on the 

historical record merely as an adjunct to the Earl Bishop. Investigation of 

Shanahanôs career places Herveyôs projects within the broader context of the Irish 

building scene. Hervey took Shanahan on the Grand Tour as draftsman, to record 

his current interests in bridges, geological features and architecture. New research 

presented here reveals the buildings which Hervey and Shanahan admired abroad, 

and offers insight into Herveyôs patronage and influence. Shanahanôs drawings 

were made into engravings in Vicenza but never reached Ireland; viewing these 

ólostô engravings in archives in Vicenza, Milan and Monza leads to new 

conclusions. It is proposed that these architectural engravings (the exact subject 

matter previously unknown but now shown to have a Palladian theme) might have 

been the core of a planned book on Palladian architecture. Shanahanôs subsequent 

career and two publishing projects (European bridges and Palladian buildings) 

indicate the importance of the Grand Tour experience for an Irish architect. 

 

Secondly the personal and professional relationship between Shanahan and 

Hervey is explored; this has found mention but not scrutiny in secondary 

literature.2 Shanahan worked for Hervey for over twenty years as architect and 

overseer at Downhill and early Ballyscullion, on garden structures, churches and 

glebe-houses. These buildings reflected a symbiotic and often stormy relationship 

between the architect and the patron. Anne Shanahanôs letters give rare voice to 

the wife of a professional interceding on behalf of her husband in arguments with 

Hervey. Shanahan had to defend his reputation on several revealing occasions. He 
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was enmeshed in a professional world of competition and co-operation with other 

Irish and British architects.  

 

In his home in the city of Cork, Shanahan displayed a remarkable collection of 

prints, ancient marble capitals and a painting of the Hervey family. This collection 

links Shanahan with other professionals like Michael Stapleton and Joseph Rose 

who drew on their portfolios for inspiration, and Robert Adam who displayed 

ancient marbles both for decorative and instructive value. Shanahan ran a stone-

yard in Corkôs White Street, enabling him to control not only architectural work 

but also to supply many structural and decorative elements. His Grand Tour 

experience became available to the genteel of Munster through purchases such as 

chimneypieces. Shanahanôs stone-yard has left little evidence except in 

connection with Downhill; notwithstanding, an assessment of the processes of 

production and consumption through this operation is possible and has not been 

undertaken before.  

 

 

3.2 Michael Shanahanôs Grand Tour 1770-72 

 

Michael Shanahanôs Grand Tour has not received scholarly attention to date. 

Shanahan appears on the historical record when the new bishop of Derry, 

Frederick Hervey, took him to France, Germany, Switzerland, Italy and Dalmatia 

as artist and tutor to his son from 1770 to 1772. Presumably Hervey had noticed 

this talented draftsman when he was briefly bishop of Cloyne.3  They were 

congenial and energetic men in their mid-thirties. This was Shanahanôs first and 

only trip abroad and Herveyôs second of six. Few direct sources survive but 

eighteen engravings of Shanahanôs drawings made on this Tour and ólostô at the 

workshop of the engraver in Vicenza have been located and viewed, and appear in 
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this thesis for the first time.4  From these engravings, new conclusions are 

proposed and developed: that Shanahan intended a modernised architectural 

edition of Palladioôs actual (rather than published) designs; and that his known 

bridge engravings constituted a prototype for the inspection of possible 

subscribers rather than the finished product.  

 

Shanahan had considerable business acumen. As an unknown man, given the 

unexpected opportunity to travel, he was keen to capitalise on his good fortune 

and gain a reputation through publishing. Richard Pococke (later bishop of 

Ossory) and his cousin Jeremiah Milles, travelling together on a limited budget 

after leaving Oxford, planned to publish their letters and journals when they 

returned home in the 1730s; later Pocockeôs A Description of the East and of some 

other Countries (London, 1743 and 1745) secured him a position in literary and 

archaeological circles and membership of associations like the Egyptian Club and 

the Divan Club. 5  Architects had established their careers on transformative 

Continental travel: James óAthenianô Stuart, Robert Adam and William Chambers 

all presented their encounters as archaeological and architectural books. In 

describing his Ruins of the Palace of Emperor Diocletian at Spalatro as óa great 

puff, conducive to raising all at once oneôs name & characterô, Robert Adam 

recognised that the advantages derived from a publication might be in the 

advancement of the authorôs career rather than in direct profits.6  

 

Herveyôs prime interest on this Tour was geology, specifically the recording of 

geological features similar to the Giantôs Causeway. Shanahan drew the basalt 

columns of the Languedoc area and shared the role of draftsman with Antonio di 

Bittio on the trip to Dalmatia in 1771 with Hervey and Abbé Fortis (these pictures 

do not survive). Hervey sent Shanahan and Bittio off in different directions, 

sometimes for months at a time. The geological aspect of the 1770-72 Tour is 

discussed further in chapter 5. Herveyôs other chief concern was studying bridges: 

during the whirl of improvement that was his first year in Derry 1768-69, he had 
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proposed a bridge for the river Foyle. Two sets of thirty-two prints and some 

correspondence over missing engraving plates, prove that Shanahan turned 

Herveyôs search for a prototype bridge into an opportunity for a publication. Two 

of the bridge engravings were signed óI.A.Hô, indicating that Shanahan took 

seriously his other role of drawing tutor to Herveyôs thirteen-year-old son, John 

Augustus Hervey. 

 

The Swiss bridges which Shanahan carefully surveyed and drew were 

technologically far in advance of bridges in Ireland (discussed in chapter 1). 

British and Irish bridge builders relied upon Palladio and perhaps read the 

superior French treatises by Gautier and Bélidor of the early eighteenth century. 

The pamphlet war over Blackfriars Bridge is just one example of the public 

controversy surrounding bridge design; everyone had an opinion. Yet only four 

books came out in English on bridge building in the second half of the century.7 

Shanahan may have identified a publishing opportunity, especially as he had 

illustrations of very new Swiss wooden bridges, including Grubenmannôs 

Shaffhausen bridge of the 1750s [fig. 3.1] and a possible plan for the ambitious 

Derry bridge [fig. 3.2]. On his return home Shanahan produced Plans and 

elevations of stone and timber bridges in France, Germany, Switzerland, and 

Italy. The title page of one copy is inscribed for the approval of Lord Lieutenant 

Harcourt, dating this project to 1772 to 1777. The engravings are marked with 

letters and numbers, indicating that Shanahan wrote, or intended, a text keyed to 

them. It has been assumed that he published a very small run since only two 

variant copies of the engravings exist.8 However, it seems more likely that these 

two copies were inspection samples, hence the small number, the lack of text and 

lobbying of the Lord Lieutenant, whose approval would be influential. 

Presumably, Shanahan never published his full book on bridges.  
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It may be that Shanahan never, or only much later, got some of his plates back 

from the engraver in Vicenza. In 1786 he was thanking Hervey (who was on his 

fourth Grand Tour) for information: 

 

many of my Copperplates which are missing I have given up for Lost 

many years since, it would make me happy to hear that the Copperplate of 

Ponte du Gard is not lost for I value it much. I am certain that the 

publishing of it with that of the bridges would be a means of selling many 

Copies.9  

 

The impressive Pont du Gard engraving, now in the Museo Civico in Vicenza, is 

the only surviving Shanahan plate of double size; whether Shanahan saw it again 

is unknown [figs 3.3 a and b].  

 

Although Shanahan had been eager to publish in the 1770s, by 1786 he was an 

established architect and judge the situation differently. Doubting that there was 

money to be made, he recognised that he would need British subscribers to 

supplement the small Irish market and he predicted a protectionist response from 

the British architectural establishment against an outsider: 

 

I am grateful for your Lordships offer in forwarding this work and 

subscribing for 20 Copies, but I am sorry to say that no publication by 

subscription has in my memory met with any success, hitherto in this 

Kingdom ï there is a certain expence attending it, but none of the success 

... Wyatt and Adams would not forward the work of an Irish artist, but 

rather throw cold water upon it. I am in great hopes that, if my success in 

the marble business continues as it has hitherto, of which I see every 

prospect, I shall shortly be able to publish this work at my own expense, 

without any application for subscription.10  

 

Also, by 1786 arguments with Hervey (discussed later in this chapter) had led 

Shanahan to seek more independence from his patron. Perhaps he took the advice 

of ómany of my friends to dispose of the copper-plates to some of the London 

booksellersô?11 
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Publishing was an expensive business largely undertaken by the author, who paid 

the printer for paper and typesetting, but engraving was the chief cost. The 

Society of Dilettanti spent £793 on publishing the first volume of Ionian 

Antiquities; the supplement of just five plates on the Temple of Jackly which 

completed this volume in 1785 cost £137 13s. 9d.12 Finding subscribers was 

difficult and perhaps demeaning work. Adam managed to gather 578 subscribers 

for Ruins of the Palace of the Emperor Diocletian at Spalatro published in 1764, 

whereas James Byresôs proposed óEtruscan Antiquities at Cornetoô failed in 1767 

due to lack of subscriptions. James Gibbs may have earned £1,900 through his 

architectural publications but he was the exception.13  

 

The Earl Bishop always used Cristoforo DallôAcqua in Vicenza (1734-87) for his 

engraving. That Hervey did not consider Bittioôs ten drawings of the Giantôs 

Causeway worth engraving by DallôAcqua at a cost of Ã400 in 1774 gives an 

impression of cost. If the fifty surviving drawings of Shanahan cost £40 each to 

engrave, the total bill would have been £2,000. It seems likely that these surviving 

engravings are part of a larger body, for example, three pictures of Porta Palio are 

linked to letters marked on a ground plan no longer in this collection. Probably, in 

line with contemporary practice, Shanahan drew a ground plan, façade and section 

of his key buildings. It has not been possible to establish whether Hervey or 

Shanahan paid DallôAcqua. If Shanahan paid or put money in, it implies that he 

had achieved financial status before he first met Hervey. The latterôs comment 

that óDellôAcqua has various plans of Shanahanôs to finish; and the poor manôs 

bread and character depend upon the publication of themô suggests investment by 

Shanahan.14 Shanahanôs despairing cry that óIt never was my interest to stay in the 

North [Downhill]. I was first induced to it in hopes of geting my copper plates 

which long since have vanashedô, implies that he could not afford to abandon the 

project.15  
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It is proposed here that Shanahan considered a book on Palladian architecture as 

well as the bridges publication. Giacomo Leoniôs 1715-19 folio edition of 

Palladioôs Quattro Libri and Isaac Wareôs more accurate edition in 1738, under 

the patronage of Lord Burlington, had spurred on the growing British and Irish 

fascination with Palladianism. Palladio was essential reading for any aspiring 

architect: Hervey, who consciously viewed himself as a nurturer of talent, is 

known to have given Palladioôs Quattro Libri to John Soane in 1778.16 The 

majority of Shanahanôs ólostô engravings are of Palladian buildings: a church in 

Vicenza; two important palazzos and the only small-scale house of Palladio in 

Vicenza; two villas of the Veneto; and two churches in Venice. The new evidence 

of the engravings points towards Shanahan envisaging not merely a copy of 

Palladioôs buildings in Quattro Libri, but an updated version, with measurements 

in British feet, and Palladioôs buildings shown as they were actually executed. If 

this hypothesis is correct, then Shanahan was in tune with highly sophisticated 

European architectural thinkers. In order to exemplify this hypothesis, two books 

(of the same decade as Shanahanôs work) by leading French and Italian architects 

will be examined: Ottavio Bertotti Scamozzi, Les bâtiments et les desseins de 

André Palladio in four volumes (Vicenza, 1776-83) and Charles-Louis Clérisseau, 

Antiquités de la France (Paris, 1778). 

 

Palladio published his ideal designs. Shanahan observed the buildings were as 

executed, some varying just in a few measurements (as Palladio perfected 

proportions for publication) while others were built only in part. In his engravings, 

Shanahan drew Palladioôs buildings as they currently stood. For example, 

Shanahan drew the Villa Thiene at Quinto. The designs in Quattro Libri show an 

enormous complex designed for the brothers Marcantonio and Adriano Thiene, 

each with separate living quarters [fig. 3.4]. Due to the deaths of the brothers, only 

a third was ever built and half of that was then demolished. Palladio illustrated the 

full plan and discussed it in the text as if built in its entirety.17 Shanahan drew only 

what he saw [figs 3.5-3.6]. Shanahan gave the measurements in his engravings in 

British feet, whereas Palladio used Vicentine feet which were two inches longer 
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and employed minutes as the smallest divisions; these were not easily translated 

by contemporary British and Irish builders, hence a growing number of 

handbooks published for calculating Palladioôs measurements and proportions for 

the orders, such as John Wood, Dissertation upon the Orders (1750).  

 

Ottavio Bertotti Scamozzi published an ambitious explanation of all Palladioôs 

architecture, both buildings illustrated in Quattro Libri  and others known to be by 

Palladio (the most famous being Teatro Olympico in Vicenza designed ten years 

after Quattro Libri had been published). He used only Vicentine feet and 

painstakingly pointed out where Palladioôs measurements in Quattro Libri 

differed from the measurements as executed. Bertotti Scamozzi wavered between 

presenting buildings as they actually were and as they were intended: he drew 

buildings as planned by Palladio, explaining in the text what had not been 

executed. In contrast, Shanahan drew only what was on the ground. Comparing 

the treatment of the Villa Pisani at Bagnolo by Shanahan and by Bertotti 

Scamozzi makes this clear. Villa Pisani was originally conceived by Palladio with 

a magnificent exedra front with concave and convex steps but perhaps due to cost 

this was sacrificed to a loggia.18 Considering the loggia inadequate, in Quattro 

Libri  (though without mention in the text) Palladio illustrated Villa Pisani from 

the garden front, dressing it up with an imaginary temple portico [fig. 3.7]. 

Bertotti Scamozzi drew Villa Pisani with all these imaginary features [figs 3.8-

3.9]. Shanahan recorded reality [fig. 3.10].  

 

Bertotti Scamozzi was not consistent: in an interior section of Palazzo Iseppo 

Porto, the actual wall layout, with a substantial chimneypiece, was carefully 

recorded instead of the niches and arches of Palladioôs plan [figs 3.11-3.12]. 

Shanahan devoted an engraving to this caryatid chimneypiece [fig. 3.13]. 

Palladioôs pupil, Vicenzo Scamozzi, Lôidea della architettura universal (1615), 

included a chapter on chimneypieces, recommending that caryatid supports would 

be suitable in the apartments of important persons such as princes. chimneypieces 

were a problematic subject since there was no ancient precedent to follow. Later 
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Hervey and Shanahan shared an increasing fascination with chimneypieces, as 

Hervey made expensive choices in Rome on subsequent tours and Shanahan 

manufactured his own designs in his Cork stone-yard. Shanahanôs aspirational 

publication could never have been on the scale of Bertotti Scamozziôs four 

volume opus, yet it places this unproven Irishman among serious and 

sophisticated Continental architectural thinkers. 

 

Charles-Louis Clérisseau had a great influence on architects visiting Rome and on 

French neoclassical architecture. He recommended to Robert Adam that he 

undertake a publication and he drew perspectives for The palace of Diocletian at 

Spalato. Shanahanôs engravings suggest some parallels with Cl®risseauôs work. 

Clérisseau was also interested in the Pont du Gard near Nîmes; his engraving was 

published in 1804 [fig. 3.14]. In Antiquités de la France (1778), Clérisseau 

illustrated the Roman temple, Maison Carrée at Nîmes, commenting that Palladio 

had included it in Quattro Libri [fig. 3.15]. Like Shanahan, Clérisseau modernised 

the measurements and recorded in his text Palladioôs measurements, stating that 

they were in Vicentine feet.19 Shanahan surveyed the Maison Carrée but he also 

pursued Palladioôs explanation that Palladio had based his design for Santa Maria 

Nuova in Vicenza on this Roman temple [fig. 3.16]. In his survey of Santa Maria 

Nuova, Shanahan added an extra dimension by representing the scheme of the 

stucco ceiling as lozenges on the floor plan [fig. 3.17].  

 

Designs for Palladioôs churches were not included in Quattro Libri but 

bothRedentore and San Giorgio Maggiore in Venice bear some similarity with 

Bertotti Scamozziôs treatment of them, showing a half section through the dome 

and front, simultaneously offering façade and internal views [figs 3.18-3.20]. 

Bertotti Scamozzi did not include internal features like altars but Shanahan 

devoted an engraving to a transept altar in San Giorgio Maggiore; this could 

easily be reconfigured at home as a classical church monument [figs 3.21-3.23].20 

However, though churches were some of Herveyôs and Shanahanôs earliest 
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building projects on return to the Derry diocese, they chose a mildly gothic style 

for these small parish churches (discussed in chapter 1).  

 

A minority of the engravings now in Milan, Vicenza and Monza are not buildings 

by Palladio. Of Shanahanôs three surviving engravings of ancient subjects, the 

ground plan of Maison Carrée at Nîmes was featured by Palladio in Quattro 

Libri .21 The other two engravings are harder to interpret: an Egyptian column 

trussed up (perhaps for restoration or carriage) and an obelisk in pieces, both with 

inscriptions to Emperor Antoninus Pius (who was born in Nîmes) [figs 3.24-3.25]. 

Their inclusion in this form suggests that these items may have been bought by 

Hervey for display at Downhill. Later, in 1797, Hervey seriously considered an 

expedition to Egypt (see chapter 5), partly to collect obelisks, columns and 

sphinxes which he believed could be had for just the cost of transportation.22  

 

Five engravings are not buildings by Palladio but views and sections of three 

gates by Michele Sanmichele of Verona. Shanahanôs óArchitectural overview of 

the mainland gate of Zadarô was a coup because few tourists ventured into 

Dalmatia [fig. 3.26]. Shanahan may have recognised this trip, to record the karst 

scenery of Dalmatia, as an opportunity to publish drawings of buildings off the 

beaten track, which was also the reasoning for James Stuartôs and Nicholas 

Revettôs selection of Athens and Robert Adamôs choice of Spalato. Shanahan also 

drew Michele Sanmicheleôs Porta Nuovo and Porta Palia at Verona [figs 3.27-

3.29]. Sanmichele travelled through the Venetian empire as inspector of 

fortifications, gaining experience of Hellenistic architecture. Recognising baseless 

Doric as the primary order of Greek architecture, he used it (on rusticated drums) 

for the city façade of his Porta Palio (1548-50), which Vasari described as óthe 

crowning miracleô of Sanmicheliôs career.23 Shanahan recorded that elevation [fig. 

3.29]. He also made close-up drawings of the classical bucrania, popular as a 
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neoclassical ornamentation and used on the Lionôs Gate entrance at Downhill 

[figs 3.30-3.33]. 

 

To place Shanahanôs intended óArchitectureô within a British context, his 

engravings had more in common with Palladioôs publications than with Colen 

Campbellôs influential Vitruvius Britannicus, because Shanahan provided accurate 

measurements, ornamental detail and a three-dimensional result, by cutting away 

sections of the façade to reveal the interior behind. Dana Arnold charts a process 

of ódemocritisationô in the appreciation of architecture, through inexpensive 

publications in the late eighteenth and early nineteenth centuries. She identifies 

over thirty books of country house designs published 1780 to 1815, by architects 

advertising their own work and services, such as John Plaw, who ófurnishes 

designs, and working drawings, and will advise or attend to their execution (if 

required), at the usual commissionô.24 Nor did Shanahan appear to have been 

contemplating a practical guide to building in the Palladian style along the lines of 

William Paine who claimed in his preface to The builderôs pocket treasure or 

Palladio delineated and explained (1766) that: 

 

as Palladio is allowed, by all Hands, to be the greatest Master that ever 

Published anything on this subject, the principal View in this Treatise is to 

Render his excellent Performance of universal Service to builders of every 

Denomination, by affixing such Explanations as will enable a Workman to 

put his Designs in Practice.25  

 

For Paine, Palladio represented guidelines for building; Paine advised on the 

orders and proportions, on chimneys and stairs, windows and rafters, even bridges 

and greenhouses, but made no reference to Palladioôs actual buildings. Shanahanôs 

work was neither advertising his own designs nor was it a practical guide; rather it 

belonged to the tradition of engaging with great buildings of the Continent. 

 

Though travel had become more common, it was still an exclusive club, 

membership of which brought many and varied advantages. The defining episode 

in Shanahanôs life was being taken abroad by his patron. Shanahanôs engravings 
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presented in this thesis offer a unique and previously unexplored view into what 

interested Hervey and Shanahan on their travels. Hervey set Shanahan tasks that 

initiated him into the neoclassical desire for accuracy in surveying and imitating 

authentic ancient architecture. These surveys found direct expression in the 

garden buildings designed by Shanahan at Downhill and discussed more fully in 

chapter 1: the mausoleum at Downhill was based on the Roman mausoleum at St 

Remy in Provence, and the Mussenden Temple was derived from the Temple of 

Vesta at Tivoli. Shanahan absorbed the neoclassical style that characterised his 

future work. This idiom was only becoming established in Ireland from the 1760s, 

through landmark buildings like William Chambersôs Casino at Marino.  

 

 

3.3 The professional and the patron 

 

Hervey provided Shanahan with steady work for twenty years. The epithet the 

óedifying bishopô had nothing to do with his churchmanship; to Shanahanôs good 

fortune, Hervey was obsessed with building. Of Herveyôs three great houses, 

Shanahan was largely responsible for both of the Irish ones. He also designed and 

built garden structures, churches and glebe houses for the Earl Bishop (discussed 

in chapter 1). It is interesting to note Shanahanôs methods concerning 

Ballyscullion. He learned to appreciate the value of viewing buildings for 

inspiration through travelling with his patron; Hervey identified Palladioôs Villa 

Rotunda La Capra and the Pantheon as models for Ballyscullion. Later Shanahan 

regretted missing an opportunity to view óyour Lordshipôs favorate buildingô, the 

round house of Belle Isle on Lake Windermere [fig. 1.8c].26 Shanahan had an 

architectural model made of Ballyscullion and discussed it with other architects, 

tapping into a circle of professional advice: óMr Penrose and Mr Malton, an 

English architect, said they never saw a plan they like so much as that of your 

Lordshipôs house. They declared it would be a perfect beauty. I am sorry I did not 

meet with Mr Gandon to have his opinionô.27 The Irish Sea was no barrier: in 1787 

Shanahan travelled to London intending to consult there with óWyatt or Adamô 
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and Scottish architect George Steuart (who had designed Baronscourt for Lord 

Abercorn).28 

 

Shanahanôs strengths lay in architecture, but there is ample evidence of his 

passionate interest in the interior of the Mussenden Temple. A close comparison 

of the Mussenden Temple with James óAthenianô Stuartôs Temple of the Winds at 

Mount Stewart, underscores the problems Shanahan faced with his employer and 

the difference between a project managed by a well-known architect and a home-

grown one [figs 3.34-3.35]. The patrons Frederick Hervey, the Earl Bishop, and 

Robert Stewart, Lord Londonderry, shared more in common than status and land 

in Ulster; they were both influenced by foreign travel and by neoclassicism. Lord 

Londonderry had been educated in Geneva, undertook a Grand Tour and chose 

the leading neoclassical artist Mengs for his portrait. He was the only Irish patron 

of James óAthenianô Stuart, who had published the influential Antiquities of 

Athens in 1762. Lord Charlemont described Londonderry as óIrelandôs most 

important cognoscenteô.29 Unlike Charlemont, who relied exclusively on William 

Chambers, but in common with the Earl Bishop, Londonderry approached several 

architects, notably James óAthenianô Stuart and James Wyatt.  

 

A closer examination of Lord Londonderryôs accounts (table 1) allows for some 

comparison of the spending patterns of Londonderry and Hervey. It is not possible 

to recreate Herveyôs accounts, but building must have outweighed all other 

outgoings. Londonderry was prevented from implementing Wyattôs plan for 

Mount Stewart by the cost of electioneering, so a temporary wing was put up on 

the existing house as a stopgap. Like Downhill, Mount Stewart was a work in 

progress, with plans ever changing. Lord Londonderry did not use Wyattôs design 

when finances allowed him to resume building, but intended his carpenter-turned-

architect, John Ferguson of Belfast, to design the new house. When he persuaded 

his father to opt for George Dance over óFergusonôs detestable planô, 

Londonderryôs son, Lord Castlereagh, may have revealed more about the 
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importance of employing a fashionable architect than the merits of the design.30 

The Earl Bishop was out of step with contemporary Irish patrons of his stature in 

employing Shanahan, an architect he had raised himself; however, the 

arrangement suited the Earl Bishopôs notorious meddling.  

 

Table 1 Selected expenses of Robert Stewart, Lord Londonderry,  at Mount 

Stewart (1781-89). 

Source: Robert Stewart, óJournal of accountsô (P.R.O.N.I., Londonderry papers, 

D654/H/1/1). 

 

 

 

The interior of the Mussenden Temple was the cause of a clash of views between 

patron and architect. The dispute proves that Hervey collected designs that 

appealed to him. It also reveals that Shanahan, though he had to tread warily, 

could be just as determined in pursuing his concept; he had identified the 

Mussenden Temple as his architectural show-piece. Other patrons were more 
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will ing to bow to the aesthetic expertise of their architect, especially if the 

architect were a great name, as demonstrated by the Casino at Marino. 

Charlemont made suggestions and asked for mock-ups to allay his fears, but 

ultimately he always deferred to Chambersôs decision. 

 

Hervey had sent Shanahan a coloured design for the ceiling of the drawing room 

of Hagley Park, Sir Assheton Curzonôs house in Staffordshire [fig. 3.37].31 In 

selecting a Wyatt design, Hervey was in the company of other Irish patrons like 

the Duke of Leinster, Lord Altamont and later Lord Belmore.32 But Shanahan 

objected to the scale and femininity of Wyattôs Hagley Park ceiling. He tried to be 

uncharacteristically diplomatic: 

 

Mr Ashton Curzonôs room: although this design is very elegant and from 

the drawing I believe it is finished with great precision, yet I would not 

wish to finish the Temple with such colours and minuteness. I like much 

better a more bold and ample style. The former manner is much better 

adapted for a ladyôs dressing-room than for a Temple built in a rural and 

romantic situation, where much strength and solidity is required.33 

 

Shanahan emphasised the sublime nature of the site and drew on the concept of 

the classical, man-made building, contrasting with nature untamed. He identified a 

library as a masculine space. His objection to decoration that detracted from the 

architecture was comparable to James Gandonôs criticism: óA minute manner was 

introduced by Athenian Stuart and afterwards by the Adams whose ornaments 

were not always adapted to the character of the buildings in which they were 

introducedô.34  
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Decorative plasterwork was expensive. Mid-century ceilings were extremely 

costly, due to the work involved in hand-modelling: Lafranchini charged £521 for 

the saloon at Carton and £491 for (probably) the staircase at Castletown. Foreign 

experts may have been able to charge more than Irish born craftsmen. Christine 

Casey explores a court case in London involving Pietro Lafranchini to suggest 

that stuccadores had risen beyond craftsmen, into the lower middle class, and had 

at their disposal significant sums of money.35 Lord Londonderry paid £234 (and 

possibly £338) to William Fitzgerald (whose next placement was at Downhill) for 

executing James óAthenianô Stuartôs design for the ceiling of the Temple of the 

Winds [fig. 3.36].36  At Castle Coole, Joseph Rose charged £2,249 for the 

plasterwork designed by Wyatt in the 1790s.37 Shanahan only allowed for £100 

for óplasterers and stuccoworkô for the Mussenden Temple, probably for a 

coffered ceiling.38  

 

The walls of the Mussenden Temple were to contain bookcases and scagiola 

pilasters. Samples of scagiola in óPorphyry ï Brocketelli ï Sciena ï Verd Antique 

and Jasperô were sent for before costly decisions were made; Shanahan argued 

persuasively that óif the columns or pilasters within the Temple were finishd in 

any of the above specimens it would be one of the finest things in England or 

Irelandô [fig. 2.2].39 Shanahan urged the bishop towards more expensive options, 

like hewn stone rather than hammered for the exterior, for though the price 

difference was Ã90, óI need not tell your Lordship how much more light and 

magnificent this would lookô [fig. 3.34]. The success of a project was as important 

to the reputation of the practitioner as to the patron. Other architects traded on key 

projects: William Chambers circulated designs of the Casino at Marino through 

his book, A treatise on civil architecture (London, 1759), and benefited from 
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publicity through Robert Ashfordôs painting (1776) and James Maltonôs 

engraving (1795).  

 

Hervey had intended that the floor of the Temple would be a mosaic pavement, 

possibly mirroring or complementing the ceiling as at Syon House by Robert 

Adam 1762-3). He must have had an ambitious model in mind, for he brought 

Francis Reagal over from Rome with the offer of £1,000.40 Mosaic floors were 

very rare in Ireland; Ballyfin was exceptional with a mosaic floor imported from 

Rome for the entrance hall and a parquetry floor of Moorish influence in the 

central vestibule.41  Ultimately, the Mussenden Temple was given flagstones, 

possibly as a temporary solution. Mount Stewartôs Temple of the Winds had a 

floor of bog oak from the estate, attributed to the master carpenter from Belfast, 

John Ferguson [fig. 3.36]. Terence Reeves-Smyth suggests that this marquetry 

floor was installed twenty years after the Temple was completed; even in a project 

fully designed by a well-known architect, improvements could present themselves 

later.42 

 

Comparing the costs of the Mussenden Temple (estimate) and Temple of the 

Winds [table 2], indicates the priorities of the patrons: Londonderry spent more on 

the interior of his garden building while the Earl Bishop tended to lose interest in 

a project before it was finished.43 James óAthenianô Stuartôs Temple of the Winds 

emulated the Tower of Andronicus Cyrrhestes in Athens on the outside and was 

beautifully and fashionably presented as a dining pavilion on the inside. Herveyôs 

impatience may be the reason why the Mussenden Temple, fitted up as a library, 

was not so lavishly finished.  
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Table 2 Comparison of costs of the Mussenden Temple at Downhill and the 

Temple of the Winds at Mount Stewart. 

Source: Michael Shanahan, óEstimate for the Mussenden Templeô (P.R.O.N.I., 

Hervey Bruce papers, D2798/2/33) and Robert Alexander, óJournal of Accountsô 

(P.R.O.N.I., Londonderry papers, D654/H/1/1). 

 

 
 

 

As has been highlighted in earlier chapters, working for the Earl Bishop was not 

easy. Unannounced, Hervey would upset the chain of command, threatening 

Shanahanôs position. In 1780 the Earl Bishop enticed the young architect, John 

Soane, to Ireland. In his óDownhill Notebookô, Soane listed alleged neglect by 

Shanahan: no water supply, poorly fitting doors and windows, smoking chimneys 

and lack of soundproofing.44 Shanahan did not stand idly by on these occasions; 

one suspects that those whom Soane called óShanahan and Coô in his notebook 

had a hand in driving Soane off. Ultimately, he found the patron to be the source 

of these problems and after only a month he left Downhill, infuriated by Herveyôs 

constant interference and changes of mind: óExperience ... taught me how much I 
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had overrated the magnificent promises and splendid delusions of the Lord Bishop 

of Derryô.45 

 

Reflecting on the relationship between patron and architect reveals more of the 

texture of eighteenth-century professional life. Reading Shanahanôs letters to the 

Earl Bishop one cannot help but be surprised at the familiarity: flattery, 

frustration, justification, political commentary and even scatological jokes that 

punctuate Shanahanôs letters. Even Shanahanôs patience had its limits and he 

complained about the arrival of yet another letter which ówith its multiplicity of 

queries, is merely calculated to puzzle and embarrass my thoughts ... I have 

neither leisure, time nor talents to answer such queries. No man but an adept in 

law is equal to such a taskô.46 Shanahanôs frustration with his patron was by no 

means uncommon. The marquess of Downshireôs óautocratic over-riding of his 

architectôs conception and of his overseerôs practical considerations must have 

been in varying degrees characteristic of relations which produced many a country 

house in Irelandô.47 Lord Bective simplified Robert Adamôs plans for Headfort 

House. Francis Johnston raised the spectre of interfering patrons when reflecting 

on óthe imperfections of many of my undertakings, some caused by my own 

inexperience and others by the whims and obstinacy of my employersô.48 

 

The Shanahan family fortunes were closely tied up with their patron, as 

previously mentioned. The family lived at Downhill and Anne Shanahan became 

the assistant housekeeper. In the spring of 1783, Shanahan and the Earl Bishop 

had a falling out. When Hervey upset the chain of command yet again without 

warning, Anne Shanahan tried to mediate between her employer and her husband, 

outlining her husbandôs point of view: 

 

[Shanahan] thought himself not well used, by sending Mr Loutch here 

without consulting him, especially as he never heard of his being 

employed farther than as a Carpenter by any one before, he understands by 

                                                           
45

 Soane, Memoirs of the professional life of an architect (London, 1835) quoted in du Prey, 

óSoane and Downhillô, p. 17. 
46

 Shanahan to Hervey, 7 Apr. 1783 (P.R.O.N.I., Hervey Bruce papers, D2798/2/19). 
47

 Francis Johnston to J. N. Brewer, 29 Feb. 1820, Dublin Historical Record, 11 (1950), pp 12-13, 

quoted in E. R. R. Green and F. M. Jope, óPatron and architect: an example of relations in the late 

eighteenth centuryô in Ulster Journal of Archaeology, third series, 24/25 (1961/1962), p. 145. 
48

 Ibid. 



 

a letter he got this day that Mr Loutch has made out several plans for 

Altering the Galery, this too he is determined never to cooperate with him 

in.49  

 

As the situation worsened, Anne Shanahan had to justify her housekeeping 

expenses.50 She valued her reputation and honour: óI am thank God conscious to 

myself of not having committed the least fraud or depredation on any one in my 

lifeô.51 Shanahan looked for alternative patronage and relocated to William Burton 

Conynghamôs ultimately ill-fated model fishing village on Rutland Island. He was 

wary: ónothing could have given me more concern than parting with your 

Lordship in enmity after having lived with you so many yearsô.52 And he was 

careful to leave his wife in his stead at Downhill; her letter of this period reports 

to the Earl Bishop on the progress of decorative work.53 The voice of the wife of 

an Irish professional is a rare survival. 

 

Though the Shanahan family had employment and lodging to lose if they fell out 

with the Earl Bishop, their example proves that professionals had some latitude 

for action. It was Anne Shanahan who issued the subtle ultimatum: 

 

Mrs Bradley shall have all the rooms we occupy cleared for her any hour 

she comes as I have nothing to remove but a few boxes with our cloaths 

and books and as we are now but an encumbrance.54 

 

Angry and impulsive, Shanahan withdrew his family from Downhill: 

 

On receipt of Lord Bristol[ôs] Note Shanahan Sent his three Eldest 

children out of his Lordships house, and as soon as it is convenient to Lord 

Bristol to settle S-n Affairs he and his Wife will follow them. S-n can 

Assure his Lordship what perhaps he did not know before that his family 

were not so expensive to him as he might imagine.55 
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Possibly Shanahanôs sensitivity over whether his family was taking advantage of 

the Earl Bishopôs generosity, stemmed from a fear or accusation of parasitism, 

often a criticism of Gaelic culture.56 Offended, the Shanahan family left Downhill 

for Cork in 1784, though looking after their marble business was given as the 

excuse. Shanahan returned to work with the Earl Bishop from 1786; however, the 

family appear to have remained in Cork and Shanahan also pursued an 

independent career there.  

 

In happier times, Shanahan acted as host to visitors to Downhill. The Revd Daniel 

Beaufort arrived unannounced: 

 

Lord Bristolôs architect, who did the honors & shewed me the house, the 

Bishop having an attack in his bowels which confined him to his bed ï So 

that I had the mortification of not seeing him. ï This Mr Shanahan who 

lives in Cork, was very civil & asked me to see him at C. when I go 

southward.57 

 

It is interesting to observe Shanahan so comfortable in the role of host at his 

patronôs table, inviting Beaufort to visit him in Cork. Shanahanôs relationship with 

Hervey was complex. Evidently Shanahan had considerable charm and moved 

easily in the Downhill milieu of the household, family, visiting clergy, Volunteer 

officers and learned visitors. The relationship is also indicative of the easy 

manners of the Earl Bishop, who enjoyed the company of people who interested 

him or could further his plans, regardless of rank or nationality. This theme is 

revisited in chapter 5 in the context of European travel. Shanahanôs experience 

compares with that of Samuel Waring in the early eighteenth-century, whose 

status as an authority on architectural matters brought him interaction with social 

superiors, because of his Tour as companion to Ormondôs grandson, the future 

Earl of Arran, skill as a draftsman and personal charm.58  
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Reputation was vital in a line of work where word-of-mouth was the chief 

recommendation. Evidently employers and architects discussed these issues and 

word could spread. Shanahan had to defend himself: 

 

I am quite a stranger to what your Lordship says you have seen in Ducarts 

Books with respect to me ï I never had any dealing Whatever with him, 

nor was I ever concernôd when he was employd, but at Mr Rogers in Lota 

near Cork ï the front of Whose House he Stuccoed, which totally came off 

the Winter following, the fault of which he attempted fixing upon me ... 

No man could behave politer to me than Mr Rogers the last time I was in 

Cork ... [and] how exceedingly friendly Mr Ducart has been to me the only 

time he was here.59 

 

Hervey checked accounts minutely; columns of figures in his hand appear 

frequently on the back of Shanahanôs accounts. In Herveyôs last extant letter, 

Shanahan was under suspicion again: óI am impatient for the result of Mr 

Mitchellôs measurement of the Galleries & various articles at B.Scullion as I fear 

old Shanahan is deeply in my debtô.60  Presumably Mitchell was a quantity 

surveyor whose measurements were one of the only ways an employer could 

check on his clerk of works. The Earl Bishopôs concerns reflected wider 

discussion of architectsô fees, then around 5%, such as the commission appointed 

in 1795 by the Architectsô Club to make recommendations on fee levels.61 In 1801 

serious complaints were raised by the Inspector General of Prisons in Ireland, the 

Revd Forster Archer, who visited Cork County Gaol in 1801:  

 

The Defects in its Building and in its Plan, The Dishonesty used in its 

construction, the pitiful Frauds Practiced by its Architect ... Greater 

Imposition, Greater Fraud, Greater Wrong & Robbery was never 

Committed by any Gaol Builder in any County in Ireland, than has been 

Committed by Shannahan the Architect.62  
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No charges were ever brought against Shanahan and his position in Cork society 

does not appear to have suffered. 

 

As work for the Earl Bishop dried up, Shanahan concentrated on his standing in 

Cork, securing public and private commissions. He found private patronage, 

chiefly that of Francis Bernard, first Earl of Bandon, remodelling Castle Bernard 

to give the house a more neoclassical look. Castle Bernard went through many 

major alterations, so Shanahanôs work was relatively short-lived, but a visiting 

touristôs description of high ceilings, large rooms with Palladian proportions and 

an oval room, reflect training under the Earl Bishop.63 Shanahanôs St Patrickôs 

Bridge in Cork 1786 (now replaced) evoked Palladioôs bridges in Quattro Libri 

and employed the same ornamentation as the bridge that Shanahan had drawn in 

Vicenza fifteen years before [fig. 3.38-3.39].64 

 

 

3.4 Michael Shanahanôs collections 

 

The Revd Daniel Beaufort took up Shanahanôs invitation issued over dinner at 

Downhill and visited Shanahan in Cork in December 1788. He was very 

impressed by Shanahanôs collection and portfolios. The portfolios of plasterers 

Joseph Rose and Michael Stapleton comprised not only designs of their own 

creation but also designs acquired through other professionals, and from 

engravings and pattern books. It is probable that Shanahanôs collection took on a 

more physical and intellectual form due to experiencing Herveyôs collections. In 

Shanahanôs portfolios, Beaufort was:  

 

delighted with the colored & gilt sections of the Carraccia Gallery in the 

Farnese Palace at Rome, many excellent prints & drawings ï especially 

some coloured copies of Antient paintings, in Baths of Titus &c ï the 

whole engravings of those Baths discovd. in 1777 ï From whence it 

appears that all our modern Ceilings are stolen ï the Work being 
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extremely light & fine ï Also Raphaelôs Vatican ï w. some of them 

coloured from Nature; and some Originals of Hackert.65 

 

Shanahanôs collection represents the symbiotic relationship between himself and 

Hervey: Shanahan drew inspiration from the architectural and decorative models 

selected by Hervey. Presumably, Hervey gave the engravings of the Baths of Titus 

to Shanahan as he did to his daughter Lady Mary Erne. Her mother explained to 

Mary their significance in terms of decoration: óYour father continues to amuse 

himself ... He has bought a set of Prints for you ... taken from Titusô Baths, & 

supposôd to have been what Raphael took his hints from for the Vaticanô.66 

Hervey was also anxious that Mary experience Roman decoration and use of 

colour: 

 

I sent you ... some tolerable engravings of the new descoverôd Baths of 

Titus ï you have yet, my dear, but half the sett: the rest is not published 

but before I leave this you shall have the remainder ï one or two of them 

illuminated to give you an Idea of old Roman magnificenceô67 

 

If Hervey considered the engravings merely ótolerableô, his generosity in buying 

sets of engravings for his daughter and probably for Shanahan is diminished by an 

awareness that they were not top class work. If these were Mirriôs engravings, 

they were subject to harsher criticism than Herveyôs. James Byres wrote to his 

patron, William Constable of Burton Constable, that the publication on the 

treasures of the Vatican Museum: 

 

will not do justice to so noble a collection, being in the hands of a Sig.r 

Mirri an illiterate man, who employes the cheapest artists he can find to 

execute this work. The same Mirri published some years ago the antient 

paintings of Titusôs Baths in plain and colourôd prints which might have 

been a good and useful work, had it been well executed.68 
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In general, the value and impressiveness of gifts was tailored to the status and 

usefulness of the recipient. Later Hervey sent a possible Raphael to the Earl of 

Liverpool whose political influence the Earl Bishop desired to secure.69 

 

To return to Beaufortôs visit to Cork, he also admired ósome painted colored 

plaster from the walls of Herculaneumô.70 Perhaps these were actually the remains 

of Herveyôs deteriorating Villa Negroni frescos discussed in chapter 2. Shanahan 

also had at least two carved marbles from the ruins of Baalbek and Palmyra which 

the architect Thomas Deane bought at auction after Shanahanôs death.71 Shanahan 

possessed a remarkable collection of Roman and Renaissance models from which 

to work. The scope of the Rose and Stapleton collections is narrower, restricted to 

their craft. Shanahanôs collection suggests either that diverse and vibrant 

assemblages, now lost, were gathered by Irish building professionals or, perhaps 

more likely, that the patronage of the Earl Bishop trained and raised Shanahan 

above his peers.  

 

Shanahanôs portfolios, artefacts and library, his marble-works in Cork and his 

influence on apprentices and Irish marble-carving have not previously been 

studied.72 How he translated his experiences and images into interior design is 

now hard to trace since his domestic buildings are now so altered or gone. 

Shanahanôs working life spanned the revolution in interior decorating initiated by 

the Adam brothers. His determination to keep up to date with developments 

indicates that he anticipated his clients in Ireland to be sophisticated and exacting; 

the Earl Bishop certainly was. From an early stage, Shanahan was clearly 

conscious of the importance of interiors and relied on the Earl Bishop for new 

material and ideas: 
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I am very thankful to your Lordship for the plans and sections you are 

pleased to promise to bring me of those beautiful rooms lately discovered 

of Augustusôs palace on the Palatine hill. By your Lordshipôs description 

of them, they are exceedingly curious. Drawings of them would be very 

acceptable and certainly would be very improving. 73 

 

Shanahan also unpacked and admired the treasures arriving at Downhill from 

abroad, further honing his architectural and decorative understanding. An undated 

letter announced the safe arrival of ó6 Cases containing Fresco ... There are also a 

great quantity of Printsô.74 Experience of Herveyôs approach to collecting must 

have trained his eye and given him an edge over more provincial Irish designers. 

 

 

3.5 Michael Shanahan and his Cork stone-yard 

 

Shanahan possessed an entrepreneurial spirit. During the 1783-85 arguments with 

Hervey, the first evidence emerges that Shanahan owned a stone-carving business 

on White Street in Cork; it has received very little attention from historians and 

has left little evidence. It is my contention that exposure to Continental style 

through the Tour of the 1770-72 and experience of imported chimneypieces and 

artworks arriving at Downhill, found expression in the products of the marble-

yard available to Cork customers. Traces of the business aspect of Shanahanôs 

trade will be explored as far as is possible, filling out a little further the picture of 

the trade in carved stone during this prolific period of building. 

 

When he died at eighty in 1813, Shanahan was a relatively wealthy man. In his 

will, he divided between his five sons and a daughter six houses (in White Street, 

Georgeôs Quay and Dunbar Street), some with ópremisesô, a marble-works in 

White Street, Ballintemple quarry, Ballinlough field and fields at Bohreenmanagh. 

His eldest son, Michael, inherited his fatherôs house and contents, including 

ófurniture, pictures, books, prints and collectionsô and the quarry at Ballintemple, 

while his third son, Henry, inherited the marble-yard in White Street and other 
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workshops and stables. Henry Shanahan appears in later rental documents of 1834 

as óchimneypiece manufacturerô, showing that the marble-works continued in 

business. Henry, brother of Michael Shanahan senior, acted as executor and was 

to discharge any debts by selling ówhatever chimney piece unrought Marble or 

Portland stone may belong to me at the time of my deceaseô.75 The will must have 

been contested because it was not proved until 1830. Michael Shanahan had built 

up a considerable business in Cork, based on stone carving, quarrying, house-

building and rents.  

 

It is not known how Shanahan acquired the stone-yard and quarry; he may have 

inherited them, bought them or gained them through his wife Anne Uniacke. 

References to the stonecutting yard in White Street begin around 1783, when the 

deteriorating relations with Hervey led them to move from Downhill to Cork city. 

During the period of rapprochement, he was able to write in December 1785 of 

ómy Marble business, which has increasd upon my hands beyond my 

expectationô.76 By August 1786 he asserted óI am certain it will give you pleasure 

to hear that they go on beyond anything I could at first have flattered myself to 

expect. I keep now constantly at work 28 men, and get my work sold as fast as I 

can make it upô.77 He was now a significant local employer.  

 

How did Shanahanôs works compare with other stone-yards? With twenty-eight 

employees, the White Street yard was smaller than Collesôs Kilkenny Marble 

Works, which was estimated in 1800 to employ forty to fifty men in the quarry 

and mills.78  Stonework was a labour intensive business. In 1787, Shanahan 

claimed to have óconstantly at work for your Lordship 6 stone-sawyers, 3 carvers, 

3 polishers and 4 stone-cuttersô. He went to London to find another ósculptorô to 

replace the ómost excellent carverô whose death while working on the matching 
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chimneypiece for the New Gallery was causing Shanahan problems.79 Clearly, 

talented sculptors were hard to recruit in Ireland. Shanahan trained apprentices in 

White Street; he probably brought óyoung Hiffernonô, who was born in Derry and 

worked at Downhill with his plasterer father, to train as a sculptor at the White 

Street marble-works in Cork.80  

 

In 1786 Shanahan claimed to have little competition locally, though Cork was the 

second city of Ireland: óI carry a trade never thought of here before, the Novelty I 

believe is a great means of the Successô.81
 Shanahan identified óNoveltyô as root of 

his success; though Cork quarries had always been active for building materials, 

he saw a gap in the local market for finely finished items, particularly for 

chimneypieces [fig. 3.38-3.39].82 In the Cork area, those who could afford it were 

evidently keen to participate in the display of these expensive markers of status, 

wealth and taste. In its early days the Kilkenny Marble Works produced an even 

wider range of goods than was listed by Shanahan above. In 1734 Colles 

advertised his showroom in Dublin: óMarble Chimney Pieces, Tables and other 

Marble Furniture of the best kinds and newest Fashions. As also, a large Parcel of 

Flags, the best and cheapest, for flooring of any Flags hitherto brought into this 

Cityô.83 A later advertisement of 1785 indicates that the Kilkenny Marble Works 

shifted the focus to chimneypieces which presumably brought the highest return: 

óFor sale, a large assortment of Kilkenny Marble Chimney Pieces of the newest 

kinds of Italian and Kilkenny Marble finished in the best manner, which will be 

sold on the very lowest termsô.84 While Shanahan emphasised his chimneypieces 

to the Earl Bishop, he also tried to supply the stone materials for Ballyscullion, 

just as he served the Cork building trade with flagstones and stairs, but Hervey 

turned these down.85 
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There were at least ten quarries in County Cork, specialising in slate, dark 

limestone, pink marble (known as óCork Redsô or marbles) and sandstones.86 

Though Townsendôs Statistical Survey of County Cork did not discuss any 

individual stone-yards, the quality of marble was highly praised; he considered the 

marble around Castle Hyde equal to Greek and Italian marble.87 Shanahan, like 

Colles in Kilkenny, also imported Italian marble and Portland stone.88
 During the 

facing of Downhill, the Ballycastle quarry failed.89 Shanahan travelled in the 

British Isles sourcing stone for Herveyôs building projects and looking for 

alabaster columns in London.90 Later Hervey owned a marble quarry near Monte 

Baldo in Italy, indicating that the vagaries of supply made this worthwhile for the 

needs of a major builder.91  

 

The look and cachet of imported marble was worth the higher prices to customers. 

At Kilkenny, the 1785 advertisement included chimneypieces in Italian marble. 

Tighe described Carrara marble, imported from Liverpool, ówhich he works up at 

Kilkenny into handsome and high priced chimney pieces, generally inlaid with 

coloured stones, and adorned with sculptures in reliefô.92  From Beaufortôs 

description, Shanahan was also producing chimneypieces with inlaid stones and 

sculptured relief: 

 

We then went to see his Chimney pieces, which are very handsom & much 

cheaper than in Dublin ï One is making for Lord Bristol with very large 

figures in sculpture - what is done is very light & nice. Many things in that 

way here ï And some Inlaid with Jasper ï a beautiful stone ï NB the 

Purple Marble is called Braccia.93 
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Shanahanôs inventory of eight chimneypieces for Downhill, shipped on the 

Mayflower in 1787, indicate that he could satisfy a discerning patron (as discussed 

in chapter 2): 

 

One statuary Chimney piece with carved terms, tablet & veined hearth for 

the West end of the Library Downhill ï NB there is another Chimypice 

almost finished for the East End but no fireplace to make it Uniformôd 

with the West end & shall be sent by the next Opertunity ... 

A mantle, cornice & hearth for your Lordships bedchamber ï joining the 

library. 

A mantel for the chimneypiece in Lady Erneôs bedchamber. 

Veined hearth and black covings for the alcove room . 

Ditto for Lady Elizabeth. 

Sienna & statuary chimneypiece for your Lordshipôs dressing room to the 

North end of the 2
nd

 gallery. 

A purple or Breccia with statuary cornice & tablet for your Lordshipôs 

bedchamber joining the 2
nd

 gallery. 

A chimneypiece of fine Irish marble for the mezzinino. 

Portland ditto with carved terms & tablet & black hearth for the Barack 

room under the 2
nd

 gallery.94 

 

When Shanahan acted as the architect of Castle Bernard near Bandon, he probably 

had the chimneypieces and stone carving made through his own Cork marble-

yard. David Dickson suggests that by taking Shanahan abroad óHervey signally 

helped in the transmission of neoclassicism to Munsterô.95
 Shanahan was not a 

mere provincial stone-cutter or architect; he offered his customers a higher level 

of style and design.  

 

Shanahan was a successful entrepreneur, able to gauge his market. In 1786 he had 

ófour Chimney pieces bespoke now of 60 guineas each, and a Vast number of a 

lower priceô.96  Cork offered good value; Beaufort described Shanahanôs 

chimneypieces as ómuch cheaper than in Dublinô.97 Shanahanôs bread-and-butter 

pieces were tailored for the middling market. Shanahanôs ongoing argument with 

mason David McBlain at Downhill shows that prices were carefully watched and 

compared all over Ireland: 
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He [McBlain] says that each Capital Stood him £10 each and that he is 

Satisfied to refer the price of the Carving to two Dublin Carvers, Should 

Your L:p agree to this proposal I am certain that £15 would not clear you 

of each Capital, I told him that the price of Carving the Capital here [Cork] 

exclusive of Portland Stone was but £5 each ï Now by adding the above 

sum of £2.18 to the first agreemt he will have £8 for each Capital. 

 

 

Shanahan repeated to Hervey, George Darleyôs opinion that if Shanahan had 

settled in Dublin, he would have had more work than any marble works in 

Ireland.98 The Darley clan, who worked as stonecutters, architects and developers 

in Dublin, had quarries in Ardbraccan in county Meath, Newtonards in county 

Down and Golden Hill in county Wicklow.99 Like Shanahanôs youngest son, two 

members of the next generation of Darleys enrolled in Trinity College in 1813 and 

1816, giving further evidence of the potential for social rise through profits from 

the building trade, especially in the respectable role of architect. Shanahan 

identified an opportunity in his native Cork, where he became wealthy and rose in 

standing in Cork society.  

 

Maps and directories have not previously been used as evidence for Shanahan in 

Cork. Shanahan was named in Lucasôs Cork Directory (1787) as óstone-cutterô in 

White Street. Three other stonecutters and two architects were also recorded.100 In 

Westôs Cork Directory (1810) Shanahan is named as architect, one of seven 

architects listed, also three stonemasons and a marble manufacturer whose address 

was Grand Parade.101  The lack of continuity in the names between these 

directories indicates that, despite their apparent fullness, these are not exhaustive 

records and that the Cork building trade was ever in flux. 
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Looking at maps of Cork, the number of houses bequeathed by Shanahan in his 

will may indicate speculative building, paralleling the building practices of 

Michael Stapleton in Dublin. In John Rocqueôs map of 1759, the White Street 

area was all gardens [fig. 3.42]. In William Beaufordôs map of 1801, the streets on 

which Shanahan owned houses (White Street, Dunbar Street and Georgeôs Quay) 

were fully developed [fig. 3.43]. This growth towards the south east of Cork 

reflected the desire of the merchant class to move to more suburban areas.102 

Another hint of speculative building was Shanahanôs ability to advertise another 

house to rent in White Street in 1800.103 

 

A letter recommending Shanahanôs eldest son Michael for a post as draughtsman 

and overseer of Cork county fortifications also reveals family wealth and 

connections: 

 

Son to an Architect of considerable note in this Country ... has been 

brought up to the business himself ... says he understands the Theory and 

Execution of Building, Mathematics and Drawing ... pay is not an object to 

him, as his father is a rich man, and I am convinced he would come for 

Five Shillings a dayé he gave me the inclosed Elevation as a Specimen of 

his Drawing and said he superintended the building of it [Ballyscullion]; 

he was educated at the same school with Lt Cunningham, his name is 

Shanahan, a particular friend of General Vallancy's.104 

 

His father must have bought him his commission as ensign in the Royal Staff 

Corps of field engineers in 1803. Michael Shanahan junior was suitably employed 
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and endowed by his father for a respectable position in society and had social 

connections. 

 

If being a member of the genteel rank of society was indicated by financial means, 

foreign travel, by participating in civic activity, assembling a library, picture and 

print collection and sending a son to Trinity College, by the end of his life 

Michael Shanahan had attained this rank, as his obituary in the Cork Mercantile 

Chronicle attests.105 Forty years after travelling with Hervey, that trip and the 

name of his now dead patron were still Shanahanôs primary qualifications. 

 

MICHAEL SHANNAHAN, Esq. Architect, of White street. The virtues 

and merits of this Gentleman secured for him early in life, the friendship 

and confidence of that dignified Nobleman the late Earl of Bristol, in 

whose society he spent three year on the Continent of Europe. Scientific 

acquisition, intellectual expansion, and the minute examination of every 

species of architecture during his travels, together with his association 

with the most celebrated masters of Rome, Venice, Naples, Paris, and 

Vienna, placed him in the first rank of his profession. His rare and 

valuable collection of Pictures and curious antiques with his select 

Library, afford the most ample demonstrations of his taste and 

acquirements. With the noble attributes of nice honor, rigid probity, and 

strict integrity, he was eminently gifted. After an honourable existence of 

80 years, spent in the performance of every duty which renders Man, in all 

his relative situations, valuable in society; he met his dissolution with the 

firmness of a philosopher and the resignation of a christian.106 

 

 

3.6 Conclusion 

 

Michael Shanahan has hitherto been a shadowy figure, an appendage of the Earl 

Bishop. Neither Hervey at Downhill nor Shanahan as an architect can be 

understood without appreciating the contribution of the other. Pivotal to 

Shanahanôs success was his experience of travel in Italy, France, Switzerland and 

Dalmatia as Herveyôs draftsman. This raised Shanahan above most of his peers 

and left him with an enhanced level of stylistic experience and authority, a 
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portfolio, aspirations of publishing projects and, through the Earl Bishop, 

continued access to neoclassical developments. These experiences reappeared as 

neoclassical houses in county Londonderry and chimneypieces and carved 

stonework available for purchase in Cork city. Shanahan left pictures, prints, 

books, ancient frescoes and column capitals, a remarkable collection influenced 

and perhaps augmented by Hervey. A high level of culture and gentility was on 

show in his White Street house and was appreciated by the experienced eye of 

Beaufort. Investigating Shanahanôs marble-yard in White Street, Cork, adds new 

evidence of an independent dimension to Shanahanôs career. Having established 

himself in Cork, he built up related businesses in architecture, building 

development, marble carving and quarrying. He was able to provide well for his 

five sons and one daughter. He left a visual legacy in Cork, perhaps most 

obviously St Patrickôs Bridge, which Townsend thought ódoes great credit to his 

taste and skillô.107 Shanahanôs greatest achievements were in the execution of 

Herveyôs building projects, sometimes adapting the designs of other architects, 

sometimes executing his own. 

                                                           
107

 Horatio Townsend, General and statistical survey of the county of Cork (Cork, 1815), ii, 166. 



 

CHAPTER FOUR 

ART: COLLECTING, DISPLAYING AND VIEWING  

 

 

4.1 Introduction 

 

Frederick Hervey spent a fortune on artworks, amassing collections of both 

ancient and modern works in a diverse range of media for his three houses. 

Although he did not begin buying art in earnest until his third Grand Tour of 1777 

to 1779, collecting became the driving force behind his travelling and influenced 

his architectural projects. Picture lists are the richest sources of evidence for his 

art collections in Ireland: Sampson in 1802 (for Downhill and Ballyscullion) and 

Neale in 1823 (for Downhill pictures listed in detail by room).1  The Getty 

Provenance Index records pictures appearing at auction in London in 1802 and 

1803.2 óBristolôs Roman Propertyô is a catalogue for an auction in Rome in 1804, 

after Herveyôs death, listing over five hundred artworks which never reached 

Ireland or England.3 In December 1813 the óBallyscullion collectionô was sold at 

the Rotunda in Dublin.4 This catalogue has not been evaluated before nor have the 

other lists outlined above been subject to quantitative analysis.  

 

Hervey has been investigated by experts in the field of fine art. Nicola Figgis has 

significantly added to the understanding of Hervey as a collector, through her 

discovery (in the Vatican archives) and analysis of óBristolôs Roman Propertyô 

(1804).5 Figgis has also placed Herveyôs didactic intentions within the context of 

contemporary European thought on displaying art through regions and schools. 

Unfortunately, as Figgis has demonstrated, changed attributions and titles have 

rendered the tracking down of his paintings almost impossible.6 In his study of 

Hervey as a patron, Brinsley Ford characterised Hervey as óan eccentric and 

capricious patron of the artsô, emphasising his unreliability as well as the extent 
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and importance of his patronage. Ford, with his immense comparative knowledge 

of Grand Tourists, traced the movements and purchases of the Earl Bishop 

chronologically, relying on Childe-Pemberton for the Earl Bishopôs viewpoint. 

Ford drew together specific encounters with artists, architects and agents 

including Joseph Wright, Thomas Banks, Thomas Jones, Thomas Jenkins, Sir 

John Soane, Elisabeth Vigée-LeBrun, Angelica Kauffmann, John Flaxman and 

Antonio Canova.7 Herveyôs relationship with his agent Jacob More has been 

examined by Patricia Andrew, who recalled the complex dealings and 

relationships among the artists, agents and patrons in Rome.8 Ilaria Bignamini and 

Claire Hornsby concluded that Hervey has been underestimated as a collector of 

ancient statuary and pointed to export records and his collaboration on an 

archaeological dig with Robert Fagan to support their claim.9  

 

This chapter intends to examine Herveyôs collection though the critical lens of 

material culture, rather than that of fine art. By the use of such methodology, the 

collection itself then transforms into a series of intriguing individual objects 

which can be interpreted in terms of the meanings and motives of ownership, the 

projection of the collectorôs image and their collective impact on viewers. The 

first half of the chapter investigates how art was displayed in an eighteenth-

century house. Herveyôs use of portraiture and its placement within the family 

narrative indicates how he wanted to be perceived. How his paintings and 

sculptures were displayed at Downhill and (although based on sketchy evidence) 

at Ballyscullion, adds to current studies emerging on Irish art display. The Earl 

Bishopôs collection and his development as a collector are compared with 

contemporaries, finding more similarity with British than Irish collectors. His 

evolving ideas on display influenced his architectural projects, justifying new, 

grand houses with designated galleries. Ultimately, and unusually, it will be seen 

that the activity of collecting stimulated Hervey more than the resultant display 

and its associated social benefits. He built great houses for display, but he did not 

live in them. 
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